
 
 

Goshen Common Council 
6:00 p.m., August 28, 2023  Regular Meeting 

Council Chamber, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, IN 
 
 
Call to Order by Mayor Gina Leichty 
 
Pledge of Allegiance led by Cohen and Keaton Weldy 
 
Roll Call:  
Megan Eichorn (District 4)  Julia King (At-Large)  Doug Nisley (District 2) 
Gilberto Pérez, Jr. (District 5)  Donald Riegsecker (District 1)         
Matt Schrock (District 3)  Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large)       
Youth Adviser Jessica Velazquez Valdes (Non-voting)  
 

Approval of Minutes: August 7, 2023 Regular Meeting 

 

Approval of Meeting Agenda 

 

Privilege of the Floor 

 

1) Ordinance 5163 - Amend Ordinance 3011 by Rezoning Real Estate Hereinafter Described 
from Residential R-2 District to Commercial B-3 District 

 

2)  Ordinance 5161 – Ordinance Authorizing the City of Goshen, Indiana to issue its 
“[Taxable} Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project)” and Approving 
Other Actions in Respect Thereto (Second Reading) 

 

3)  Resolution 2023-17 – Interlocal Memorandum of Understanding for 2023 Edward Byrne 
Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Formula Program Award 

 

4)  Resolution 2023-18 – Interlocal Agreement with the County of Elkhart for East College 
Avenue / C.R. 36 Reconstruction from Fairgrounds to C.R. 31 

 



 
 

5)  Resolution 2023-19 – Approving the Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal 
Agreement 

 

Elected Official Reports 

 

Adjournment 



                                                                            

1 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
Minutes of the AUGUST 7, 2023 Regular Meeting  

Convened in the Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 
 
Mayor Gina M. Leichty called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
Afterward, the Mayor said her grandson led the Pledge of Allegiance that at her inauguration. She announced that 
she would welcome other young people leading the Pledge at Council meetings. She invited parents to contact her 
office if they knew of a child who would like to lead the Pledge.at a Council meeting. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked the Clerk-Treasurer to conduct the roll call. 
Present: Megan Eichorn (District 4)  Julia King (At-Large)  Doug Nisley (District 2)  
 Gilberto Pérez Jr. (District 5) Donald Riegsecker (District 1) 
 Matt Schrock (District 3)  Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large)  
  Youth Adviser Jessica Velazquez Valdes (Non-voting) 
Absent:  None 
 
Approval of Minutes: 
Mayor Leichty asked the Council’s wishes regarding the minutes of the July 17, 2023 Regular Meeting. 
Councilor Nisley made a motion to accept the July 17, 2023 minutes as presented. Councilor Pérez seconded 
the motion. The motion passed 7-0 on a voice vote. 
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda: 
Mayor Leichty presented the agenda as submitted by the Clerk-Treasurer. Councilor King moved to approve the 
agenda. Councilor Eichorn seconded the motion. The motion passed 7-0 on a voice vote. 
 
Privilege of the Floor: 
At 6:03 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited public comments on matters not on the agenda. There were none. 
 
 
1)  Environmental Resilience presentation: AmeriCorps, a Year of Service in Goshen 
Aaron Sawatsky Kingsley, Director of the City Department of Environmental Resilience, said tonight there 
would be sharing about the work of the City’s two AmeriCorps Service members, Acadia Imhoff and Shae Medlen. 
Kingsley said AmeriCorps is the domestic version of the Peace Corps that provides communities with service 
members to take on projects that address unmet needs in communities. The Michiana Council of Governments 
(MACOG) contacted City staff last summer and asked if there was interest in having AmeriCorps service members 
provide support and service. The City was interested and pursued member placements. 
Kingsley said service members provide 300 to 1,700 hours of service per year to communities. He said Goshen’s 
volunteers provided the equivalent of 1½ full-time positions, or 2,600 hours to the City at a cost of $17,000 with the 
remainder of their salaries paid by grants. 
For the City, Kingsley said the service members worked on the Goshen Community Orchard and active 
transportation, in particular increasing bicycle awareness. While the service members could have pursued full-time 
jobs, Kingsley said they chose to help the City. 



                                                                            

2 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

 
Because they did such good work, Kingsley said the Department of Environmental Resilience is planning to 
have four AmeriCorps Service members in the coming year. Kingsley then welcomed two member presentations. 
 
Acadia Imhoff provided the following information: 

• She grew up in Eastern Pennsylvania, was home schooled, earned as associate degree in Environmental 
Studies from Northampton Community College in 2020 and a bachelor degree in Sustainability studies from 
Goshen College in 2022. 

• The Goshen Community Orchard was established in 2019, but had not been fully devewloped because of 
the COVID-19 pandemic and staff issues.  

• As of November 2022, the orchard had 85 total plants and more than 25 varieties, but deer and other 
creatures were eating the plants. So, Imhoff’s job was to more fully establish the orchard. Today, the 
orchard has more than 250 plants and upwards of 50 varieties, some of which are less common. 

• The orchard supports the City’s Climate Action Plan by adding to the tree canopy, improving City-owned 
property, applying appropriate tree maintenance practices and improving landscape maintenance policies. 

• To carry out orchard inventory and planting, Imhoff conducted an assessment of existing plants, conducted 
organization and mapping, did species research, purchased plants and maintained an inventory. She also 
attended workshops. 

• To improve the orchard’s infrastructure, Imhoff constructed a fence to keep out deer, helped install 
permanent signage and arranged for a shed to store tools. 

• Imhoff maintained the orchard, which included spring pruning and planting, soil improvements, weeding, 
mulching and watering. 

• She also promoted education about the orchard by building public awareness, creating fliers and 
informational signs, informing people about it during the Arbor Day celebration and engaging in community 
conversations. 

• Imhoff said the goals of the orchard are to create a community space that fosters relationships, add to 
ecosystem diversity, adress local food insecurity, promote life learning and create a volunteer network. 

 
Shae Medlen provided the following information: 

• She grew up in Middlebury, earned an Associate of Applied Science in Business Administration in 2017 and 
a Bachelor of Science in Environmental Policy and Management in 2022. 

• Her work for the City focused on active transportation, with an emphasis on bicycling. This included 
supporting Bicycle Friendly America applications, events and public education and trail surveying and GIS.  

• Promoting bicycle usage supports the City’s Climate Action Plan by creating a more sustainable 
transportation system and infrastructure, eliminating barriers to employees bicycling to work, providing 
“fleet” bikes at appropriate City buildings to reduce miles driven using motorized vehicles and continuing to 
work to achieve the goals of Goshen's Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan. 

• Medlen promoted the goals of Bicycle Friendly America and helped businesses file for applications to the 
program and also promoted cycling, engaged in public education and collaborated with local businesses. 

• She has a member of an active transportation committee and conducted extensive research on bicycle 
parking infrastructure needs to help further the City’s plans. 



                                                                            

3 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

 
• Medlen worked on the City’s Bicycle Friendly America application and also assisted businesses. 
• To encourage more bicycle usage, Medlen assisted at three 2023 events. The E-Bike Try-Athlon, on May 3, 

was held to encourage City employees to test ride E-bikes, and 33 did so. This led to the purchase of more 
E-bikes for City employee usage. The First Friday Bike Valet, on May 5, included bike parking and 29 free 
safety checks and minor bike tune-ups from Lincoln Avenue Cycling. 

• The Goshen Women’s Ride, on May 21, was aimed at increasing bicycle usage by women; less than 30% 
of U.S. cyclists are women. The ride, which included a historical tour and actors portraying famous Goshen 
women, attracted 55 participants. 

• Medlen also mapped the Larry Beachy Classified Forest, surveying more than 20 miles of trails, and 
collected data on cycling. Her research showed that on average, 300 cyclists use the Pumpkinvine Vine 
Trail, along Abshire Park, daily and 200 cyclists use the Millrace Trail daily. 

 
Goshen’s Service members also supported each other, participated in AmeriCorps Service Week, AmeriCorps 
National Service Training Indiana Arborist Association Conference, and helped with forestry projects. They also 
helped City staff create environmentally-safe ornaments for a “mirth” Christmas tree, produced a monthly 
informational flier for City employees and planted native flowers in a small stormwater basin. 
 
Kingsley invited questions from Councilors. In response to Councilor questions, Kingsley, Imhoff and Medlen 
provided the following information. 

• The Goshen Community Orchard is located at Abshire Park, east of the cabin. 
• Fencing to keep deer out of the orchard appears to be working. 
• Progress is being made by the City and businesses to increase cycling. 
• Next year’s AmeriCorps volunteers will work on the community orchard, help develop a food forest, help the 

Engineering and Utilities departments work on the lead and copper pipe survey, conduct stormwater work 
and eco-system management. In the coming years, there may be work on the City’s Sensory Trail. 

• City staff have not given presentations to local colleges about AmeriCorps, but could do so. 
• The Environmental Resilience Department has budgeted for the cost of the AmeriCorps volunteers. 

 
Councilor Eichorn endorsed AmeriCorps, adding that she was a service member in Florida. 
To thank Imhoff and Medlin for their work, Kingsley gave each a small tree and some gift certificates. 
Councilors and the Mayor thanked the service members for their work for the City. The audience responded 
with applause. 
 
At 6:35 p.m., Pamela Weishaupt of Goshen addressed the Council. She asked why the City was putting so much 
effort into these environmental projects when it just sprayed a toxic chemical along the Millrace. 
Kingsley said Weishaupt was referring to the spraying of chemicals along the Millrace about three weeks ago. He 
said he checked with City Parks and Recreation Department staff and learned that because of a mistake, a chemical 
was sprayed that killed weeds. He said the mistake was acknowledged and will not be repeated. 
Councilor King said she appreciated the explanation and had intended to raise the issue. In response to questions 
from Councilor Nisley, Kingsley said an herbicide was used and he can research the exact one and report back. 
 



                                                                            

4 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

 
2)  Ordinance 5162: An Amendment to Goshen Zoning Ordinance 3011 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Ordinance 5162, An Amendment to Goshen Zoning Ordinance 
3011 on First Reading. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5162 by title 
only, which was done.  
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Ordinance 5162 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Ordinance 5162, which was before the Common Council for approval, would authorize changes to the 
Goshen Zoning Ordinance. 
In an Aug. 7, 2023 memorandum to the Common Council, City Planning & Zoning Administrator Rhonda Yoder 
wrote that the Goshen Plan Commission met on July 18, 2023, in regular session and considered a request for a text 
amendment to the Goshen Zoning Ordinance, Ordinance 3011, to make routine corrections and edits, including to: 

• Delete swallowtail streamers as a sign type 
• Update the tourist home definition and allow as a permitted use rather than a conditional use 
• Delete the minimum building size in the R-4 District per recent State law change 
• Update the B-4 District to allow outside display as in B-3 District 
• Add an allowance for awning valance lettering 
• Allow up to 75% of sign area for an electronic message center (EMC) signs 
• Allow administrative review for bufferyard landscaping changes when utilities or utility easements are 

present 
• Update the conditional use section to delete all PUD District references and to generally exclude fences as 

a structure that requires an increased setback 
• Remove drive-in establishment as a conditional use in B-2 District 
• Add a fee for a request to modify commitment 
• Delete PUD and Historic District columns from Table of Permitted Uses 
• Add two uses to the Table of Permitted Uses that are currently in Table of Parking Requirements only 
• Allow business offices in M-1 and M�2 Districts 
• And to add corporate offices as a new use, conditional in the B-1 District and permitted in B-2, B-3, B�4, M-1 

and M-2 Districts. 
Yoder wrote that the Plan Commission received no public comments or questions from the public and forwarded the 
proposed zoning changes to the Goshen Common Council with a favorable recommendation. by a vote of 6-0.  
Yoder summarized the proposed changes in a detailed memo and showed them in an attached red-lined document.  
 
AUGUST 7, 2023 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5162: 
Mayor Leichty invited a staff presentation on Ordinance 5162. 
City Planning & Zoning Administrator Rhonda Yoder provided an overview of Ordinance 5162; which she noted 
was before the Common Council for approval on First Reading. She explained the procedure for the zoning changes 
coming before the Council and provided a highlight of the some of the most significant changes. 
Mayor Leichty invited Councilor questions. 
 
In response to questions and comments from Councilors Pérez, Schrock, Riegsecker and Nisley, Yoder 
provided the following information: 



                                                                            

5 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

 
• The PUD district isn’t being deleted. A reference in the ordinance is being removed in a section dealing with 

conditional uses, which is an administrative review and doesn’t require a variance or a public hearing. So, it 
didn’t make sense for them to be referenced as a separate district for conditional uses. 

• In the downtown area, electronic message center signs are allowed outside of the core historic district. This 
change will increase the display area from 50 percent to 75 percent of a sign area. However, there will be no 
change in where such signs are permitted. 

• The City is not allowed to regulate short-term rentals, which are sometimes known as Airbnb’s. The state 
statute has certain requirements that must be met, such as being listed on a platform like Airbnb, and must 
meet other meet requirements. But if they meet those requirements, they are short term rentals which 
cannot be regulated by the City. 

• The state Legislative Assembly passed legislation that no longer allows communities to regulate the size of 
mobile homes, so that provision should be removed. 

 
Councilor Riegsecker said he reviewed and liked the zoning changes, which seemed to indicate a less restrictive 
approach while still giving the City appropriate authority. 
Yoder said the City will not be changing the intent of the zoning ordinance, but is addressing changes that should be 
made in language that didn’t work as intended. 
Councilor Nisley encouraged Yoder to continue looking for ways to adjust the ordinance as needed. 
Yoder said there is an annual review to make changes mandated by the state or to make changes recommended by 
City staff. 
 
There were no other questions or comments from Councilors, so at 6:50 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited public 
comments on Ordinance 5162. There were none. 
 
There were no further Council comments or questions. Councilors also indicated that they were ready to vote. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously approved Ordinance 5162, An Amendment to Goshen Zoning 
Ordinance 3011 on First Reading, by a 7-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes” at 6:51 p.m.  
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to the Mayor to proceed with the Second Reading of Ordinance 5162. 
 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction, on Second Reading, of Ordinance 5162, An Amendment to Goshen 
Zoning Ordinance 3011, Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5162 by title 
only, which was done. 
Weddell/Pérez moved for passage of Ordinance 5162 on Second and Final Reading. 
 
Mayor Leichty invited further questions or comments from Councilors or the public.  
 
Glenn Null of Goshen said the revised ordinance stated that school buildings had to be a minimum of 50 feet from all 
property lines. He said this didn’t seem to be the case in West Goshen. He asked if some existing buildings were 
“grandfathered in” (allowed). Yoder said “grandfathered” usually refers to “legal non-conforming” uses, but also could 
be uses allowed because a variance had been granted or to structures built before there was a zoning ordinance. 



                                                                            

6 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

 
Null said he just wanted to point out that some buildings were constructed before zoning regulations and this should 
be considered before any City enforcement. 
 
Councilor Pérez asked how the zoning changes were communicated to the public. 
Yoder said the changes were advertised before the Plan Commission meeting and a public hearing was held at the 
commission meeting, at which no one spoke. The changes were also included on the Common Council agenda and in 
the meeting packet. She also noted that the provision Null mentioned was not new; the only change was excluding 
fences from the setback requirement. 
Mayor Leichty said there was also public notification of the Council meeting. 
Councilor King said there didn’t seem to be any significant changes. She said she usually advocates for a second 
Council meeting to review proposed zoning changes, and to give more time for the public to comment, if there are 
significant modifications. But she said that didn’t seem to be the case this time. 
Council President Weddell also noted there were public safeguards for the proposed changes. 
 
There were no further comments. Councilors also indicated they were ready to vote. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors approved Ordinance 5162, An Amendment to Goshen Zoning Ordinance 3011, 
on Second and Final Reading, by a 7-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes” at 6:57 p.m. 
 
 
3)  Resolution 2023-16 – Category Transfer (for the Legal Department) 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Resolution 2023-16, Category Transfer. Council President 
Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Resolution 2023-16 by title only, which was done. 
Weddell/Eichorn moved to approve Resolution 2023-16. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Resolution 2023-16, would request authorization from the Council and Mayor to move available resources 
between major categories within City Legal Department funds. The Legal Department requested a category 
transfer to fund services provided by Barkes, Kolbus, Rife & Schuler, LLP under an amended agreement for 
attorney services. 
The Mayor and Clerk-Treasurer requested this resolution because the Common Council is the City’s fiscal 
body which authorizes the City’s budget and any budget adjustments. 
 
In a memorandum to the Council, Clerk-Treasurer Richard R. Aguirre wrote that an appropriation is “permission to 
spend available money” and is tied to a specific fund. Within a fund there are four spending categories and multiple 
accounts. The state Department of Local Government Finance (“DLGF”) requires Council approval to move an 
appropriation from one category to another. The Council can approve this when a City department needs additional 
room to spend in one category and has available appropriations in another category.  
Aguirre wrote that by moving an appropriation from one category to another, the Council is only changing the 
category from which the City pays an expenditure. The Council is not approving any additional spending, so the 
fund’s total appropriation remains the same.  



                                                                            

7 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

 
Aguirre wrote that for the proposed category transfer in Resolution 2022-16, City Attorney Bodie Stegelmann 
recognized a need in one of his budget categories, reported the need to the Mayor and Clerk-Treasurer, and 
requested that the Council approve the transfer to continue their operations. More specifically, the Legal Department 
requested a category transfer to fund services provided by Barkes, Kolbus, Rife & Schuler, LLP under an amended 
agreement for attorney services. 
If approved, $30,000 would be transferred from: Budget Category: Personnel (Legal/Full-time Personnel, line 
#101-510-05-411.0130) to Budget Category: Other Services & Charges (Legal/Professional services, line 
#101-510-05-431.0000). 
Aguirre also wrote that if the Council approved this proposed category transfer, the Clerk-Treasurer would then 
register the adjustment in the City’s books and communicate the transfer to the department when completed. This 
category transfer is an adjustment that only requires Council approval to be final, and does not require notification to 
the state Department of Local Government Finance. 
 
AUGUST 7, 2023 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2023-16: 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors had any questions or comments about Resolution 2023-16. 
Councilor Schrock asked what the payment would be for. 
City Attorney Bodie Stegelmann said a full-time employee who worked as Assistant City Attorney left earlier this 
year. The open job was advertised, but Stegelmann said he made a decision to contract for attorney services for the 
work for the rest of 2023. He said Don Shuler of Barkes, Kolbus, Rife & Schuler, LLP will be working 20 hours per 
week for the City Legal Department. Stegelmann said funds are being transferred from full-time personnel to 
professional services. And in 2024, he said the plan is for Shuler to become a part-time City employee. 
Council President Weddell joked that as Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver would explain, money is just 
being moved from one Department folder to another folder in the same funds box. 
 
There were no additional Council comments, so at 6:58 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited public comments on 
Resolution 2023-16. There were none. 
 
Council President Weddell indicated that Councilors were ready to vote. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors approved Resolution 2023-16, Category Transfer, by a 7-0 margin, with all 
Councilors present voting “yes” at 6:59 p.m.  
 
 
Elected Official Reports: 
 
Councilor Schrock informed Councilors that this Saturday is the annual East Goshen Neighborhood Association 
Hillbilly Hot Dog Sale. Hot dogs can be picked up starting at 10 a.m. at 1210 East Lincoln Avenue (Cycle Works of 
Goshen). He said proceeds will benefit the association. 
 
Councilor Eichorn said the City Community Relations Commission will meet Aug. 8. 
 



                                                                            

8 | P a g e  
August 7, 2023 | City Council Minutes 

 
Council President Weddell said the City Redevelopment Commission also will meet Aug. 8. 
 
Councilor Schrock said the Wilden Avenue road project is looking great. He said the local anticipation for the 
completion of the project is “huge.” He thanked City Director of Public Works & Utilities Dustin Sailor and his 
team for their work and said it will be great when the project is completed. 
 
 
There were no further comments by elected officials. 
 
 
Adjournment: 
Councilor Nisley made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Councilor Pérez seconded the motion. Councilors 
unanimously approved the motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 
 
Mayor Leichty adjourned the meeting at 7:01 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED:  __________________________________ 

Gina Leichty, Mayor of Goshen 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________________ 

Richard R. Aguirre, City of Goshen Clerk-Treasurer 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 

TO:  Goshen Common Council 
 
FROM:  Rhonda L. Yoder, City Planner 
 
DATE:  August 28, 2023 
 
RE:  Ordinance 5163 
 
 
The Goshen Plan Commission met on August 15, 2023, in regular session and considered a request for a rezoning 
from Residential R-2 District to Commercial B-3 District for property generally located on the west side of High 
Street, immediately south and adjacent to the parcel on the southwest corner of High Street and Pike Street, with 
the following outcome: 
 

Forwarded to the Goshen Common Council with a favorable recommendation by a vote of 6-0. 
 
The recommendation is based on the following: 
1. The rezoning is consistent with the existing zoning and land use in the Pike Street B-3 District corridor. 
2. The requirements of the B-3 District are able to be met if the parcel is included with existing B-3 parcels to 

the north. 
 
 
Prior to the Plan Commission meeting the Planning office received the following inquiries: 

 Three email inquiries asking what use is proposed for the overall site. 
 
 
At the Plan Commission meeting, no comments/questions were received. 
 
 
 

Rhonda L. Yoder, AICP 
PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT, CITY OF GOSHEN 
204 East Jefferson Street, Suite 4  Goshen, IN 46528-3405 
 
Phone (574) 537-3815  Fax (574) 533-8626  TDD (574) 534-3185   
rhondayoder@goshencity.com  www.goshenindiana.org   



 

 

Ordinance 5163 
 

Amend Ordinance 3011 by Rezoning Real Estate Hereinafter Described from Residential R-2 District to 
Commercial B-3 District 

 
WHEREAS PRIMECO, Inc., Aby Mohamed of Aby Groups, and Woolpert submitted an application on the 26th 
day of July 2023 to rezone the real estate hereinafter described from Residential R-2 District to Commercial B-3 
District, and the Goshen City Plan Commission did after proper legal notice conduct a hearing on said Petition as 
provided by the Law on the 15th day of August 2023, and recommended the adoption of this Ordinance by a vote 
of 6-0. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE be it ordained by the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana, that: 
 
Property generally located on the west side of High Street, immediately south and adjacent to the parcel on the 
southwest corner of High Street and Pike Street, with no common address, and more particularly described as 
follows: 
 
Lot Numbered Ten (10) in WEST VIEW ADDITION to the City of Goshen, including the South Half of the 
vacated alley adjacent to and North of the above described Lot. 
 
All of the above shall be rezoned from Residential R-2 District to Commercial B-3 District, and the zone maps 
designated and referred to in Ordinance No. 3011 shall hereby be amended and ordered amended to reflect such 
classification and rezoning of said real estate. 
 
 
PASSED by the Common Council of the City of Goshen on       , 2023. 
 
        

Presiding Officer 
 
Attest: 
        
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on     , 2023 at ________ a.m./p.m. 
 
        

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor of the City of Goshen on      , 2023. 
 
        

Gina Leichty, Mayor 
 



 

 

To: Goshen City Plan Commission/Goshen Common Council 

From: Rhonda L. Yoder, Planning & Zoning Administrator 

Subject: 
23-02R – Rezoning 
High Street Parcel, Residential R-2 to Commercial B-3 

Date: August 15, 2023 

 
ANALYSIS              
PRIMECO, Inc., Aby Mohamed of Aby Groups, and Woolpert request a rezoning from Residential R-2 District to 
Commercial B-3 District for property to be redeveloped with 1102, 1106 and 1110 W Pike Street. The subject 
property is ±0.19 acres, generally located on the west side of High Street, immediately south and adjacent to the 
parcel on the southwest corner of High Street and Pike Street, with no common address, described as Lot 
Numbered Ten (10) in West View Addition to the City of Goshen, including the south half of the vacated alley 
adjacent to and north of the described lot. 
 
The subject property is a single tax parcel on the west side of High Street, immediately south of 1102 W Pike 
Street. The property appears to have no common address, and is vacant except for a small garage structure. 
 
If the rezoning to Commercial B-3 is approved, the developer intends to include the High Street parcel with 1102, 
1106 and 1110 W Pike Street to be developed as one zoning lot with a restaurant. The properties at 1102, 1106 
and 1110 W Pike Street are already zoned B-3, so they are not part of the rezoning petition. The High Street 
parcel will likely be used primarily for stormwater drainage. 
 
The B-3 District requires increased side and rear setbacks abutting residential zoning, and the B-3 District 
adjacent to residential land use requires landscaping screening per the Zoning Ordinance partial landscaping 
formula. 
 
The rezoning petition is not subject to site plan review, but a preliminary site plan has been provided and is 
included for informational purposes only. Site plan review will occur through the City’s Technical Review 
process. Based on the preliminary site plan, developmental variances will be required for the overall site, but the 
High Street parcel appears able to meet the increased residential setbacks and landscaping screening. 
 
The B-3 District corridor along Pike Street, from Chicago Avenue west to the north/south alley east of Riverside 
Blvd, was first established in July 1992, and is shown on the enclosed Zoning Map. Prior to 1992, the corridor 
had been mostly B-1 District (neighborhood commercial). 
 
Inclusion of the High Street parcel in the B-3 District corridor is consistent with the existing zoning and land use 
in the corridor, and the requirements of the B-3 District are able to be met if the parcel is included with existing 
B-3 parcels to the north. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION            
Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward a favorable recommendation to Goshen Common Council for 
the rezoning from Residential R-2 District to Commercial B-3 District for property generally located on the west 
side of High Street, immediately south and adjacent to the parcel on the southwest corner of High Street and Pike 
Street, based upon the following:  
1. The rezoning is consistent with the existing zoning and land use in the Pike Street B-3 District corridor. 
2. The requirements of the B-3 District are able to be met if the parcel is included with existing B-3 parcels to 

the north. 



Pike St

Clinton St

Pike StPike St
U.S. 33

Ha
rri

so
n S

t

Hi
gh

 St

Ha
rri

so
n S

t

Clinton StR-2

B-1

B-3

B-3

R-2

R-3

PUD PUD

High Street Parcel

2021 Aerial

Printed July 28, 2023

´
0 50 10025

Feet

The City of Goshen's Digital Data is the property of the City of Goshen and Elkhart County, Indiana. All graphic data supplied by the city and county 
has been derived from public records that are constantly undergoing change and is not warranted for content or accuracy.  The city and county 
do not guarantee the positional or thematic accuracy of the data.  The cartographic digital files are not a legal representation of any of the features 
depicted, and the city and county disclaim any sumption of the legal status they represent.  Any implied warranties, including warranties of
merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose, shall be expressly excluded.  The data represents an actual reproduction of data contained in the 
city's or county's computer files.  This data may be incomplete or inaccurate, and is subject to modifications and changes. City of Goshen and 
Elkhart County cannot be held liable for errors or omissions in the data.  The recipient's use and reliance upon such data is at the recipient's risk.  
By using this data, the recipient agrees to protect, hold harmless and indemnify the City of Goshen and Elkhart County and its employees and 
officers.  This indemnity covers reasonable attorney fees and all court costs associated with the defense of the city and county arising out of this
disclaimer.

Department of
Planning & Zoning

204 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 46528
Phone: 574-534-3600     Fax: 574-533-8626

The City of Goshen

1 inch = 100 feet

Site Location



IN
DI

AN
A A

VE
NU

E

CHICAGO AVENUE

PIKE STREET

RIVER AVENUE

LINCOLN AVENUE

WI
NT

ER
 AV

EN
UE

HA
RR

IS
ON

 ST
RE

ET

U.S. 33

HI
GH

 S
TR

EE
T

HU
RO

N 
ST

RE
ET

WEST AVENUE

CLINTON STREET

DIVISION STREET
DE

WE
Y A

VE
NU

E
WILKINSON STREET

W. LINCOLN AVENUE

BAKER AVENUE

WE
ST

FIE
LD

 AV
EN

UE

1S
T S

TR
EE

T

COSMO STREET

FIR
ST

 S
TR

EE
T

DE
NV

ER
 ST

RE
ET

OA
KL

AN
D 

AV
EN

UE

INDIANA A
VENUE

DE
NV

ER
 ST

RE
ET

U.S. 33PIKE STREET

HA
RR

IS
ON

 ST
RE

ET

CH
IC

AG
O 

AV
EN

UE

HA
RR

IS
ON

 ST
RE

ET

1S
T S

TR
EE

T

Pike Street - B-3 Zoning

Zoning Map
Printed August 4, 2023

The City of Goshen's Digital Data is the property of the City of Goshen and Elkhart County, Indiana. All graphic data supplied by the city and county
has been derived from public records that are constantly undergoing change and is not warranted for content or accuracy.  The city and county do
not guarantee the positional or thematic accuracy of the data.  The cartographic digital files are not a legal representation of any of the features
depicted, and the city and county disclaim any sumption of the legal status they represent.  Any implied warranties, including warranties of
merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose, shall be expressly excluded.  The data represents an actual reproduction of data contained in the
city's or county's computer files. This data may be incomplete or inaccurate, and is subject to modifications and changes. City of Goshen and Elkhart
County cannot be held liable for errors or omissions in the data.  The recipient's use and reliance upon such data is at the recipient's risk. By using
this data, the recipient agrees to protect, hold harmless and indemnify the City of Goshen and Elkhart County and its employees and officers.  This
indemnity covers reasonable attorney fees and all court costs associated with the defense of the city and county arising out of this disclaimer.

The City of Goshen
Department of

Planning & Zoning
204 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 46528

Phone: 574-534-3600     Fax: 574-533-8626

´



PRELIM
IN

ARYU.S. 33 - PIKE STREET
H

A
R

R
IS

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

H
IG

H
 S

TR
EE

T
R

BENCHMARK:

C
K

D
.

D
R

.
D

ES
.

D
A

TE

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

o:
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
A

TE
N

o.
SI

TE
 IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
T 

PL
A

N
 

PO
PE

YE
S-

 G
O

SH
EN

, I
N

D
IA

N
A

 
W

ES
T 

PI
K

E 
ST

R
EE

T 

G
O

SH
EN

, E
LK

H
A

R
T 

C
O

U
N

TY
, I

N
D

IA
N

A
 4

65
26

33
33

 W
ar

re
nv

ill
e 

R
oa

d 
Su

ite
 2

00
Li

sl
e,

 IL
 6

05
32

80
0.

41
4.

10
45

C200

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

SITE DATA SITE LEGEND

SITE KEY NOTES

SITE NOTES



 

 

Memorandum 
 

TO:  City Council  
      
FROM: Becky Hutsell, Redevelopment Director 
 
RE:  Ord. 5161 – ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 

TO ISSUE ITS "[TAXABLE] ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS, 
SERIES 2023 (ARIEL PROJECT)" AND APPROVING OTHER ACTIONS IN 
RESPECT THERETO 

   
DATE:  August 28, 2023    
 

 

Ordinance 5161 is being presented to the City Council for the second reading. A copy of the 
ordinance, along with all of the draft financing documents as exhibits, is included. This ordinance 
authorizes the City’s issuance of a taxable Economic Development Revenue bond specifically for the 
Ariel Cycleworks Apartment Project and the issued bonds will be purchased by the developer, or their 
bank, to fund infrastructure components for their project.  

An Economic Development Commission (EDC) meeting was held on Friday, August 18th, and a 
favorable Project Report has been forwarded to the Goshen Plan Commission. The issuance of this 
bond and all the terms associated with it are in line with the Development Agreement that was 
approved by the Goshen Redevelopment Commission, City Council and Board of Works & Safety 
last summer, including the agreement to provide 100% TIF reimbursement for 25 years.  

 

 

 



 

 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  5161 

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF GOSHEN, 
INDIANA TO ISSUE ITS "[TAXABLE] ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2023 (ARIEL 
PROJECT)" AND APPROVING OTHER ACTIONS IN 
RESPECT THERETO 

WHEREAS, the Goshen Economic Development Commission ("Commission") 

conducted a public hearing and adopted a resolution, which resolution has been transmitted 

hereto, finding that the financing of certain economic development facilities of AP Cycleworks 

LLC ("Company") complies with the purposes and provisions of IC 36-7-11.9 and -12 ("Act") 

and that such financing will be of benefit to the health and welfare of the City of Goshen, Indiana 

("City" or "Issuer") and its citizens; 

WHEREAS, the Goshen Redevelopment Commission ("Redevelopment Commission") 

has determined to pledge TIF Revenues collected in the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area (each 

as defined in the hereinafter defined Financing Documents) to be used to pay debt service on the 

Bonds pursuant to a Financing and Covenant Agreement between the Company and the City, 

dated as of the first day of the month the Bonds are sold or issued ("Financing Agreement").  The 

City shall issue its [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel 

Project) ("Bonds"), pursuant to this ordinance to finance the construction of infrastructure 

improvements, including but not limited to, water, sewer, stormwater, electric and road 

improvements, including sidewalks, demolition, and the construction of footers and slabs 

associated with multi-family residential units assessed as commercial property, together with all 

necessary appurtenances and related improvements as further set forth in Exhibit B to Amending 

Declaratory Resolution No. 02-2012 (as amended to date)(collectively, "Project") needed to 

serve the multi-family residential development ("Facility") to be constructed by the Company, in 



 

- 2 - 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

or physically connected to the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area and costs of issuance and 

related expenses; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has heretofore approved and recommended the adoption of 

this form of ordinance by this Common Council, has considered the issue of adverse competitive 

effect and has approved the forms of and has transmitted for approval by the Common Council 

the Financing Agreement; the Trust Indenture (including form of Bonds) between the Issuer and 

a financial institution chosen by the Issuer, as trustee, dated as of the first day of the month the 

Bonds are sold or issued ("Indenture"); and the Bond Purchase Agreement between the Issuer 

and the purchaser of the Bonds (collectively, "Financing Documents"); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. It is hereby found that:  (i) the financing of the economic development 

facilities, including the Project to serve the Facility, in or physically connected to the 9th Street 

Corridor Allocation Area referred to in the Financing Documents approved by the Commission 

and presented to this Common Council; (ii) the issuance and sale of the City's [Taxable] 

Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project) ("Bonds"); (iii) utilizing the 

proceeds of the Bonds for the construction of the Project to serve the Facility; (iv) the payment 

of the Bonds from TIF Revenues collected in the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area; and (v) the 

securing of the Bonds under the Trust Indenture, complies with the purposes and provisions of 

IC 36-7-11.9 and -12 and will be of benefit to the health and welfare of the City and its citizens.  

The proceeds of the Bonds will be used for the financing of the construction of the Project to 

serve the Facility and the costs of issuance of the Bonds.  The Common Council further finds, 

determines, ratifies and confirms that the promotion of economic development, creation of new 



 

- 3 - 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

job opportunities and multi-family housing to assist in alleviating the housing shortage in the 

City and increased investment in the City, is desirable to preserve the health, safety and general 

welfare of the citizens of the City; and that it is in the public interest that the Commission and the 

Issuer to take such action as they lawfully may to encourage economic development, creation of 

job opportunities, creation of multi-family housing and increased investment in the City. 

Section 2. At the public hearing held before the Commission, the Commission 

considered whether the funding of the Projects and the construction of the Facility would have an 

adverse competitive effect on any similar facilities located in or near the City, and subsequently 

found, based on findings of fact set forth in its resolution transmitted hereto ("Resolution") and 

the absence of evidence from the public or a competitor of substantive probative value, that the 

funding of the Project and the construction of the Facility would not have an adverse competitive 

effect.  This Common Council hereby confirms the findings on adverse competitive effect set 

forth in the Commission's Resolution, and hereby finds that the construction of the Projects to 

serve the Facility and the construction of the Facility will be of benefit to the health and welfare 

of the citizens of the City. 

Section 3. The substantially final forms of the Financing Agreement, the Bond 

Purchase Agreement and the Indenture approved by the Commission are hereby approved 

(herein collectively referred to as the "Financing Documents" referred to in 

IC 36-7-11.9 and -12), and the Financing Documents are attached hereto as Exhibit A.  In 

accordance with the provisions of IC 36-1-5-4, two (2) copies of the Financing Documents are 

on file in the office of the Clerk-Treasurer for public inspection. 

Section 4. The City may issue its Bonds, maturing no later than twenty-five (25) 

years after the date of issuance, in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed $6,250,000.  The 



 

- 4 - 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

Bonds are to be issued for the purpose of procuring funds to pay the costs of construction of the 

Project to serve the Facility, all as more particularly set out in the Indenture and the Financing 

Agreement, which Bonds will be payable as to principal and interest from TIF Revenues 

collected in the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area pursuant to the Financing Documents or as 

otherwise provided in the above-described Indenture.  The Bonds shall be issued in fully 

registered form in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof or as provided in the 

above-described Indenture, payable semiannually on January 1 and July 1, beginning no earlier 

than January 1, 2024.  Payments on the Bonds are payable in lawful money of the United States 

of America by check mailed or delivered to the registered owners or by wire transfer as provided 

in the Indenture.  The Bonds shall never constitute a general obligation of, an indebtedness of, or 

a charge against the general credit of the City as described in the Indenture nor are the Bonds 

payable in any manner from revenues raised by taxation except for TIF Revenues collected in the 

9th Street Corridor Allocation Area. 

Section 5. The Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer are authorized and directed to sell the 

Bonds to the Company, or its designee, at a price of not less than the par value thereof.  The 

Bonds shall bear interest as a rate not to exceed 6.00% per annum. 

Section 6. The Bonds may be both purchased by the bond purchaser in installments 

and drawn down by the Company in installments (subject to the Internal Revenue Code). 

Section 7. The Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer are authorized and directed to execute 

and attest, manually or electronically, and to affix or imprint by any means the City seal to, the 

documents constituting the Financing Documents approved herein on behalf of the City and any 

other document which may be necessary or desirable prior to, on or after the date hereof to 

consummate or facilitate the transaction, including the Bonds authorized herein.  The Mayor and 



 

- 5 - 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

the Clerk-Treasurer are hereby expressly authorized to approve any modifications or additions to 

the documents constituting the Financing Documents which take place after the date of this 

ordinance with the review and advice of counsel to the City; it being the express understanding 

of this Common Council that the Financing Documents are in substantially final form as of the 

date of this ordinance.  The approval of these modifications or additions shall be conclusively 

evidenced by the execution and attestation thereof and the affixing of the seal thereto or the 

imprinting of the seal thereon; provided, however, that no such modification or addition shall 

change the terms and conditions set forth in IC 36-7-12-27(a)1-10, including the maximum 

principal amount of, interest rate on or term of the Bonds as approved by the Common Council 

by this ordinance without further consideration by the Common Council.  The signatures of the 

Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer on the Bonds may be either manual or facsimile signatures.  The 

use of electronic signatures by the Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer are authorized and affirmed 

with full valid legal effect and enforceability.  The Clerk-Treasurer is authorized to arrange for 

delivery of such Bonds to a financial institution chosen by the Issuer ("Trustee"), and payment 

for the Bonds will be made to the Trustee and after such payment, the Bonds will be delivered by 

the Trustee to the purchaser thereof.  The Bonds shall be originally dated the date of issuance and 

delivery thereof. 

Section 8. The provisions of this ordinance and the Indenture securing the Bonds 

shall constitute a contract binding between the City and the holders of the Bonds, and after the 

issuance of the Bonds, this ordinance shall not be repealed or amended in any respect which 

would adversely affect the rights of such holders so long as the Bonds or the interest thereon 

remains unpaid. 



 

- 6 - 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

Section 9. This ordinance shall constitute "official action" for purposes of 

compliance with state laws requiring governmental action as authorization for future 

reimbursement from the proceeds of bonds. 

Section 10. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage. 



 

- 7 - 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

Passed and adopted by the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana this ____ day 

of ________________, 2023. 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
 
  
Presiding Officer 

Attest: 
 
 
 
  
Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 

Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, on the ____ day of 

_____________, 2023, at the hour of __:__ _.m. 

 
 
  
Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 

This ordinance approved and signed by me, the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, on 

the ____ day of ______________, 2023, at the hour of __:__ _.m. 

 
 
 

  
Mayor 

 



 

 
4860-7752-1488. 3 

EXHIBIT A 

Financing Documents 

(Attached) 



 

4868-2735-4201. 4 

 

 

TRUST INDENTURE 

 

BETWEEN 

 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 

 

AND 

 

________________________ 

[Indianapolis, Indiana] [_____________] 

as Trustee 

 

$________ 

 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 

[TAXABLE] ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2023 
(ARIEL PROJECT) 

 

Dated as of ______ 1, 2023 



 

i 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................11 

Section 1.1. Terms Defined ...............................................................................................11 
Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation ..................................................................................14 
Section 1.3. Exhibits .........................................................................................................14 

ARTICLE II. THE SERIES 2023 BONDS .............................................................................15 

Section 2.1. Authorized Amount of Series 2023 Bonds ...................................................15 
Section 2.2. Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds ......................................................................15 
Section 2.3. Payment on Series 2023 Bonds .....................................................................16 
Section 2.4. Execution; Limited Obligation ......................................................................16 
Section 2.5. Authentication ...............................................................................................16 
Section 2.6. Form of Series 2023 Bonds ...........................................................................17 
Section 2.7. Delivery of Series 2023 Bonds .....................................................................17 
Section 2.8. Issuance of Additional Bonds .......................................................................17 
Section 2.9. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Series 2023 Bonds ............................18 
Section 2.10. Registration and Exchange of Series 2023 Bonds; Persons Treated as 

Owners ..........................................................................................................19 

ARTICLE III. APPLICATION OF SERIES 2023 BOND PROCEEDS .................................20 

Section 3.1. Deposit of Funds ...........................................................................................20 

ARTICLE IV. REVENUE AND FUNDS ................................................................................21 

Section 4.1. Source of Payment of Bonds .........................................................................21 
Section 4.2. Bond Fund .....................................................................................................21 
Section 4.3. RESERVED ..................................................................................................21 
Section 4.4. Construction Fund .........................................................................................21 
Section 4.5. Rebate Fund ..................................................................................................22 
Section 4.6. TIF Revenues ................................................................................................23 
Section 4.7. Trust Funds ...................................................................................................23 
Section 4.8. Investment .....................................................................................................23 

ARTICLE V. REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY ......................................24 

Section 5.1. Redemption Dates and Prices ....................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Section 5.2. Notice of Redemption ................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Section 5.3. Cancellation .................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Section 5.4. Redemption Payments................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Section 5.5. Partial Redemption of Series 2023 Bonds .... Error! Bookmark not defined. 



 

ii 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE VI. GENERAL COVENANTS ...............................................................................25 

Section 6.1. Payment of Principal and Interest .................................................................25 
Section 6.2. Performance of Covenants ............................................................................25 
Section 6.3. Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance .............................................25 
Section 6.4. Filing of Indenture, Financing Agreement and Security Instruments ...........26 
Section 6.5. Inspection of Books ......................................................................................26 
Section 6.6. List of Bondholders .......................................................................................26 
Section 6.7. Rights Under Financing Agreement .............................................................26 
Section 6.8. Investment of Funds ......................................................................................26 
Section 6.9. Non-presentment of Bonds ...........................................................................26 
Section 6.10. Direction of Bondholders ..............................................................................27 
Section 6.11. Tax Covenants ...............................................................................................27 

ARTICLE VII. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES ........................................................................29 

Section 7.1. Events of Default ..........................................................................................29 
Section 7.2. Reserved ........................................................................................................29 
Section 7.3. Remedies; Rights of Bondholders .................................................................29 
Section 7.4. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings ................................................30 
Section 7.5. Application of Moneys ..................................................................................30 
Section 7.6. Remedies Vested In Trustee .........................................................................31 
Section 7.7. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders ...........................................................31 
Section 7.8. Termination of Proceedings ..........................................................................32 
Section 7.9. Waivers of Events of Default ........................................................................32 

ARTICLE VIII. THE TRUSTEE AND PAYING AGENT ........................................................33 

Section 8.1. Acceptance of the Trusts ...............................................................................33 
Section 8.2. Fees, Charges and Expenses of Trustee and Paying Agent ..........................36 
Section 8.3. Notice to Bondholders if Default Occurs ......................................................37 
Section 8.4. Intervention by Trustee .................................................................................37 
Section 8.5. Successor Trustee ..........................................................................................37 
Section 8.6. Resignation by the Trustee ............................................................................37 
Section 8.7. Removal of the Trustee .................................................................................37 
Section 8.8. Appointment of Successor Trustee by the Bondholders; Temporary 

Trustee ...........................................................................................................37 
Section 8.9. Concerning Any Successor Trustees .............................................................38 
Section 8.10. Trustee Protected in Relying Upon Resolutions, etc ....................................38 
Section 8.11. Appointment of Paying Agent and Registrar; Resignation or 

Removal of Paying Agent .............................................................................38 

ARTICLE IX. SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES ..................................................................40 

Section 9.1. Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders ...............40 
Section 9.2. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders ......................40 



 

iii 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE X. AMENDMENTS TO THE FINANCING AGREEMENT ...............................42 

Section 10.1. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Not Requiring Consent 
of Bondholders ..............................................................................................42 

Section 10.2. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Requiring Consent of 
Bondholders ..................................................................................................42 

ARTICLE XI. MISCELLANEOUS..........................................................................................43 

Section 11.1. Satisfaction and Discharge ............................................................................43 
Section 11.2. Defeasance of Bonds .....................................................................................43 
Section 11.3. Cancellation of Bonds ...................................................................................44 
Section 11.4. Application of Trust Money ..........................................................................45 
Section 11.5. Consents, etc., of Bondholders......................................................................45 
Section 11.6. Limitation of Rights ......................................................................................45 
Section 11.7. Severability ...................................................................................................46 
Section 11.8. Notices ..........................................................................................................46 
Section 11.9. Counterparts ..................................................................................................46 
Section 11.10. Applicable Law .............................................................................................46 
Section 11.11. Immunity of Officers and Directors ..............................................................46 
Section 11.12. Holidays ........................................................................................................46 
Section 11.13. Shortfall of TIF Revenues .............................................................................46 

 



 

4868-2735-4201. 4 

TRUST INDENTURE 

This TRUST INDENTURE dated as of the first day of ______, 2023, by and between the 
CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA ("Issuer"), a municipal corporation and political subdivision duly 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Indiana and ________________________, a 
national banking association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of 
America, with a designated corporate trust office located in the City of [Indianapolis, Indiana] 
[__________, __________], as Trustee ("Trustee"); 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 7, Chapters 11.9, -12, -14 and -25 
(collectively, "Act"), authorize and empower the Issuer to issue revenue bonds and to provide the 
proceeds therefrom for the purpose of financing economic development facilities and vests such 
Issuer with powers that may be necessary to enable it to accomplish such purposes; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Issuer has determined to 
proceed with the financing of all or a portion of the construction of infrastructure improvements, 
including but not limited to, water, sewer, stormwater, electric and road improvements, including 
sidewalks, demolition, and the construction of footers and slabs associated with multi-family 
residential units assessed as commercial property, together with all necessary appurtenances and 
related improvements as further set forth in Exhibit B to Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 
______ (collectively, "Projects"), to induce AP Cycleworks LLC ("Company") to construct the 
hereinafter defined Facility, in or physically connected to the Consolidated River Race/US 33 
Economic Development Area ("Area") and the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area and to pay costs 
of issuance of the Bonds by offering to issue its [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project) in the principal amount of $________ ("Series 2023 Bonds"), 
pursuant to this Trust Indenture and to use the proceeds thereof pursuant to the Financing and 
Covenant Agreement, dated as of ______ 1, 2023, between the Issuer and the Company 
("Financing Agreement") for the purpose of paying certain costs of the Projects and issuance 
expenses; and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Indenture and the issuance of revenue bonds 
under the Act as herein provided have been in all respects duly and validly authorized by 
proceedings duly passed on and approved by the Issuer; and 

WHEREAS, after giving notice in accordance with the Act and IC 5-3-1-4, the Issuer held 
a public hearing, and upon finding that the Projects and the proposed financing thereof to induce 
the construction of a multi-family residential development in the 9th Street Corridor Allocation 
Area ("Facility") will create additional employment opportunities in the City of Goshen, Indiana 
("City"), will assist the City with the existing housing shortage, will benefit the health, safety, 
morals, and general welfare of the citizens of City and the State of Indiana and will comply with 
the purposes and provisions of the Act, adopted an ordinance approving the proposed financing; 
and 



 

2 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 7, Chapter 14 provides that a redevelopment 
commission may pledge certain incremental property taxes to pay, in whole or in part, amounts 
due on the Series 2023 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Goshen Redevelopment Commission ("Redevelopment Commission") 
has created, consolidated and enlarged the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Economic 
Development Area ("Area"), and an allocation area coterminous with the Area known as the 
Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation Area in accordance with IC 36-7-14-39, and adopted 
an economic development plan, as amended (collectively, "Original Plan"), which Original Plan 
contained specific recommendations for economic development in the Area, pursuant to 
Declaratory Resolution No. 02-2012 (as amended to date), as confirmed by Confirmatory 
Resolution No. 26-2012 (as amended to date), after public hearings (collectively, "Area 
Resolution"); and 

WHEREAS, the Area Resolution established the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area 
("Allocation Area") for the purpose of capturing real property taxes generated from the incremental 
assessed value of real property located in the Allocation Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Act provides that such Bonds may be secured by a trust indenture between 
the Issuer and a corporate trustee; and 

WHEREAS, the Financing Agreement provides for the use of the proceeds of the Bonds 
to complete the Projects, and, pursuant to this Indenture, the Issuer will assign certain of its rights 
under the Financing Agreement to the Trustee; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to this Indenture, the Bonds shall be payable solely from TIF 
Revenues and proceeds from the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Trust Indenture, and the issuance of the 
Bonds hereunder, have been in all respects duly and validly authorized by an ordinance duly passed 
and approved by the Issuer; and 

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Commission has, by resolution, pledged TIF Revenues to 
the Issuer to be applied to the repayment of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Bonds and the Trustee's certificate of authentication to be endorsed 
thereon are all to be substantially in the following form, with necessary and appropriate variations, 
omissions and insertions as permitted or required by this Indenture, to-wit: 

(Form of Series 2023 Bonds) 

NO. R-____ 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

STATE OF INDIANA COUNTY OF ELKHART 
 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 



 

3 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

[TAXABLE] ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2023 
(ARIEL PROJECT) 

 
INTEREST 

RATE 
MATURITY 

DATE 
ORIGINAL 

DATE 
AUTHENTICATION 

DATE 
    
    

 
REGISTERED OWNER:  

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT:  

The City of Goshen, Indiana ("Issuer"), a municipal corporation and political subdivision 
duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Indiana, for value received, hereby 
promises to pay in lawful money of the United States of America to the Registered Owner listed 
above, but solely from the payments of TIF Revenues (as defined in the hereinafter defined 
Indenture), pledged and assigned for the payment hereof, the Principal Amount set forth above, on 
the Maturity Date, unless this Series 2023 Bond (as hereinafter defined) shall have previously been 
called for redemption and payment of the redemption price made or provided for, and to pay 
interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof in like money, but solely from those payments, at 
the Interest Rate specified above per annum payable on January 1, 2023, and on each January 1 
and July 1 thereafter ("Interest Payment Dates") until the Principal Amount is paid in full.  Interest 
on this Series 2023 Bond shall be payable from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date 
of authentication thereof ("Interest Date"), except that:  (i) if this Series 2023 Bond is authenticated 
on or prior to December 15, 2023, the Interest Date shall be the Original Issue Date specified 
above; (ii) if this Series 2023 Bond is authenticated on or after the fifteenth day of the month 
preceding an Interest Payment Date ("Record Date"), the Interest Date shall be such Interest 
Payment Date; and (iii) if interest on this Series 2023 Bond is in default, the Interest Date shall be 
the day after the date to which interest hereon has been paid in full.  Interest shall be computed on 
the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.   

The principal of this Series 2023 Bond is payable at the designated corporate trust office 
of ________________________, as Trustee, in the City of ______, ________, or at the payment 
office of any successor trustee or paying agent.  All payments of interest hereon will be made by 
the Trustee by check mailed one business day prior to each Interest Payment Date to the Registered 
Owner hereof at the address shown on the registration books of the Trustee as maintained by the 
Trustee, as registrar, determined on the Record Date next preceding such Interest Payment Date.  
No presentation of this bond is required for such payments made to the Registered Owner except 
that upon final payment, this bond shall be returned to the Paying Agent for destruction. 

This Series 2023 Bond is the only one of an authorized issue of bonds of the Issuer 
designated as the [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project) 
("Series 2023 Bonds") which is being issued under the hereinafter described Indenture in the 
aggregate principal amount of $________.  The Series 2023 Bonds are being issued for the purpose 
of providing funds to finance the construction of infrastructure improvements, including but not 
limited to, road, water, sewer, stormwater, electric and road improvements, including sidewalks, 
demolition, and the construction of footers and slabs associated with multi-family residential units 



 

4 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

assessed as commercial property, together with all necessary appurtenances and related 
improvements as further set forth in Exhibit B to Amending Declaratory Resolution No. ______ 
(collectively, "Projects") needed to serve the Facility (as defined in the Indenture), in or physically 
connected to the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Economic Development Area and the 9th Street 
Corridor Allocation Area located in the City of Goshen, Indiana; and to pay costs of issuance of 
the Bonds, to be constructed by AP Cycleworks LLC (the "Company"), pursuant to the Financing 
and Covenant Agreement dated as of ______ 1, 2023 ("Financing Agreement") between the 
Company and the Issuer which prescribe the terms and conditions under which the proceeds of the 
Series 2023 Bonds shall be used for construction of the Projects. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are issued under and entitled to the security of a Trust Indenture 
dated as of ______ 1, 2023 ("Indenture") duly executed and delivered by the Issuer to 
________________________, [Indianapolis, Indiana] [__________, _________], as Trustee (the 
term "Trustee" where used herein referring to the Trustee or its successors), pursuant to which 
Indenture, the TIF Revenues and all rights of the Issuer under the Financing Agreement, except 
certain rights to payment for expenses, indemnity rights and rights to perform certain discretionary 
acts as set forth in the Financing Agreement, are pledged and assigned by the Issuer to the Trustee 
as security for the Series 2023 Bonds.  THE OWNER OF THIS SERIES 2023 BOND, BY 
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS SERIES 2023 BOND, HEREBY AGREES TO ALL OF THE TERMS 
AND PROVISIONS IN THE INDENTURE AND THIS SERIES 2023 BOND AND 
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT: 

1. It is a sophisticated investor and is familiar with securities such as the Series 2023 
Bonds. 

2. It is familiar with the Issuer, the Goshen Redevelopment Commission 
("Redevelopment Commission") and the Goshen Redevelopment District ("District"); it has 
received such information concerning the Issuer, the Redevelopment Commission, the District, the 
Series 2023 Bonds and the TIF Revenues as it deems to be necessary in connection with investment 
in the Series 2023 Bonds.  It has received, read and had an opportunity to comment upon the 
Indenture, the Series 2023 Bonds, the TIF Pledge Resolution ("TIF Resolution") and the Financing 
Agreement.  Prior to the purchase of the Series 2023 Bonds, it has been provided with the 
opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers from the representatives of the Issuer and the 
Redevelopment Commission concerning the terms and conditions of the Series 2023 Bonds, the 
tax status of the Series 2023 Bonds, legal opinions and enforceability of remedies, the security 
therefor, and property tax reform, and to obtain any additional information needed in order to 
verify the accuracy of the information obtained to the extent that the Issuer possesses such 
information or can acquire it without unreasonable effort or expense.  It is not relying on Ice Miller 
LLP or Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC for information concerning the financial status of 
the Issuer or the Redevelopment Commission or the ability of the Issuer or the Redevelopment 
Commission to honor their financial obligations or other covenants under the Series 2023 Bonds, 
the Indenture or the Financing Agreement.  It is understood that the projection of TIF Revenues 
(as defined in the TIF Resolution) prepared by Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC in connection 
with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds has been based on estimates of the investment in real 
property provided by the Company. 



 

5 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

3. It understands that the Issuer's collection of the TIF Revenues may be limited by 
operation of IC 6-1.1-20.6, which provides taxpayers with tax credits for property taxes 
attributable to different classes of property in an amount that exceeds certain percentages of the 
gross assessed value of that property.  It further understands that the neither the Issuer nor the 
Redevelopment Commission may levy a property tax or borrow money to make up any shortfall 
due to the application of this credit. 

4. It is acquiring the Series 2023 Bonds for its own account with no present intent to 
resell; and will not sell, convey, pledge or otherwise transfer the Series 2023 Bonds without prior 
compliance with applicable registration and disclosure requirements of state and federal securities 
laws. 

5. It understands that the Series 2023 Bonds have not been registered under the 1933 
Act and, unless so registered, may not be sold without registration under the 1933 Act or an 
exemption therefrom.  It is aware that it may transfer or sell the Series 2023 Bonds only if the 
Trustee shall first have received:  (i) a satisfactory opinion of counsel that the sale or transfer will 
not violate the 1933 Act, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Investment Company Act 
of 1940 and regulations issued pursuant to such Acts; or (ii) a no-action letter of the staff of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission that the staff will recommend that no action be taken with 
respect to such sale or transfer; or (iii) a certificate stating that it reasonably believes that the 
transferee is a "Qualified Institutional Buyer" within the meaning of Section (a) of Rule 144A 
("Rule 144A") promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the 1933 Act 
and has informed the transferee of the transfer restrictions applicable to the Series 2023 Bonds and 
that the transferor may be relying upon Rule 144A with respect to the transfer of the Series 2023 
Bonds. 

6. It has investigated the security for the Series 2023 Bonds, including the availability 
of TIF Revenues to its satisfaction, and it understands that the Series 2023 Bonds are payable 
solely from TIF Revenues. 

7. It recognizes that the opinions it has received express the professional judgment of 
the attorneys participating in the transaction as to the legal issues addressed herein.  It also 
recognizes that by rendering such opinions, the attorneys do not become insurers or guarantors of 
that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future 
performance of parties to such transaction.  Nor does the rendering of the opinions guarantee the 
outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 

8. It understands that the Issuer has no continuing disclosure obligations with regard 
to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

9. It understands that on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization proclaimed 
the Coronavirus (COVID-19) to be a pandemic.  In an effort to lessen the risk of transmission of 
COVID-19, the United States government, state governments, local governments and private 
industries have taken measures to limit social interactions in an effort to limit the spread of 
COVID-19, affecting business activities and impacting global, state and local commerce and 
financial markets.  The emergence of COVID-19 and the spread thereof is an emerging and 
evolving issue.  As the Issuer continues its efforts to contain and limit the spread COVID-19 



 

6 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

disease, future tax and other revenue collections may deviate from anticipated and historical 
collections and may have an adverse impact on the financial position and operations of the Issuer 
and its ability to fund debt obligations, including the bonds in accordance with its terms.  The 
Issuer is not able to predict and makes no representations as to the economic impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic on the Issuer or its financial position. 

10. [It understands that interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is taxable for federal income 
tax purposes.] 

It is provided in the Indenture that the Issuer may hereafter issue Additional Bonds (as 
defined in the Indenture) from time to time under certain terms and conditions contained therein.  
(Such Additional Bonds and the Series 2023 Bonds are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
"Bonds.")  Reference is made to the Indenture and to all indentures supplemental thereto for a 
description of the nature and extent of the security, the rights, duties and obligations of the Issuer 
and the Trustee, the rights of the holders of the Bonds, the issuance of Additional Bonds and the 
terms on which the Bonds are or may be issued and secured, and to all the provisions of which the 
holder hereof by the acceptance of this Series 2023 Bond assents. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are issuable in registered form in $100,000 denominations and 
thereafter in integral multiples $1,000 thereof. This Series 2023 Bond is transferable by the 
registered holder hereof in person or by its attorney duly authorized in writing at the payment 
office of the Trustee, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment of the 
charges provided in the Indenture and upon surrender and cancellation of this Series 2023 Bond.  
Upon such transfer a new registered Bond will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor. 

The Issuer, the Trustee and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the Registered Owner 
hereof as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of 
principal hereof and premium, if any, hereon and interest due hereon and for all other purposes 
and neither the Issuer, the Trustee nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. 

If sufficient funds are on deposit in the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 5.1 of the Indenture, 
the Series 2023 Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer 
on any date upon thirty (30) days' notice, in whole or in part, in such order of maturity as the Issuer 
shall direct and by lot within maturities, on any date, from any moneys made available for that 
purpose, at face value, with no premium, plus in each case accrued interest to the date fixed for 
redemption. 

If any of the Series 2023 Bonds are called for redemption as aforesaid, notice thereof 
identifying the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed will be given by mailing a copy of the 
redemption notice by first class mail not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for 
redemption to the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed at the address shown 
on the registration books; provided, however, that failure to give such notice by mailing, or any 
defect therein with respect to any registered Series 2023 Bond, shall not affect the validity of any 
proceedings for the redemption of other Series 2023 Bonds. 

 



 

7 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

If any of the Series 2023 Bonds are called for redemption as aforesaid, notice thereof 
identifying the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed will be given by mailing a copy of the 
redemption notice by first class mail not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for 
redemption to the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed at the address shown 
on the registration books; provided, however, that failure to give such notice by mailing, or any 
defect therein with respect to any registered Series 2023 Bond, shall not affect the validity of any 
proceedings for the redemption of other Series 2023 Bonds.   

All Series 2023 Bonds so called for redemption will cease to bear interest on the specified 
redemption date, provided funds for their redemption are on deposit at the place of payment at that 
time, shall no longer be protected by the Indenture and shall not be deemed to be outstanding under 
the provisions of the Indenture. 

This Series 2023 Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof at the payment office 
of the Trustee upon surrender and cancellation of this Series 2023 Bond and on presentation of a 
duly executed written instrument of transfer and thereupon a new Series 2023 Bond or Series 2023 
Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount and maturity and in authorized denominations will 
be issued to the transferee or transferees in exchange therefor, subject to all terms herein. 

The Series 2023 Bonds, and the interest payable thereon, do not and shall not represent or 
constitute a debt of the Issuer within the meaning of the provisions of the constitution or statutes 
of the State of Indiana or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer.  The Series 2023 Bonds as 
to both principal and interest, are not an obligation or liability of the State of Indiana, or of any 
political subdivision or taxing authority thereof, but are a special limited obligation of the Issuer 
and payable solely and only from the trust estate consisting of funds and accounts held under the 
Indenture and the TIF Revenues pledged and assigned for their payment in accordance with the 
Indenture ("Trust Estate").  Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Issuer, the 
Redevelopment Commission, the State of Indiana or any political subdivision or taxing authority 
thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of or, premium, if any, or the interest on this 
Series 2023 Bond.  The Series 2023 Bonds do not grant the owners or holders thereof any right to 
have the Issuer, the State of Indiana or its General Assembly, or any political subdivision or taxing 
authority of the State of Indiana, levy any taxes or appropriate any funds for the payment of the 
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2023 Bonds.  No covenant or agreement 
contained in the Series 2023 Bonds or the Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement 
of any member, director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the Redevelopment Commission, 
the Goshen Economic Development Commission ("Commission") or the Issuer in his or her 
individual capacity, and no member, director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the 
Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer shall be liable personally on the Series 
2023 Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of 
the Series 2023 Bonds. 

The holder of this Series 2023 Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the 
Indenture or to institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect 
to any event of default under the Indenture, or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or other 
proceedings with respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture.  In certain events, on the 
conditions, in the manner and with the effect set forth in the Indenture, the principal of all the 
Bonds issued under the Indenture and then outstanding may become or may be declared due and 



 

8 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

payable before the stated maturity thereof, together with interest accrued thereon.  Modifications 
or alterations of the Indenture, or of any supplements thereto, may be made to the extent and in the 
circumstances permitted by the Indenture.  The Issuer's obligation to pay TIF Revenues shall not 
be subject to acceleration. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things required to exist, happen and be 
performed under the laws of the State of Indiana and under the Indenture precedent to and in the 
issuance of this Series 2023 Bond, exist, have happened and have been performed, and that the 
issuance, authentication and delivery of this Series 2023 Bond have been duly authorized by the 
Issuer. 

This Series 2023 Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be 
entitled to any security or benefit under the Indenture until the certificate of authentication hereon 
shall have been duly executed by the Trustee. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City of Goshen, Indiana, has caused this Series 2023 Bond to 
be executed in its name and on its behalf by the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor and 
its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed manually or by facsimile and attested to by the manual or 
facsimile signature of its Clerk-Treasurer all as of the Original Date set forth above. 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
By:    

Mayor 
(Seal) 

Attest: 

 
  
Clerk-Treasurer 

(FORM OF TRUSTEE'S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION) 

This Series 2023 Bond is one of the Series 2023 Bonds described in the within mentioned 
Trust Indenture. 

________________________, as Trustee 
 
 
By:    

Authorized Officer 

ASSIGNMENT 



 

9 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

(Please Print or Typewrite Name and Address) 

the within Series 2023 Bond and all rights, title and interest thereon, and hereby irrevocably 
constitutes and appoints ____________________________ attorney to transfer the within Series 
2023 Bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the 
premises. 

Dated:____________________________ 

Signature Guaranteed 

____________________________________ 
NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed by 
an eligible guarantor institution participating 
in a Securities Transfer Association 
recognized signature guarantee program. 

 ___________________________________ 
NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment 
must correspond with the name as it appears 
upon the face of the within Series 2023 Bond 
in every particular, without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever. 
 

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this certificate, 
shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or 
regulations: 

UNIF TRAN MIN ACT -- ___________ Custodian _________ 

 (Cust) (Minor) 

under Uniform Transfers to Minors Act 

   

(State) 

 
 TEN COM -- as tenants in common 
 JT TEN  -- as joint tenants with right of survivorship 
   and not as tenants in common 
 
 Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list. 

[EXHIBIT A] 

[to be printed on a separate page] 

(End of Bond Form) 



 

10 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH:  That in order to secure the 
payment of the principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Series 2023 Bonds to be issued 
under this Indenture according to their tenor, purport and effect, and in order to secure the 
performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions herein and in the Series 2023 
Bonds contained, and in order to declare the terms and conditions upon which the Series 2023 
Bonds are issued, authenticated, delivered, secured and accepted by all persons who shall from 
time to time be or become holders thereof, and for and in consideration of the mutual covenants 
herein contained, of the acceptance by the Trustee of the trust hereby created, and of the purchase 
and acceptance of the Series 2023 Bonds by the holders or obligees thereof, the Issuer has executed 
and delivered this Indenture, and by these presents does hereby convey, grant, assign, pledge and 
grant a security interest in, unto the Trustee, its successor or successors and its or their assigns 
forever, with power of sale, all and singular, the property hereinafter described ("Trust Estate"): 

GRANTING CLAUSE 

DIVISION I 

All right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the Financing Agreement (except the 
rights reserved to the Issuer therein); 

DIVISION II 

All right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the TIF Revenues (such pledge to be 
effective as set forth in IC 5-1-14-4 and IC 36-7-14-39 without filing or recording of this Indenture 
or any other instrument), the Financing Agreement (except the rights reserved to the Issuer) and 
all moneys and the Qualified Investments held by the Trustee from time to time in the Funds and 
Accounts created hereunder; 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same unto the Trustee, and its successor or successors and 
its or their assigns forever; 

IN TRUST, NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth, to secure the 
payment of the Series 2023 Bonds to be issued hereunder, and premium, if any, payable upon 
redemption or prepayment thereof, and the interest payable thereon, and to secure also the 
observance and performance of all the terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of this 
Indenture, and for the benefit and security of all and singular the holders of all Series 2023 Bonds 
issued hereunder, and it is hereby mutually covenanted and agreed that the terms and conditions 
upon which the Series 2023 Bonds are to be issued, authenticated, delivered, secured and accepted 
by all persons who shall from time to time be or become the holders thereof, and the trusts and 
conditions upon which the pledged moneys and revenues are to be held and disbursed, are as 
follows: 



 

11 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE I. 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Terms Defined.  In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in 
this Indenture, the following words and terms as used in this Indenture shall have the following 
meanings unless the context or use indicates another or different meaning or intent: 

"Additional Bonds" shall have the meaning assigned in Section 2.8 of this Indenture. 

"Allocation Area" means the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area. 

"Annual Fees" means annual fees of the Trustee and reasonable (in an amount not to exceed 
$5,000) annual fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer related to monitoring Ariel Tax Increment 
and Future Tax Increment. 

"Area" means the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Economic Development Area. 

"Authorized Representative" means: (i) as to the Company, any officer of the Company or 
any other person certified by an officer of the Company to be such, and shall serve as Authorized 
Representative for the Company; and (ii) as to the Issuer, any person so designated by the Mayor 
and authorized to serve as Authorized Representative for the Issuer. 

"Bondholder" or any similar term means the registered owner of a Bond. 

"Bond Purchase Agreement" means the purchase agreement dated _______, 2023 between 
the Issuer and the Bond Purchaser. 

"Bond Purchaser" means Legacy Communities, Inc., a corporation duly organized, existing 
and authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Indiana. 

"Bonds" means any Bonds issued pursuant to this Indenture, including the Series 2023 
Bonds and any Additional Bonds. 

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect as of the 
date of delivery of the original bonds. 

"Company" means AP Cycleworks LLC, an Indiana limited liability company duly 
organized, existing and authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Indiana, or any 
successors thereto permitted under Section 3.3 of the Financing Agreement. 

"Costs of Construction" means the categorical costs of providing for an "economic 
development project" as defined and set forth in the Act as follows: 

(i) the "Bond Issuance Costs," namely the costs, fees and expenses incurred or 
to be incurred by the Issuer and Redevelopment Commission in connection with the 
issuance and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel, 
fees of the Issuer or Redevelopment Commission's municipal advisor, the fees of the Issuer 



 

12 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

and Redevelopment Commission's counsel, the acceptance fee and first year annual 
administrative fee of the Trustee, application fees and expenses, publication costs, the filing 
and recording fees in connection with any filings or recording necessary under the 
Indenture, the out-of-pocket costs of the Issuer, the costs of preparing or printing the Series 
2023 Bonds and the documentation supporting the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, the 
costs of reproducing documents, and any other costs of a similar nature reasonably 
incurred; 

(ii) the cost of insurance of all kinds that may be required or necessary in 
connection with the construction of the Projects; 

(iii) all costs and expenses which Issuer or Company shall be required to pay, 
under the terms of any contract or contracts (including the architectural and engineering, 
development, and legal services with respect thereto) for materials, equipment and the 
construction of the Projects; and 

(iv) any sums required to reimburse the Issuer, Redevelopment Commission or 
Company for advances made by either of them for any of the above items or for any other 
costs incurred and for work done by either of them which are properly chargeable to the 
Projects. 

"Development Agreement" means the Development Agreement dated April 27, 2022 
among the City, the Redevelopment Commission and the Company. 

"Event of Default" means those events of default specified in and defined by Section 7.1 
hereof. 

"Facility" means a multi-family residential development in the 9th Street Corridor 
Allocation Area. 

"Financing Agreement" means the Financing and Covenant Agreement, dated as of ______ 
1, 2023, between the Company and the Issuer and all amendments and supplements thereto. 

"Indenture" means this instrument as originally executed or as it may from time to time be 
amended or supplemented pursuant to Article IX. 

"Interest Payment Date" on the Series 2023 Bonds means each January 1 and July 1, 
commencing _______ 1, 202_. 

"Issuer" means the City of Goshen, Indiana, a municipal corporation and political 
subdivision organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Indiana or any successor 
to its rights and obligations under the Financing Agreement and this Indenture. 

"Opinion of Counsel" shall mean an opinion in writing signed by legal counsel who may 
be an employee of or counsel to the Company and who shall be satisfactory to the Trustee in its 
reasonable discretion. 



 

13 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

"Outstanding" or "Bonds outstanding" means all Bonds which have been duly 
authenticated, and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, except: 

(a) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at or 
redemption prior to maturity; 

(b) Bonds for the redemption of which cash or investments (but only to the extent that 
the full faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged to the timely payment thereof) 
shall have been theretofore deposited with the Trustee (whether upon or prior to the maturity or 
redemption date of any such Bonds); provided that if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the 
maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given or arrangements satisfactory to 
the Trustee shall have been made therefor, or waiver of such notice satisfactory in form to the 
Trustee, shall have been filed with the Trustee; and 

(c) Bonds in lieu of which others have been authenticated under Section 2.9. 

"Paying Agent" means ________________________ and any successor paying agent or 
co-paying agent. 

"Projects" construction of infrastructure improvements, including but not limited to, water, 
sewer, stormwater, electric and road improvements, including sidewalks, demolition, and the 
construction of footers and slabs associated with multi-family residential units assessed as 
commercial property, together with all necessary appurtenances and related improvements as 
further set forth in Exhibit B to Amending Declaratory Resolution No. ______. 

"Qualified Investments" shall have the meaning assigned in the Financing Agreement. 

"Record Date" means the fifteenth day of the month preceding an interest payment date of 
the Bonds. 

"Redevelopment Commission" means the Goshen Redevelopment Commission. 

"Requisite Bondholders" means the holders of 75% in aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds. 

"Series 2023 Bonds" or "Bonds" means the [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project) in the aggregate principal amount of $________. 

"Tax Increment" means all real property tax proceeds attributable to the assessed valuation 
of real property in the Allocation Area in excess of the assessed valuation described in IC 36-7-
14-39(b)(1), as such statutory provision exists on the date of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

"TIF Revenues" means 100% of the Tax Increment generated in the Allocation Area and 
deposited into the Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, minus the Annual Fees, 
received by the Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer for payment of the Bonds 
pursuant to the TIF Pledge Resolution. 

 



 

14 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

"TIF Pledge Resolution" means the amended and restated resolution of the Redevelopment 
Commission adopted on April 11, 2023, pledging TIF Revenues to the Issuer for the payment of 
debt service on the Series 2023 Bonds. 

"Trust Estate" means the funds and accounts, TIF Revenues and other assets described in 
the Granting Clauses of this Indenture. 

"Trustee" means ________________________, [Indianapolis, Indiana] [__________, 
_________] the party of the second part hereto, and any successor trustee or co-trustee. 

Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation.  For all purposes of this Indenture, except as 
otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) "This Indenture" means this instrument as originally executed and as it may from 
time to time be supplemented or amended pursuant to the applicable provisions hereof. 

(b) All references in this instrument to designated "Articles," "Sections" and other 
subdivisions are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this instrument as 
originally executed.  The words "herein," "hereof" and "hereunder" and other words of similar 
import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other 
subdivision. 

(c) The terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this Article 
and include the plural as well as the singular and the singular as well as the plural. 

(d) All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to 
them in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as consistently applied. 

(e) Any terms not defined herein but defined in the Financing Agreement shall have 
the same meaning herein. 

(f) The terms defined elsewhere in this Indenture shall have the meanings therein 
prescribed for them. 

Section 1.3. Exhibits.  The following Exhibits are attached to and by reference made a 
part of this Indenture: 

Exhibit A:  Costs of Issuance 
Exhibit B: Affidavit of Construction Fund Disbursement Request 

(End of Article I) 



 

15 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE II. 
 

THE SERIES 2023 BONDS 

Section 2.1. Authorized Amount of Series 2023 Bonds.  No Series 2023 Bonds may be 
issued under the provisions of this Indenture except in accordance with this Article.  The aggregate 
principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds (other than Series 2023 Bonds issued in substitution 
therefor pursuant to Section 2.9 hereof) that may be issued is hereby expressly limited to 
$________.  Additional Bonds may be issued as provided in Section 2.8 hereof. 

Section 2.2. Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds.  The Series 2023 Bonds shall be 
designated "[Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project)."  The 
Series 2023 Bonds shall be originally issuable as fully registered Series 2023 Bonds in the principal 
amount of $________, in denominations of $100,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 thereof and 
shall be lettered and numbered R-1 and upward.  Interest on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be at the 
rate of ___% per annum and shall be paid to the owners of such Bonds determined as of the close 
of business of the Record Date next preceding each Interest Payment Date at the registered 
addresses of such owners as they shall appear on the registration books of the Trustee 
notwithstanding the cancellation of any such Bonds upon any exchange or transfer thereof 
subsequent to the Record Date and prior to such Interest Payment Date, except that, if and to the 
extent that there shall be a default in the payment of the interest due on such interest payment date, 
such defaulted interest shall be paid to the owners in whose name any such Bonds (or any Bond 
issued upon transfer or exchange thereof) are registered at the close of business of the Record Date 
next preceding the date of payment of such defaulted interest.  Payment of interest to all 
Bondholders shall be by check drawn on the main office of the Paying Agent and mailed to such 
Bondholder one business day prior to each Interest Payment Date.  The Series 2023 Bonds shall 
be dated as of the date of their delivery and shall accrue interest from their date of issuance.  Interest 
shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.  The interest 
on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be payable on each January 1 and July 1, commencing on 
________ 1, 202_. 

Proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds shall be advanced from time to time as provided in 
Section 4.4. 

The Series 2023 Bonds shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next preceding 
the date of authentication thereof, unless such date of authentication shall be subsequent to a 
Record Date in which case they shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date with respect to 
such Record Date, provided, however that if, as shown by the records of the Trustee, interest on 
the Series 2023 Bonds shall be in default, Series 2023 Bonds issued in exchange for Series 2023 
Bonds surrendered for transfer or exchange shall bear interest from the date to which interest has 
been paid in full on the Series 2023 Bonds or, if no interest has been paid on the Series 2023 Bonds, 
from the date of issuance and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds.  Series 2023 Bonds authenticated 
on or prior to December 15, 2023 shall bear interest from the date of delivery of the Series 2023 
Bonds. 

The Series 2023 Bonds shall mature on [January] [July] 1, 20__. 



 

16 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

Section 2.3. Payment on Series 2023 Bonds.  The principal of and interest on the Series 
2023 Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which, on 
the dates of payment thereof, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  The final 
payments on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be payable at the corporate trust operations office of the 
Trustee.  All other payments on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be made to the person appearing on 
the Series 2023 Bond registration books of the Trustee as the registered owner of the Series 2023 
Bonds by check mailed to the Registered Owner thereof as shown on the registration books of the 
Trustee.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the Series 2023 Bonds shall not need to be 
presented for payment except upon final maturity or redemption in full. 

Section 2.4. Execution; Limited Obligation.  The Series 2023 Bonds shall be executed 
on behalf of the Issuer with the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor and attested with the 
manual or the facsimile signature of its Clerk-Treasurer and shall have impressed or printed 
thereon the corporate seal of the Issuer.  Such facsimiles shall have the same force and effect as if 
such officer had manually signed the Series 2023 Bonds.  If any officer whose signature or 
facsimile signature shall appear on the Series 2023 Bonds shall cease to be such officer before the 
delivery of such Series 2023 Bonds, such signature or such facsimile shall, nevertheless, be valid 
and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if he had remained in office until delivery.  The use of 
electronic signatures by the Mayor and Clerk-Treasurer are authorized and affirmed with full valid 
legal effect and enforceability. 

The Series 2023 Bonds, and the interest payable thereon, do not and shall not represent or 
constitute a debt of the Issuer, the State of Indiana or any political subdivision or taxing authority 
thereof within the meaning of the provisions of the constitution or statutes of the State of Indiana 
or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer, the State of Indiana or any political subdivision or 
taxing authority thereof.  The Series 2023 Bonds, as to both principal and interest, are not an 
obligation or liability of the State of Indiana, or of any political subdivision or taxing authority 
thereof, but are a special limited obligation of the Issuer and are payable solely and only from the 
trust estate consisting of funds and accounts held under the Indenture and the TIF Revenues 
pledged and assigned for their payment in accordance with the Indenture ("Trust Estate").  Neither 
the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Issuer, the Redevelopment Commission, the State 
of Indiana or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof is pledged to the payment of the 
principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2023 Bond.  The Series 2023 Bonds do 
not grant the owners or holders thereof any right to have the Issuer, the State of Indiana or its 
General Assembly, or any political subdivision or taxing authority of the State of Indiana, levy any 
taxes or appropriate any funds for the payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest 
on the Series 2023 Bonds.  No covenant or agreement contained in the Series 2023 Bonds or the 
Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any member, director, officer, agent, 
attorney or employee of the Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer in his or 
her individual capacity, and no member, director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the 
Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer shall be liable personally on the Series 
2023 Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of 
the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Section 2.5. Authentication.  No Series 2023 Bonds shall be valid or obligatory for any 
purpose or entitled to any security or benefit under this Indenture unless and until the certificate of 
authentication on such Series 2023 Bond substantially in the form hereinabove set forth shall have 



 

17 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

been duly executed by the Trustee, and such executed certificate of the Trustee upon any such 
Series 2023 Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Series 2023 Bond has been authenticated 
and delivered under this Indenture.  The Trustee's certificate of authentication on the Series 2023 
Bonds shall be deemed to have been executed by it if signed by an authorized officer of the Trustee, 
but it shall not be necessary that the same officer sign the certificate of authentication on all of the 
Series 2023 Bonds issued hereunder. 

Section 2.6. Form of Series 2023 Bonds.  The Series 2023 Bonds issued under this 
Indenture shall be substantially in the form hereinabove set forth with such appropriate variations, 
omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this Indenture or deemed necessary by the 
Trustee. 

Section 2.7. Delivery of Series 2023 Bonds.  Upon the execution and delivery of this 
Indenture, the Issuer shall execute and deliver to the Trustee the Series 2023 Bonds in the aggregate 
principal amount of $________.  The Trustee shall authenticate the Series 2023 Bonds and deliver 
them to the purchasers thereof upon receipt of: 

(i) A copy, duly certified by the Clerk-Treasurer of the Issuer, of the amended 
and restated ordinance adopted and approved by the Issuer authorizing the execution and 
delivery of the Financing Agreement and this Indenture and the issuance of the Series 2023 
Bonds. 

(ii) A copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Redevelopment Commission, 
of the amended and restated resolution adopted and approved by the Redevelopment 
Commission pledging the TIF Revenues to the payment of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(iii) Executed counterparts of the Financing Agreement and Indenture. 

(iv) A written request of the Issuer to the Trustee requesting the Trustee to 
authenticate, or cause to be authenticated, and deliver the Series 2023 Bonds in the 
principal amount of $________ to the purchasers thereof. 

(v) An opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel. 

The proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds shall be paid over to the Trustee and deposited to 
the credit of various Funds as hereinafter provided under Section 3.1 hereof. 

Section 2.8. Issuance of Additional Bonds.  With the consent of the Requisite 
Bondholders, the Series 2023 Bonds issued under this Indenture in addition to the Series 2023 
Bonds ("Additional Bonds") may be authenticated and delivered from time to time for one or more 
of the purposes of (i) refunding entirely the Series 2023 Bonds outstanding hereunder, if such 
Bonds may otherwise be refunded, (ii) advance refunding entirely one or more series of Bonds 
outstanding hereunder, regardless of whether such Bonds may otherwise be refunded, if the same 
is then permitted by law by depositing with the Trustee, in trust for the sole benefit of such Bonds, 
cash or investments (but only to the extent that the full faith and credit of the United States of 
America are pledged to the timely payment thereof) in a principal amount which will, together 
with the income or increment to accrue thereon, be sufficient to pay and redeem (when redeemable) 
and discharge such series of Bonds at or before their respective maturity dates, and (iii) financing 



 

18 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

the cost or estimated cost of completing the Projects or of acquiring and/or constructing additional 
improvements to the Projects, and, in each case, obtaining additional funds to pay the costs to be 
incurred in connection with the issuance of such Additional Bonds, to establish reserves with 
respect thereto and to pay interest during the estimated construction period of completing the 
additional improvements, if any. 

Prior to the delivery by the Issuer of any such Additional Bonds there shall be filed with 
the Trustee: 

(i) A supplement to this Indenture executed by the Issuer and the Trustee 
authorizing the issuance of such Additional Bonds and specifying the terms thereof. 

(ii) The supplement or amendment to the Financing Agreement and the other 
instruments, documents, certificates, and opinions referred to in Section 7.1 of the 
Financing Agreement. 

(iii) A copy, duly certified by the Clerk-Treasurer of the Issuer, of the amended 
and restated bond ordinance theretofore adopted and approved by the Issuer authorizing 
the execution and delivery of such supplemental indenture and such supplement to the 
Financing Agreement and the issuance of such Additional Bonds. 

(iv) A written request of the Issuer to the Trustee to authenticate and deliver 
such Additional Bonds. 

(v) For additional Bonds payable from TIF Revenues, a certificate showing the 
requirements for such additional obligations contained in the resolution or ordinance 
pledging the TIF Revenues shall have been met. 

Any Additional Bonds issued in accordance with the terms of this Section 2.8 shall be 
secured by this Indenture but such Additional Bonds may bear such date or dates, such interest 
rate or rates, and with such maturities, redemption dates and premiums as may be agreed upon by 
the Issuer, at the direction of the Company, and the purchaser of such Additional Bonds. 

Section 2.9. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Series 2023 Bonds.  If any Series 
2023 Bond is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Issuer may execute and the Trustee may 
authenticate a new Series 2023 Bond of like date, maturity and denomination as that mutilated, 
lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, in the case of any mutilated Series 2023 Bond, such 
mutilated Series 2023 Bond shall first be surrendered to the Issuer, and in the case of any lost, 
stolen or destroyed Series 2023 Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Trustee evidence of such 
loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with indemnity satisfactory to it. 

If any such Series 2023 Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Series 2023 
Bond the Issuer may pay the same without surrender thereof; provided, however, that in the case 
of a lost, stolen or destroyed Series 2023 Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Trustee evidence 
of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with indemnity satisfactory 
to it.  The Trustee may charge the holder or owner of such Series 2023 Bond with their reasonable 
fees and expenses in this connection.  Any Series 2023 Bond issued pursuant to this Section 2.9 



 

19 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

shall be deemed part of the original series of Series 2023 Bonds in respect of which it was issued 
and an original additional contractual obligation of the Issuer. 

Section 2.10. Registration and Exchange of Series 2023 Bonds; Persons Treated as 
Owners.  The Issuer shall cause books for the registration and for the transfer of the Series 2023 
Bonds as provided in this Indenture to be kept by the Trustee which is hereby constituted and 
appointed the registrar of the Issuer.  Upon surrender for transfer of any fully registered Series 
2023 Bond at the principal office of the Trustee, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written 
instrument or instruments of transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee and duly executed by the 
registered owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee 
shall authenticate and deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a new fully registered 
Series 2023 Bond or Bonds of the same series and the same maturity for a like aggregate principal 
amount.  The execution by the Issuer of any fully registered Series 2023 Bond without coupons of 
any denomination shall constitute full and due authorization of such denomination, and the Trustee 
shall thereby be authorized to authenticate and deliver such registered Series 2023 Bond.  The 
Trustee shall not be required to transfer or exchange any fully registered Series 2023 Bond during 
the period between the Record Date and any interest payment date of such Series 2023 Bond, nor 
to transfer or exchange any Series 2023 Bond after the mailing of notice calling such Bond for 
redemption has been made, nor during a period of fifteen (15) days next preceding mailing of a 
notice of redemption of any Series 2023 Bonds. 

As to any fully registered Series 2023 Bond, the person in whose name the same shall be 
registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and 
payment of principal or interest thereon, shall be made only to or upon the order of the registered 
owner thereof or its legal representative, but such registration may be changed as hereinabove 
provided.  All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon 
such Series 2023 Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

(End of Article II) 



 

20 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE III. 
 

APPLICATION OF SERIES 2023 BOND PROCEEDS 

Section 3.1. Deposit of Funds.  The Issuer shall deposit with Trustee in the 
Construction Fund $________ of the proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds.  $________ 
of the proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds deposited into the Construction Fund shall 
be used to pay Bond Issuance Costs pursuant to Section 4.4(a) of the Indenture.  The Bond 
Purchaser will make additional advances to purchase the Series 2023 Bonds from time to time.  
Such proceeds shall be deposited with the Trustee in the Construction Fund.  The proceeds of the 
Series 2023 Bonds shall be paid out immediately following closing or from time to time upon 
submission to the Trustee of a written request for funds by the Authorized Representative of the 
Company.  Such requisition shall be substantially in the form attached as Exhibit B. 

(End of Article III) 



 

21 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE IV. 
 

REVENUE AND FUNDS 

Section 4.1. Source of Payment of Bonds.  The Bonds herein authorized and all 
payments to be made by the Issuer hereunder are not general obligations of the Issuer but are 
limited obligations payable solely from the Trust Estate as authorized by the Act and as provided 
herein.  No covenant or agreement contained in the Bonds or this Indenture shall be deemed to be 
a covenant or agreement of the Issuer or of any member, director, officer, agent, attorney or 
employee of the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and neither the Issuer nor any member, 
director, officer, agent, attorney, or employee of the Issuer executing the Bonds shall be liable 
personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the 
issuance of the Bonds. 

Section 4.2. Bond Fund.  The Trustee shall establish and maintain, so long as any of 
the Bonds are outstanding, a separate fund to be known as the "Bond Fund."  Money in the Bond 
Fund shall be applied as provided in this Section 4.2. 

In addition, there shall be deposited in the Bond Fund, as and when received, (a) all TIF 
Revenues; and (b) all interest and other income derived from investments of Bond Fund moneys 
as provided herein.  Subject to the funding source limitations in this Indenture and the final 
maturity date of the Bonds, the Issuer hereby covenants and agrees that so long as any of the Series 
2023 Bonds issued hereunder are outstanding, it will deposit, or cause to be paid to Trustee for 
deposit in the Bond Fund for its account, all the TIF Revenues, as and when received by the Issuer.  
Nothing herein should be construed as requiring Issuer to deposit or cause to be paid to the Trustee 
for deposit in the Bond Fund, funds from any source other than receipts derived from the TIF 
Revenues, Financing Agreement and proceeds from the Series 2023 Bonds. 

The Clerk-Treasurer of the Issuer shall set aside immediately upon receipt of the Tax 
Increment into the Issuer's Allocation Fund as created by IC 36-7-14 and shall deposit, or cause to 
be delivered to the Trustee for deposit all of the TIF Revenues into the Bond Fund in the manner 
prescribed in this Section 4.2 and in Section 4.6. 

Moneys in the Bond Fund shall be used by the Trustee first to pay the Annual Fees of the 
Trustee and then to pay interest and as much principal on the Bonds as possible based on the 
amount of TIF Revenues received by the Trustee. 

Section 4.3. RESERVED 

Section 4.4. Construction Fund.  The Issuer shall establish with the Trustee a separate 
fund to be known as the Construction Fund, to the credit of which the deposits are to be made as 
required by Section 3.1 hereof. 

(a) The Trustee shall deposit $_______ from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds into the 
Construction Fund to pay Bond Issuance Costs.  The Bond Issuance Costs set forth in Exhibit A 
shall be wire transferred at closing to the entities listed as authorized by the Mayor and the Clerk-
Treasurer, the authorization evidenced by the execution of this Indenture.  Other costs of issuance 



 

22 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

shall be paid upon submission of an affidavit signed by the Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer.  
Execution of this Indenture shall be authorization for these payments. 

(b) Except as set forth in subparagraph (a) of this Section 4.4, moneys on deposit in the 
Construction Fund shall be paid out from time to time by the Trustee to or upon the order of the 
Issuer in order to pay, or as reimbursement to the Issuer or the Company for payment made, for 
the Costs of Construction, upon receipt by the Trustee of the written request signed by the 
Authorized Representative of the Company, approved by the Redevelopment Commission, in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit B: 

(1) stating that the costs of an aggregate amount set forth in such written 
request have been made or incurred and were necessary for the construction of the 
Projects and were made or incurred in accordance with the construction contracts, 
plans and specifications, or purchase contracts therefor then in effect or that the 
amounts set forth in such written request are for allowable Costs for Construction; 

(2) stating that the amount paid or to be paid, as set forth in such written 
request, is reasonable and represents a part of the amount payable for the Costs of 
Construction all in accordance with the cost budget; and that such payment was not 
paid in advance of the time, if any, fixed for payment and was made in accordance 
with the terms of any contracts applicable thereto and in accordance with usual and 
customary practice under existing conditions; 

(3) stating that no part of the costs was included in any written request 
previously filed with the Trustee under the provisions hereof; 

(4) stating that such costs are appropriate for the expenditure of 
proceeds of the Bonds under the Act; and 

(5) stating a recap of vendors and the amount paid;  

(c) Disposition of Construction Fund Moneys After Completion.  If, after payment by 
the Trustee of all orders theretofore tendered to the Trustee under the provisions of subparagraph 
(a) of this Section 4.4 and after receipt by the Trustee of the completion certificate or certificates 
mentioned in subparagraph (b) of this Section 4.4, there shall remain any balance of moneys in the 
Construction Fund, the Trustee shall transfer all moneys then in the Construction Fund (except 
moneys reserved to pay any disputed claims described in the completion certificate required in 
Section 4.4(b) hereof) to the Bond Fund.  The Trustee is hereby directed by the Issuer to use any 
amount transferred to the Bond Fund from the Series 2023 Bonds, to redeem the Series 2023 Bonds 
pursuant to Section 5.1 hereof at the earliest redemption date.  

Section 4.5. Rebate Fund.  There is hereby created and ordered maintained as a 
separate account in the custody of the Trustee a fund to be designated the Rebate Fund provided, 
however, that the Trustee shall not be required to maintain such account on its records until such 
time as any deposit is actually required to be made into the Rebate Fund under this Indenture and 
the Certificate of the Issuer Re: Arbitrage and Federal Tax Matters ("Tax Certificate").  Moneys 
deposited in the Rebate Fund shall be used to meet any rebate liability of the Issuer under Section 
148(f) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.  Any provision hereof 



 

23 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

to the contrary notwithstanding, amounts credited to the Rebate Fund shall be free and clear of any 
lien hereunder.  The duties and responsibilities of the Issuer provided in this Section 4.5 are to be 
read and interpreted consistently with the provisions of the Tax Certificate. 

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on the calculations made pursuant to the Tax Certificate 
by the Issuer and shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action taken 
or omitted to be taken in reliance upon those calculations. 

The Issuer shall provide to the Trustee the computations made pursuant to this Section as 
are required by the Tax Certificate and the Trustee shall keep such records of such computations. 

The Trustee shall keep and make available to the Issuer such records concerning the 
investments of the gross proceeds of the Bonds and the investments of earnings from those 
investments as may be requested by the Issuer in order to enable the Issuer to make the aforesaid 
computations as are required under the Tax Certificate. 

Section 4.6. TIF Revenues.  On or before ______ 15 and December 15, commencing 
[June 15, 202_][December 15, 202_], the Issuer shall transfer to the Trustee, to the extent 
available, all TIF Revenues for deposit to the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 4.2. 

Section 4.7. Trust Funds.  All moneys and securities received by the Trustee under the 
provisions of this Indenture, shall be trust funds under the terms hereof and shall not be subject to 
lien or attachment of any creditor of the Issuer or of the Company.  Such moneys shall be held in 
trust and applied in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture. 

Section 4.8. Investment.  Moneys on deposit in the Funds established in this Article IV 
hereof shall be invested as provided in Section 6.8 hereof. 

(End of Article IV) 



 

24 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE V. 
 

RESERVED 

 



 

25 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE VI. 
 

GENERAL COVENANTS 

Section 6.1. Payment of Principal and Interest.  Subject to the funding source 
limitations in this Indenture, the Issuer covenants that it will promptly pay the principal of and 
interest on every Bond issued under this Indenture at the place, on the dates and in the manner 
provided herein and in the Bonds according to the true intent and meaning thereof.  The principal 
and interest on the Bonds are payable solely and only from the TIF Revenues, and nothing in the 
Bonds or in this Indenture should be considered as pledging any other funds or assets of the Issuer.  
The Bonds, and the interest payable thereon, do not and shall not represent or constitute a debt of 
the Issuer within the meaning of the provisions of the constitution or statutes of the State of Indiana 
or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer.  The Bonds, as to both principal and interest, are 
not an obligation or liability of the State of Indiana, or of any political subdivision or taxing 
authority thereof, but are a special limited obligation of the Issuer and are payable solely and only 
from TIF Revenues.  Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Issuer, the 
Redevelopment Commission, the State of Indiana or any political subdivision or taxing authority 
thereof is pledged to the payment of or the principal of and premium, if any, or interest on the 
Bonds.  The Bonds do not grant the owners or holders thereof any right to have the Issuer, the 
Redevelopment Commission, the State of Indiana or its General Assembly, or any political 
subdivision or taxing authority of the State of Indiana, levy any taxes or appropriate any funds for 
the payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds.  The Issuer has no 
taxing power with respect to the Bonds.  No covenant or agreement contained in the Bonds or this 
Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any member, director, officer, agent, 
attorney or employee of the Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer in his or 
her individual capacity, and no member, director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the 
Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer executing the Bonds shall be liable 
personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the 
issuance of the Bonds. 

Section 6.2. Performance of Covenants.  The Issuer covenants that it will faithfully 
perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in 
this Indenture, in any and every Bond executed, authenticated and delivered hereunder and in all 
proceedings of its members pertaining thereto.  The Issuer represents that it is duly authorized 
under the constitution and laws of the State of Indiana to issue the Bonds authorized herein and to 
execute this Indenture, pledge the TIF Revenues and assign the Financing Agreement in the 
manner and to the extent herein set forth; that all action on its part for the issuance of the Bonds 
and the execution and delivery of this Indenture has been duly and effectively taken, and that the 
Bonds in the hands of the holders and owners thereof are and will be valid and enforceable 
obligations of the Issuer according to the import thereof, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws, judicial decisions and principles of equity 
relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to the valid exercise of the 
constitutional powers of the Issuer, the State of Indiana and the United States of America. 

Section 6.3. Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance.  The Issuer represents that 
at the time of the pledge and assignment thereof the assignment of the Financing Agreement to the 
Trustee hereby made will be valid and lawful.  The Issuer covenants that it will defend its interest 



 

26 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

in the Financing Agreement to the Trustee, for the benefit of the holders and owners of the Bonds 
against the claims and demands of all persons whomsoever.  The Issuer covenants that it will do, 
execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, 
such indentures supplemental hereto and such further acts, instruments and transfers as the Trustee 
may reasonably require for the better assuring, transferring, mortgaging, conveying, pledging, 
assigning and confirming unto the Trustee, the Financing Agreement and all payments thereon and 
thereunder pledged hereby to the payment of the principal, or premium, if any, or interest on the 
Bonds. 

Section 6.4. Filing of Indenture, Financing Agreement and Security Instruments.  The 
Issuer, upon the written direction and at the sole expense of the Company, shall cause this 
Indenture, the Financing Agreement and all supplements thereto as well as such other security 
instruments, financing statements and all supplements thereto and other instruments as may be 
required from time to time to be filed in such manner and in such places as may be required by 
law in order to fully preserve and protect the lien hereof and the security of the holders and owners 
of the Bonds and the rights of the Trustee hereunder.  This Section 6.4 shall impose no duty to 
record or file the instruments noted above where filing or recordation is not required by law in 
order to perfect a security interest.  Continuation of financing statements may be filed without 
consent of the debtor parties thereto. 

Section 6.5. Inspection of Books.  The Issuer covenants and agrees that all books and 
documents in its possession relating to the Projects and the revenues derived from the Projects 
shall at all times be open to inspection by such accountants or other agents as the Trustee may 
from time to time designate. 

Section 6.6. List of Bondholders.  The Trustee will keep on file at the principal office 
of the Trustee a list of names and addresses of the holders of all Bonds.  At reasonable times and 
under reasonable regulations established by the Trustee, said list may be inspected and copied by 
the Company or by holders and/or owners (or a designated representative thereof) of 25% or more 
in principal amount of Bonds then outstanding, such ownership and the authority of any such 
designated representative to be evidenced to the satisfaction of the Trustee. 

Section 6.7. Rights Under Financing Agreement.  The Issuer agrees that the Trustee in 
its name or in the name of the Issuer may enforce all rights of the Issuer and all obligations of the 
Company under and pursuant to the Financing Agreement for and on behalf of the Bondholders, 
whether or not the Issuer is in default hereunder. 

Section 6.8. Investment of Funds.  Moneys in the funds established hereunder may be 
invested in Qualified Investments to the extent and in the manner provided for in Section 3.8 of 
the Financing Agreement.  The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting 
from any such investment.  The interest accruing thereon and any profit realized from such 
investments shall be credited, and any loss resulting from such investments shall be charged to the 
fund in which the money was deposited.   

Section 6.9. Non-presentment of Bonds.  If any Bond shall not be presented for 
payment when the principal thereof becomes due, either at maturity, or at the date fixed for 
redemption thereof, or otherwise, if funds sufficient to pay any such Bond shall have been made 
available to Paying Agent for the benefit of the holder or holders thereof, all liability of Issuer to 



 

27 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

the holder thereof for the payment of such Bond shall forthwith cease, determine and be completely 
discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of Paying Agent to hold such funds for five (5) years 
without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the holder of such Bond, who shall thereafter 
be restricted exclusively to such funds, for any claim of whatever nature on his part under this 
Indenture or on, or with respect to, such Bond. 

Any moneys so deposited with and held by the Paying Agent not so applied to the payment 
of Bonds within five (5) years after the date on which the same shall become due shall be repaid 
by Paying Agent to Issuer and thereafter Bondholders shall be entitled to look only to Issuer for 
payment, and then only to the extent of the amount so repaid, and Issuer shall not be liable for any 
interest thereon and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such money. 

Section 6.10. Direction of Bondholders.  Whenever any action, direction or consent is 
required of the Trustee, the Trustee shall consult with the holders of the Bonds and shall take such 
action, give such direction or give such consent as shall be directed by the Requisite Bondholders. 

Section 6.11. Tax 
Covenants.  The Issuer shall not use or 
permit the use of any proceeds of Bonds or 
any other funds of the Issuer, directly or 
indirectly, to acquire any securities or 
obligations, and shall not use or permit the 
use of any TIF Revenues in any manner, 
and shall not take or permit to be taken any 
other action or actions, which would cause 
any Bond to be an "arbitrage bond" within 
the meaning of Section 148 of the Code or 
which would otherwise affect the 
exclusion of interest on the Bonds from 
gross income of the recipients thereof for 
federal income tax purposes. 

The Issuer shall at all times do and perform all acts and things permitted by law and 
necessary or desirable in order to assure that interest paid by the Issuer on the Bonds shall, for 
federal income tax purposes, be excluded from the gross income of the recipients thereof.  In 
furtherance of this covenant, the Issuer shall execute, deliver and perform tax and arbitrage 
certificates, which are by this reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof as if set forth 
herein in full, and by its acceptance of this Indenture, the Trustee acknowledges receipt of the tax 
and arbitrage certificates and acknowledges their incorporation herein by reference. 

Notwithstanding any provision of this Indenture or the Financing Agreement to the 
contrary, unless otherwise specifically agreed in the Tax Certificate or in a separate written 
agreement, the Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any calculation or determination which 
may be required in connection with, or for the purpose of complying with, Section 148 of the Code, 
or any successor statute or any regulation, ruling or other judicial or administrative interpretation 
thereof, including, without limitation, the calculation of amounts required to be paid to the United 
States of America or the determination of the maximum amount which may be invested in 



 

28 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

nonpurpose obligations having a yield higher than the yield on the Bonds, and the Trustee shall 
not be liable or responsible for monitoring the compliance by the User or the Issuer with any of 
the requirements of Section 148 of the Code or any applicable regulation, ruling or other judicial 
or administrative interpretation thereof except as specifically provided in the Tax Certificate. 

(End of Article VI) 



 

29 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE VII. 
 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 7.1. Events of Default.  Each of the following events is hereby declared an 
"event of default," that is to say, if: 

(a) payment of any amount payable on the Bonds shall not be made when the same is 
due and payable by reason other than collection of insufficient TIF Revenues and paid to the 
Trustee; or 

(b) any event of default as defined in Section 5.1 of the Financing Agreement shall 
occur and be continuing; or 

(c) the Issuer shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the 
covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Bonds or in this Indenture or 
any agreement supplemental hereof on the part of the Issuer to be performed, and such default 
shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice specifying such default and requiring the 
same to be remedied shall have been given to the Issuer and the Company by the Trustee; or 

(d) the Issuer shall fail to apply collected TIF Revenues in accordance with Article IV 
of this Indenture; short fall in the amount of TIF Revenues received shall not be an event or default. 

Section 7.2. Reserved.   

Section 7.3. Remedies; Rights of Bondholders.   

(i) If an event of default occurs, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy 
by suit at law or in equity to enforce the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on the Bonds then outstanding, to enforce any obligations of the Issuer hereunder, 
and of the Issuer and the Company under the Financing Agreement. 

(ii) Upon the occurrence of an event of default, and if directed to do so by the 
Requisite Bondholders and indemnified as provided in Section 8.1 hereof, the Trustee shall 
be obliged to exercise such one or more of the rights and powers conferred by this Article 
as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most expedient in the interests of the 
Bondholders. 

(iii) No remedy by the terms of this Indenture conferred upon or reserved to the 
Trustee (or to the Bondholders) is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each 
and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy 
given to the Trustee or to the Bondholders hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or 
in equity or by statute. 

(iv) No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 
event of default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver 
of any event of default or acquiescence therein, and every such right and power may be 
exercised from time to time as may be deemed expedient. 



 

30 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

(v) No waiver of any event of default hereunder, whether by the Trustee or by 
the Bondholders, shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent event of default or shall 
impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon. 

Section 7.4. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings.  Anything in this Indenture 
to the contrary notwithstanding, the holders of all Bonds then outstanding shall have the right, at 
any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct 
the time, the method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection with the 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or 
any other proceedings hereunder; provided, that such direction shall not be otherwise than in 
accordance with the provisions of law and of this Indenture, and provided that the Trustee is 
obligated to pursue its remedies under the provisions of Section 7.3 hereof before any other 
remedies are sought. 

Section 7.5. Application of Moneys.  All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant to 
any right given or action taken under the provisions of this Article shall, after payment of the cost 
and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the collection of such moneys and of the expenses, 
liabilities and advances incurred or made by the Trustee or the Issuer and the creation of a 
reasonable reserve for anticipated fees, costs and expenses, be deposited in the Bond Fund and all 
moneys in the Bond Fund shall be applied as follows: 

(a) Unless the principal of all the Bonds shall have become or shall have been declared 
due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied: 

First:  To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest 
then due on the Bonds, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest, and 
if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then 
to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such installment, to the persons 
entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; and 

Second:  To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of 
and premium, if any, of the Bonds which shall have become due (other than Bonds called 
for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of this 
Indenture), in the order of their due dates, with interest on such Bonds from the respective 
dates upon which they become due, and if the amount available shall not be sufficient to 
pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with such interest, then to the 
payment ratably, to the amount of principal due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto 
without any discrimination or privilege; and 

Third:  To the payment of the balance, if any, to the Company or its successors or 
assigns, upon the written request of the Company, except for any remaining TIF Revenues 
which shall be paid to the Issuer, or to whosoever may be lawfully entitled to receive the 
same upon its written request, or as any court of competent jurisdiction may direct. 

(b) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due or shall have been declared 
due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal and interest then 
due and unpaid upon the Bonds, without preference or priority of principal over interest or of 



 

31 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

interest over any other installment of interest, according to the amounts due, respectively, for 
principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege. 

(c) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have been declared due and payable, and if 
such declaration shall thereafter have been rescinded and annulled under the provisions of this 
Article then, subject to the provisions of subsection (b) of this Section in the event that the principal 
of all the Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, the moneys shall be applied 
in accordance with the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section. 

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such moneys 
shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine, having due 
regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of additional 
moneys becoming available for such application in the future.  Whenever the Trustee shall apply 
such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an interest payment date unless it shall deem another 
date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon such date interest on the 
amounts of principal to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue.  The Trustee shall give such 
notice as it may deem appropriate of the deposit with it of any such moneys and of the fixing of 
any such date and shall not be required to make payment to the holder of any Bond until such Bond 
shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid. 

Section 7.6. Remedies Vested In Trustee.  All rights of action (including the right to 
file proof of claims) under this Indenture or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by the Trustee 
without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or other 
proceedings relating thereto, and any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be 
brought in its name as Trustee without the necessity of joining as plaintiffs or defendants any 
holders of the Bonds, and any recovery of judgment shall, subject to the provisions of Section 7.4 
hereof, be for the equal benefit of the holders of the outstanding Bonds. 

Section 7.7. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders.  No holder of any Bond shall have 
any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the enforcement of this 
Indenture or for the execution of any trust thereof or for the appointment of a receiver or any other 
remedy hereunder, unless a default has occurred of which the Trustee has been notified as provided 
in subsection (g) of Section 8.1, or of which by said subsection it is deemed to have notice, nor 
unless also such default shall have become an event of default and the holders of all Bonds then 
outstanding shall have made written request to the Trustee and shall have offered reasonable 
opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to institute such 
action, suit or proceeding in its own name, nor unless also they have offered to the Trustee 
indemnity as provided in Section 8.1 hereof, nor unless the Trustee shall thereafter fail or refuse 
to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted, or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its, 
his, or their own name or names.  Such notification, request and offer of indemnity are hereby 
declared in every case at the option of the Trustee to be conditions precedent to the execution of 
the powers and trusts of this Indenture, and to any action or cause of action for the enforcement of 
this Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or for any other remedy hereunder; it being 
understood and intended that no one or more holders of the Bonds shall have any right in any 
manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the lien of this Indenture by its, his or their action 
or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings 
at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and for 



 

32 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

the equal benefit of the holders of all Bonds then outstanding.  Nothing in this Indenture contained 
shall, however, affect or impair the right of any Bondholder to enforce the covenants of the Issuer 
to pay the principal of and interest on each of the Bonds issued hereunder to the respective holders 
thereof at the time, place, from the source and in the manner in the Bonds expressed. 

Section 7.8. Termination of Proceedings.  In case the Trustee shall have proceeded to 
enforce any right under this Indenture by the appointment of a receiver, or otherwise, and such 
proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been 
determined adversely, then and in every such case the Issuer, the Company and the Trustee shall 
be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, with respect to the Trust 
Estate, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee shall continue as if no such proceedings 
had been taken. 

Section 7.9. Waivers of Events of Default.  The Trustee may in its discretion waive any 
event of default hereunder and its consequences and rescind any declaration of maturity of 
principal of and interest on the Bonds, and shall do so upon the written request of the holders of 
(1) all the Bonds then outstanding in respect of which default in the payment of principal and/or 
premium, if any, and/or interest exists, or (2) all Bonds then outstanding in the case of any other 
default; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (a) any event of default in the payment 
of the principal of any outstanding Bonds at the date of maturity specified therein, or (b) any default 
in the payment when due of the interest on any such Bonds unless prior to such waiver or 
rescission, arrears of interest, with interest (to the extent permitted by law) at the rate borne by the 
Bonds in respect of which such default shall have occurred on overdue installments of interest or 
all arrears of payments of principal and premium, if any, when due, as the case may be, and all 
expenses of the Trustee in connection with such default shall have been paid or provided for, and 
in case of any such waiver or rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account 
of any such default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then and 
in every such case the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be restored to their former 
positions and rights hereunder, respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend to any 
subsequent or other default, or impair any right consequent thereon. 

(End of Article VII) 



 

33 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE VIII. 
 

THE TRUSTEE AND PAYING AGENT 

Section 8.1. Acceptance of the Trusts.  The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts imposed 
upon it by this Indenture and agrees to perform said trusts as a corporate trustee ordinarily would 
perform said trusts under a corporate indenture, but no implied covenants or obligations shall be 
read into this Indenture against the Trustee. 

(a) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereof and perform any of its 
duties by or if appointed through attorneys, agents, receivers or employees but shall not be 
answerable for the conduct of the same if appointed with due care, and shall be entitled to advice 
of counsel concerning all matters of trusts hereof and the duties hereunder, and may in all cases 
pay such reasonable compensation to all such attorneys, agents, receivers and employees as may 
reasonably be employed in connection with the trusts hereof.  The Trustee may act upon the 
opinion or advice of any attorney (who may be the attorney or attorneys for the Issuer or the 
Company).  The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action 
or non-action in good faith in reliance upon such opinion or advice. 

(b) The Trustee shall not be responsible for any recital herein, or in the Bonds (except 
in respect to the certificate of the Trustee endorsed on the Bonds), or for insuring the property 
herein conveyed or collecting any insurance moneys, or for the validity of the execution by the 
Issuer of this Indenture or of any supplements thereto or instruments of further assurance, or for 
the sufficiency of the security for the Bonds issued hereunder or intended to be secured hereby, or 
for the value or title of the property herein conveyed or otherwise as to the maintenance of the 
security hereof; and the Trustee shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the performance or 
observance of any covenants, conditions or agreements on the part of the Issuer or on the part of 
the Company under the Financing Agreement; but the Trustee may require of the Issuer or the 
Company full information and advice as to the performance of the covenants, conditions and 
agreements aforesaid as to the condition of the property herein conveyed.  The Trustee shall have 
no obligation to perform any of the duties of the Issuer under the Financing Agreement, and the 
Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered in connection with any investment 
of funds made by it in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture. 

(c) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use of any Bonds authenticated by it 
or the Paying Agent or delivered hereunder.  The Trustee may become the owner of Bonds secured 
hereby with the same rights which it would have if not Trustee. 

(d) The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon any notice, request, consent, 
certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document believed to be genuine and 
correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons.  Any action taken by the 
Trustee pursuant to this Indenture upon the request or authority or consent of any person who at 
the time of making such request or giving such authority or consent is the owner of any Bond, 
shall be conclusive and binding upon all future owners of the same Bond and upon Bonds issued 
in exchange therefor or in place thereof. 



 

34 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

(e) As to the existence or non-existence of any fact or as to the sufficiency or validity 
of any instrument, paper or proceeding, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon a certificate signed 
on behalf of the Issuer or the Company by its duly authorized officers as sufficient evidence of the 
facts therein contained and prior to the occurrence of a default of which the Trustee has been 
notified as provided in subsection (g) of this Section, or of which said subsection it is deemed to 
have notice, shall also be at liberty to accept a similar certificate to the effect that any particular 
dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient, but may at its discretion secure such further 
evidence deemed necessary or advisable, but shall in no case be bound to secure the same.  The 
Trustee may accept a certificate of the Issuer or the Company under its seal to the effect that an 
ordinance or resolution in the form therein set forth has been adopted by the Issuer or the Company 
as conclusive evidence that such ordinance or resolution has been duly adopted and is in full force 
and effect. 

(f) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall 
not be construed as a duty, and the Trustee shall not be answerable for other than its gross 
negligence or willful misconduct; provided, however, that the provisions of this subsection shall 
not affect the duties of the Trustee hereunder, including the provisions of Article VII hereof. 

(g) The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice of any 
event of default hereunder (other than payment of the principal and interest on the Bonds) unless 
the Trustee shall be specifically notified in writing of such default by the Issuer or by the holders 
of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then outstanding 
and all notices or other instruments required by this Indenture to be delivered to the Trustee must, 
in order to be effective, be delivered at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee, and in 
the absence of such notice so delivered, the Trustee may conclusively assume there is no default 
except as aforesaid. 

(h) The Trustee shall not be personally liable for any debts contracted or for damages 
to persons or to personal property injured or damaged, or for salaries or nonfulfillment of contracts 
during any period in which it may be in possession of or managing the Trust Estate. 

(i) At any and all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior written notice, the 
Trustee, and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts, engineers, accountants and 
representatives, shall have the right fully to inspect the Trust Estate, and to take such memoranda 
from and in regard thereto as may be desired. 

(j) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the 
execution of the said trusts and powers or otherwise in respect of the premises. 

(k) Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in this Indenture contained, the Trustee shall 
have the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect of the authentication of any Bonds, 
the withdrawal of any cash, the release of any property, or any action whatsoever within the 
purview of this Indenture, any showings, certificates, opinions, appraisals or other information, or 
corporate action or evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof required as a condition 
of such action by the Trustee, deemed desirable for the authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal 
of any cash, or the taking of any other action by the Trustee. 



 

35 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

(l) Before taking any action under this Section 8.1 the Trustee may require that a 
satisfactory indemnity bond be furnished for the reimbursement of all expenses to which it may be 
put and to protect it against all liability, except liability which is adjudicated to have resulted from 
its gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with any action so taken.  Such indemnity 
shall survive the termination of this Indenture. 

(m) All moneys received by the Trustee or the Paying Agent shall, until used or applied 
or invested as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for which they were received but 
need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  Neither the Trustee 
nor the Paying Agent shall be under any liability for interest on any moneys received hereunder 
except such as may be agreed upon. 

(n) The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an event of default and after the curing of 
all events of default which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such 
duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture, and no implied covenants or obligations should 
be read into this Indenture against the Trustee.  If any event of default under this Indenture shall 
have occurred and be continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested 
in it by this Indenture and shall use the same degree of care as a prudent man would exercise or 
use in the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. 

(o) The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, statement 
or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure material prepared 
or distributed with respect to the Bonds, except for any information provided by the Trustee, and 
shall have no responsibility for compliance with any state or federal securities laws in connection 
with the Bonds. 

(p)  The Trustee shall have the right to accept and act upon instructions, including funds 
transfer instructions ("Instructions") given pursuant to this Indenture and delivered using 
Electronic Means; provided, however, that the Issuer and Company shall provide to the Trustee an 
incumbency certificate listing officer with the authority to provide such Instructions ("Authorized 
Officers") and containing specimen signature of such Authorized Officer, which incumbency 
certificate shall be amended by the Issuer and Company whenever a person is to be added or 
deleted from the listing.  If the Issuer and Company elects to give the Trustee Instructions using 
Electronic Means and the Trustee in its discretion elects to act upon such Instructions, the Trustee's 
understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The Issuer and Company 
understands and agrees that the Trustee cannot determine the identity of the actual sender of such 
instructions and that the Trustee shall conclusively presume that direction that purport to have been 
sent by an Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency certificate provided to the Trustee have 
been sent by such Authorized Officer.  The Issuer and Company shall be responsible for ensuring 
that only Authorized Officer transmit such instructions to the Trustee and that the Issuer and 
Company and all Authorized Officer are solely responsible to safeguard that use and 
confidentiality of applicable user and authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys 
upon receipt by the Issuer and Company.  The Trustee shall not be liable for any losses, costs or 
expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Trustee's reliance upon and compliance with such 
Instructions notwithstanding such directions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written 
Instruction.  The Issuer and Company agrees: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of 
Electronic Means to submit Instructions to the Trustee, including without limitation the risk of the 



 

36 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

Trustee acting on unauthorized Instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third 
parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with the various methods 
of transmitting Instructions to the Trustee and that there may be more secure methods of 
transmitting Instructions that the method(s) selected by the Issuer and Company; (iii) that the 
security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of Instructions 
provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and 
circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Trustee immediately upon learning of any compromise or 
unauthorized use of the security procedures.  "Electronic Means" shall mean the following 
communications methods:  e-mail, facsimile transmission, secure electronic transmission 
containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys issued by the 
Trustee, or another method or system specified by the Trustee as available for use in connection 
with its services hereunder. 

(q) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Issuer or 
Company of any of the Bonds or the proceeds thereof or for the use or application of any money 
paid over by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture or the Financing 
Agreement or for the use and application of money received by any paying agent. 

(r) None of the provisions of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk 
its own funds or otherwise incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of any of 
its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable 
grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or 
liability is not reasonable assured to it. 

(s) The Trustee shall have no duty to review or analyze financial statements and shall 
hold such financial statements solely as a repository for the benefit of the Bondholders; the Trustee 
shall not be deemed to have notice of any information contained therein or event of default which 
may be disclosed therein in any manner. 

Section 8.2. Fees, Charges and Expenses of Trustee and Paying Agent.  The Trustee 
and Paying Agent shall be entitled to payment and/or reimbursement for reasonable fees for its 
services rendered hereunder and all advances, counsel fees and other expenses reasonably and 
necessarily made or incurred by the Trustee or Paying Agent in connection with such services.  
Such fees and expenses shall be payable upon the receipt of TIF Revenues received from the Issuer.  
In the event such TIF Revenues are insufficient to pay such fees and expenses of the Trustee, the 
Company shall be responsible for payment of said fees and expenses of the Trustee.  Upon an 
event of default, but only upon an event of default, the Trustee shall have a right of payment prior 
to payment on account of interest or principal of, or premium, if any, on any Bond for the foregoing 
advances, fees, costs and expenses incurred.  In the event of bankruptcy of the Issuer or Company, 
any fees and expenses of the Trustee shall constitute administrative expenses.  If the Trustee 
renders any service hereunder not provided for in the Indenture, or the Trustee is made a party to 
or intervenes in any litigation pertaining to this Indenture or institutes interpleader proceedings 
relative hereto, the Trustee shall be compensated reasonable by the Issuer for such extraordinary 
services and reimbursed for any and all claims, liabilities, losses, damages, fines, penalties and 
expenses, including out-of-pocket and incidental expenses and legal fees occasioned thereby. 



 

37 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

Section 8.3. Notice to Bondholders if Default Occurs.  If an event of default occurs of 
which the Trustee is by subsection (g) of Section 8.1 hereof required to take notice or if notice of 
an event of default be given as in said subsection (g) provided, then the Trustee shall give written 
notice thereof by first class, registered or certified mail to the last known holders of all Bonds then 
outstanding shown by the list of Bondholders required by the terms of this Indenture to be kept at 
the office of the Trustee. 

Section 8.4. Intervention by Trustee.  In any judicial proceeding to which the Issuer is 
a party and which in the opinion of the Trustee and its counsel has a substantial bearing on the 
interests of holders of the Bonds, the Trustee may intervene on behalf of Bondholders and, subject 
to the provisions of Section 8.1(l), shall do so if requested in writing by the owners of at least 
twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then outstanding.  The rights 
and obligations of the Trustee under this Section are subject to the approval of a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

Section 8.5. Successor Trustee.  Any corporation or association into which the Trustee 
may be converted or merged, or with which it may be consolidated, or to which it may sell or 
transfer its corporate trust business and assets as a whole or substantially as a whole, or any 
corporation or association resulting from any such conversion, sale, merger, consolidation or 
transfer to which it is a party, ipso facto, shall be and become successor Trustee hereunder and 
vested with all of the title to the whole property or trust estate and all the trusts, powers, discretions, 
immunities, privileges and all other matters as was its predecessor, without the execution or filing 
of any instrument or any further act, deed or conveyance on the part of any of the parties hereto, 
anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding. 

Section 8.6. Resignation by the Trustee.  The Trustee and any successor Trustee may 
at any time resign from the trusts hereby created by giving thirty days' written notice to the Issuer 
and the Company and by registered or certified mail to each registered owner of Bonds then 
outstanding and to each holder of Bonds as shown by the list of Bondholders required by this 
Indenture to be kept at the office of the Trustee, and such resignation shall take effect at the end of 
such thirty (30) days, or upon the earlier appointment of a successor Trustee by the Bondholders 
or by the Issuer.  Such notice to the Issuer and the Company may be served personally or sent by 
registered or certified mail.  If at the end of the 30 days' notice period a successor trustee has not 
been appointed, the Trustee shall have the right to petition a court of competent jurisdiction to 
appoint a successor trustee. 

Section 8.7. Removal of the Trustee.  The Trustee may be removed at any time by an 
instrument or concurrent instruments in writing delivered to the Trustee and to the Issuer and 
signed by all the Bondholders. 

Section 8.8. Appointment of Successor Trustee by the Bondholders; Temporary 
Trustee.  In case the Trustee hereunder shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be in 
course of dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of acting hereunder, or in case 
it shall be taken under control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver appointed by a 
court, a successor may be appointed by the owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds then outstanding, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by such 
owners, or by their attorneys-in-fact, duly authorized; provided, nevertheless, that in case of such 



 

38 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

vacancy, the Issuer, by an instrument executed by one of its duly authorized officers, may appoint 
a temporary Trustee to fill such vacancy until a successor Trustee shall be appointed by the 
Bondholders in the manner above provided; and any such temporary Trustee so appointed by the 
Issuer shall immediately and without further act be superseded by the Trustee so appointed by such 
Bondholders.  Every such Trustee appointed pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall be a 
trust company or bank, having a reported capital and surplus of not less than One Hundred Million 
Dollars ($100,000,000) if there be such an institution willing, qualified and able to accept the trust 
upon reasonable or customary terms. 

Section 8.9. Concerning Any Successor Trustees.  Every successor Trustee appointed 
hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to the Issuer and the 
Company an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such 
successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the 
estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor; but such 
predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of the Issuer, or of its successor, execute 
and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor Trustee all the estates, properties, rights, 
powers and trusts of such predecessor hereunder; and every predecessor Trustee shall deliver all 
securities and moneys held by it as Trustee hereunder to its successor.  Should any instrument in 
writing from the Issuer be required by any successor Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting 
in such successor the estate, rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in 
the predecessor any and all such instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, 
acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer.  The resignation of any Trustee and the instrument or 
instruments removing any Trustee and appointing a successor hereunder, together with all other 
instruments provided for in this Article shall be filed by the successor Trustee in each office, if 
any, where the Indenture shall have been filed. 

Section 8.10. Trustee Protected in Relying Upon Resolutions, etc.  Subject to the 
conditions contained herein, the resolutions, ordinances, opinions, certificates and other 
instruments provided for in this Indenture may be accepted by the Trustee as conclusive evidence 
of the facts and conclusions stated therein and shall be full warrant, protection and authority to the 
Trustee for the release of property and the withdrawal of cash hereunder. 

Section 8.11. Appointment of Paying Agent and Registrar; Resignation or Removal of 
Paying Agent.  The Trustee is hereby appointed "Paying Agent" under this Indenture.  Any Paying 
Agent may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations created by this 
instrument and any supplemental indenture by giving at least 60 days' written notice to the Issuer, 
the Company and the Trustee.  Any Paying Agent may be removed at any time by an instrument, 
filed with such Paying Agent and the Trustee and signed by the Issuer and the Company.  Any 
successor Paying Agent shall be appointed by the Issuer at the direction of the Company and shall 
be a bank or trust company duly organized under the laws of any state of the United States or a 
national banking association, in each case having a capital stock and surplus aggregating at least 
$100,000,000, willing and able to accept the office on reasonable and customary terms and 
authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Indenture. 

In the event of the resignation or removal of any Paying Agent, such Paying Agent shall 
pay over, assign and deliver any moneys or securities held by it as Paying Agent to its successors, 
or if there is no successor, to the Trustee.  



 

39 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

Section 8.12 To the extent permitted by law, the Issuer hereby agrees to indemnify and 
save harmless the Trustee from all losses, liabilities, costs and expenses, including attorney fees 
and expenses, which may be incurred by it as a result of its acceptance of or arising from the 
performance of its duties hereunder unless such losses, liabilities, costs and expenses shall have 
been finally adjudicated to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Trustee, and sch indemnification shall survive its resignation or removal of the Trustee or the 
defeasance of this Indenture 

(End of Article VIII) 



 

40 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE IX. 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 

Section 9.1. Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders.  Subject 
to the last sentence of this Section, the Issuer and the Trustee may without the consent of, or notice 
to, any of the Bondholders, enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental to this Indenture, 
as shall not be inconsistent with the terms and provisions hereof, for any one or more of the 
following purposes: 

(a) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Indenture; 

(b) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders any 
additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon 
the Bondholders or the Trustee or any of them; 

(c) To subject to this Indenture additional security, revenues, properties or collateral; 
or 

(d) To make any other change in this Indenture which, in the judgment of the Trustee, 
is not to the material prejudice of the Trustee that is supported with an opinion of counsel that such 
action is not materially prejudicial to the holders, the Company, the Issuer or the holders of the 
Bonds; or 

(e) To modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as required to 
permit the qualification thereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar 
Federal statute hereafter in effect, and, if they so determine, to add to the Indenture such other 
terms, conditions and provisions as may be required by said Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as 
amended, or similar federal statute. 

(f) To issue Additional Bonds in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.8 hereof. 

Section 9.2. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders.  Exclusive 
of supplemental indentures covered by Section 9.1 hereof, and subject to the terms and provisions 
contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the Requisite Bondholders shall have the right, from 
time to time, anything contained in this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, to consent to 
and approve the execution by the Issuer and the Trustee of such other indenture or indentures 
supplemental hereto as shall be deemed necessary and desirable by the Issuer for the purpose of 
modifying, altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or 
provisions contained in this Indenture or in any supplemental indenture; provided however, that 
nothing in this section contained shall permit or be construed as permitting (except as otherwise 
permitted in this Indenture) (a) an extension of the stated maturity or reduction in the principal 
amount of, or reduction in the rate or extension of the time of paying of interest on, or reduction 
of any premium payable on the redemption of, any Bonds, without the consent of the holder of 
such Bond, or (b) a reduction in the amount or extension of the time of any payment required by 
any sinking fund applicable to any Bonds without the consent of the holders of all the Bonds which 
would be affected by the action to be taken, or (c) the creation of any lien prior to or on a parity 
with the lien of this Indenture without the consent of the holders of all the Bonds at the time 



 

41 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

outstanding, or (d) a reduction in the aforesaid aggregate principal amount of Bonds the holders of 
which are required to consent to any such supplemental indenture, without the consent of the 
holders of all the Bonds at the time outstanding which would be affected by the action to be taken, 
or (e) a modification of the rights, duties or immunities of the Trustee, without the written consent 
of the Trustee, or (f) a privilege or priority of any Bond over any other Bonds, or (g) deprive the 
Owners of any Bonds then Outstanding of the lien thereby created. 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, a supplemental indenture under this 
Article which affects any rights of the Company shall not become effective unless and until the 
Company shall have consented in writing to the execution and delivery of such supplemental 
indenture.  In this regard, the Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed execution and delivery of 
any such supplemental indenture together with a copy of the proposed supplemental indenture to 
be mailed by certified or registered mail to the Company at least fifteen (15) days prior to the 
proposed date of execution and delivery of any such supplemental indenture. 

The Trustee shall be entitled to receive, and shall be fully protected in relying upon, the 
opinion of any counsel approved by it who may be counsel for the Issuer, as conclusive evidence 
that any such proposed supplemental indenture complies with the provisions of this Indenture, and 
that it is proper for the Trustee, under the provisions of this Article, to join in the execution of such 
supplemental indenture.  Costs of any such opinion shall be paid by the Issuer. 

(End of Article IX) 



 

42 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE X. 
 

AMENDMENTS TO THE FINANCING AGREEMENT 

Section 10.1. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Not Requiring Consent of 
Bondholders.  The Issuer and the Trustee with the consent of the Company shall, without the 
consent of or notice to the Bondholders, consent to any amendment, change or modification of the 
Financing Agreement as may be required by (i) the provisions of the Financing Agreement and 
this Indenture, or (ii) for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or formal defect or omission, or (iii) 
in connection with any other change therein which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not to the 
material prejudice of the Trustee, the Issuer or the holders of the Bonds. 

Section 10.2. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Requiring Consent of 
Bondholders.  Except for the amendments, changes or modifications as provided in Section 10.1 
hereof, neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall consent to any other amendment, change or 
modification of the Financing Agreement without the written approval or consent of the Requisite 
Bondholders given and procured as in Section 9.2 provided. 

(End of Article X) 



 

43 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

ARTICLE XI. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 11.1. Satisfaction and Discharge.  All rights and obligations of the Issuer and 
the Company under the Financing Agreement and this Indenture shall terminate, and such 
instruments shall cease to be of further effect, and the Trustee shall execute and deliver all 
appropriate instruments evidencing and acknowledging the satisfaction of this Indenture, and shall 
assign and deliver to the Company any moneys and investments in the Construction Fund and the 
Rebate Fund established hereunder (except moneys or investments held by the Trustee for the 
payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds and except for any TIF Revenues which shall be 
delivered to the Issuer) when: 

(a) all fees and expenses of the Trustee and the Paying Agent shall have been paid; 

(b) the Issuer and the Company shall have performed all of their covenants and 
promises in the Financing Agreement and in this Indenture; and 

(c) all Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered (i) have become due and payable, 
or (ii) are to be retired or called for redemption under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for 
the giving of notice of redemption by the Trustee at the expense of the Company, or (iii) have been 
delivered to the Trustee canceled or for cancellation; and, in the case of (i) and (ii) above, there 
shall have been deposited with the Trustee either cash in an amount which shall be sufficient, or 
investments (but only to the extent that the full faith and credit of the United States of America are 
pledged to the timely payment thereof) the principal of and interest on which when due will provide 
moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with the Trustee, shall be sufficient, to 
pay when due the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest due and to become due 
on the Bonds prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may be.  Provided, 
however, none of the Bonds may be advance refunded if such advance refunding is not permitted 
by the laws of Indiana.  

Section 11.2. Defeasance of Bonds.  Any Bond shall be deemed to be paid and no longer 
Outstanding within the meaning of this Article and for all purposes of this Indenture when (a) 
payment of the principal and interest of and premium, if any, on such Bond either (i) shall have 
been made or caused to be made in accordance with the terms thereof, or (ii) shall have been 
provided for by irrevocably depositing with the Trustee in trust and irrevocably set aside 
exclusively for such payment, (1) moneys sufficient to make such payment or (2) Governmental 
Obligations maturing as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will insure 
the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment, and (b) all necessary and proper fees, 
compensation, indemnities and expenses of the Trustee and the Issuer pertaining to the Bonds with 
respect to which such deposit is made shall have been paid or the payment thereof provided for.  
At such time as a Bond shall be deemed to be paid hereunder, as aforesaid, such Bond shall no 
longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture, except for the purposes of any 
such payment from such moneys or Governmental Obligations.  The Trustee shall be entitled to 
receive a verification report of an independent certified public accountant, verification agent or 
similar expert to the effect that such securities and/or cash, together with the earnings thereon, will 
be sufficient to pay interest and principal (and applicable premium) on he Bonds to redemption or 



 

44 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

maturity or an opinion of counsel to the effect that all conditions precedent to the defeasance have 
been complied with. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no deposit under clause (a)(ii) of the immediately 
preceding paragraph shall be deemed payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until (a) proper notice 
of redemption of such Bonds shall have been previously given in accordance with Section 5.2 of 
this Indenture, or if the Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next 
succeeding sixty (60) days, until the Company shall have given the Trustee in form satisfactory to 
the Trustee irrevocable instructions to notify, as soon as practicable, the Owners of the Bonds, that 
the deposit required by the preceding paragraph has been made with the Trustee and that the Bonds 
are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Section 11.2 and stating the maturity or 
redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal of and 
the applicable redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds, plus interest thereon to the due date 
thereof; or (b) the maturity of such Bonds. 

All moneys so deposited with the Trustee as provided in this Section 11.2 may also be 
invested and reinvested, at the written direction of the Company, in Governmental Obligations, 
maturing in the amounts and at the times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all 
Governmental Obligations in the hands of the Trustee pursuant to this Section 11.2 which is not 
required for the payment of principal of the Bonds and interest on and premium, if any, thereon 
with respect to which such moneys shall have been so deposited shall be deposited in the Bond 
Fund as and when realized and collected for use and application as are other moneys deposited in 
the Bond Fund. 

Notwithstanding any provision of any other Article of this Indenture which may be contrary 
to the provisions of this Section 11.2, all moneys or Governmental Obligations set aside and held 
in trust pursuant to the provisions of this Section 11.2 for the payment of Bonds (including 
premium thereon, if any) shall be applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular 
Bonds (including the premium thereon, if any) with respect to which such moneys or 
Governmental Obligations have been so set aside in trust. 

Anything in Article 9 hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, if moneys or Governmental 
obligations have been deposited or set aside with the Trustee pursuant to this Section 11.2 for the 
payment of Bonds and such Bonds shall not have in fact been actually paid in full, no amendment 
to the provisions of this Section 11.2 shall be made without the consent of the Owner of each Bond 
affected thereby. 

The right to register the transfer of or to exchange Bonds shall survive the discharge of this 
Indenture. 

Section 11.3. Cancellation of Bonds.  If the Owner of any Series 2023 Bonds presents 
that Series 2023 Bond to the Trustee with an instrument satisfactory to the Trustee waiving all 
claims for payment of that Series 2023 Bond, the Trustee shall cancel that Series 2023 Bond and 
the Bondholder shall have no further claim against the Trust Estate, the Issuer or the Company 
with respect to that Series 2023 Bond. 



 

45 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

Section 11.4. Application of Trust Money.  All money or investments deposited with or 
held by the Trustee pursuant to Section 11.1 shall be held in trust for the holders of the Bonds, and 
applied by it, in accordance with the provisions of the Bonds and this Indenture, to the payment, 
either directly or through the Paying Agent, to the persons entitled thereto, of the principal (and 
premium, if any) and interest for whose payment such money has been deposited with the Trustee; 
but such money or obligations need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent 
required by law. 

Section 11.5. Consents, etc., of Bondholders.  Any consent, request, direction, approval, 
objection or other instrument required by this Indenture to be executed by the Bondholders may 
be in any number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be executed by such Bondholders 
in person or by agent appointed in writing.  Provided, however, that wherever this Indenture or the 
Financing Agreement requires that any such consent or other action be taken by the holders of a 
specified percentage, fraction or majority of the Bonds outstanding, any such Bonds held by or for 
the account of the following persons shall not be deemed to be outstanding hereunder for the 
purpose of determining whether such requirement has been met:  the Issuer or any of its members.  
For all other purposes, Bonds held by or for the account of such person shall be deemed to be 
outstanding hereunder.  Proof of the execution of any such consent, request, direction, approval, 
objection or other instrument or of the writing appointing any such agent and of the ownership of 
Bonds, if made in the following manner, shall be sufficient for any of the purposes of this 
Indenture, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee with regard to any action taken under 
such request or other instrument, namely: 

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such writing may be proved 
by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take acknowledgments 
within such jurisdiction that the person signing such writing acknowledged before him the 
execution thereof, or by affidavit of any witness to such execution. 

(b) The fact of the holding by any person of Bonds transferable by assignment and the 
amounts and numbers of such Bonds, and the date of the holding of the same, may be proved by a 
certificate executed by any trust company, bank or bankers, wherever situated, stating that at the 
date thereof the party named therein did exhibit to an officer of such trust company or bank or to 
such banker, as the property of such party, the Bonds therein mentioned if such certificate shall be 
deemed by the Trustee to be satisfactory.  The Trustee may, in its discretion, require evidence that 
such Bonds have been deposited with a bank, bankers or trust company, before taking any action 
based on such ownership.  In lieu of the foregoing, the Trustee may accept other proofs of the 
foregoing as it shall deem appropriate. 

For all purposes of this Indenture and of the proceedings for the enforcement hereof, such 
person shall be deemed to continue to be the holder of such Bond until the Trustee shall have 
received notice in writing to the contrary. 

Section 11.6. Limitation of Rights.  With the exception of rights herein expressly 
conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture, or the Bonds is 
intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than the parties hereto, and the Company, 
and the holders of the Bonds, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect to 
this Indenture or any covenants, conditions and provisions herein contained, this Indenture and all 



 

46 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

of the covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the Company and the holders of the Bonds as herein 
provided. 

Section 11.7. Severability.  If any provision of this Indenture shall be held or deemed to 
be or shall, in fact, be inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any 
jurisdiction or jurisdictions or in all jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any other 
provision or provisions hereof or any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any 
other reason, such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in question 
inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of rendering any other provision 
or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable to any extent whatever. 

The invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or Sections in this Indenture 
contained, shall not affect the remaining portions of this Indenture, or any part thereof. 

Section 11.8. Notices.  All notices, demands, certificates or other communications 
hereunder shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when mailed by first class, 
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, with proper address as indicated below.  The Issuer, 
the Company, and the Trustee may, by written notice given by each to the others, designate any 
address or addresses to which notices, demands, certificates or other communications to them shall 
be sent when required as contemplated by this Indenture.  Until otherwise provided by the 
respective parties, all notices, demands, certificates and communications to each of them shall be 
addressed as provided in Section 9.4 of the Financing Agreement. 

Section 11.9. Counterparts.  This Indenture may be simultaneously executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

Section 11.10. Applicable Law.  This Indenture shall be governed exclusively by the 
applicable laws of the State of Indiana. 

Section 11.11. Immunity of Officers and Directors.  No recourse shall be had for the 
payment of the principal of or premium or interest on any of the Bonds or for any claim based 
thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement in this Indenture contained against any 
past, present or future members, officer, directors, agents, attorneys or employees of the Issuer, or 
any incorporator, member, officer, director, agents, attorneys, employees or trustee of any 
successor corporation, as such, either directly or through the Issuer or any successor corporation, 
under any rule of law or equity, statute or constitution or by the enforcement of any assessment or 
penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any such incorporator, members, officers, directors, 
agents, attorneys, employees or trustees as such is hereby expressly waived and released as a 
condition of and consideration for the execution of this Indenture and issuance of such Bonds. 

Section 11.12. Holidays.  If any date for the payment of principal or interest on the Bonds 
is not a business day then such payment shall be due on the first business day thereafter. 

Section 11.13. Shortfall of TIF Revenues.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Indenture, any portion of the principal or interest due on the Series 2023 Bonds that remains unpaid 
due to a shortfall in TIF Revenues shall not be deemed defeased or otherwise satisfied, shall not 



 

47 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

be considered paid, and shall continue to be due and owing until the earlier of: (i) full payment by 
the Issuer; or (ii) the date which is 25 years after the date on which the Series 2023 Bonds are 
issued. 

(End of Article XI) 



 

4868-2735-4201. 4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Goshen, Indiana, has caused these presents to be 
signed in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and attested 
by its Clerk-Treasurer, and to evidence its acceptance of the trusts hereby created, 
________________________, in Indianapolis, Indiana has caused these presents to be signed in 
its name and behalf by, and the same to be attested by, a duly authorized officer, all as of the day 
and year first above written. 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
By:    

Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
 
  
Clerk-Treasurer 
 
SEAL 



 

4868-2735-4201. 4 

________________________, as Trustee 
 
 
By:    
 (Written Signature) 
 
  
 (Printed Signature) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This instrument prepared by Lisa A. Lee, Ice Miller LLP, One American Square, Suite 2900, 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46282. 



 

4868-2735-4201. 4 

EXHIBIT A 

Costs of Issuance 

Ice Miller LLP $________ 
  
________________________, as Trustee $________ 
  
Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC $________ 
  
  

TOTAL $_________ 



 

4868-2735-4201. 4 

EXHIBIT B 

Affidavit of Construction Fund Disbursement Request 
 
NO. __ 

________________________ 
 
 
 
Re: City of Goshen, Indiana 

[Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project) 
("Bonds") 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

This request for disbursement is submitted to you pursuant to Section 4.4(b) of the Trust 
Indenture dated as of ______ 1, 2023 ("Indenture") between the City of Goshen, Indiana ("Issuer") 
and ________________________ ("Bond Trustee").  You are hereby requested to make the 
following disbursements in the aggregate amount of $_______________ from the Construction 
Fund for the payment of Costs of Construction (as defined in the Indenture) in the individual 
amounts stated on Schedule A attached hereto. 

We hereby certify the following as the Company under the Indenture: 

1. The Costs of Construction of an aggregate amount set forth in this written request 
have been made or incurred and were necessary for the construction of the Projects; 

2. The amount paid or to be paid, as set forth in this written request, is reasonable and 
represents a part of the amount payable for the Costs of Construction all in accordance with the 
cost budget; and that such payment was not paid in advance of the time, if any, fixed for payment 
and was made in accordance with the terms of any contracts applicable thereto and in accordance 
with usual and customary practice under existing conditions; 

3. No part of such cost was included in any written request previously filed with the 
Bond Trustee under the provisions of the Indenture;  

4. Such costs are appropriate for the expenditure of proceeds of the Bonds under the 
Act (as defined in the Indenture); and 



 

 
4868-2735-4201. 4 

5. A recap of vendors and the amount paid and/or to be paid to each and, if a vendor 
is an unincorporated entity, the taxpayer identification number for such vendor. 

 
 
AP CYCLEWORKS LLC, as Company 
 
 
By:    
 
Print:    
 
Title:    
 

 
GOSHEN REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
 
 
By:    
 
Print:    
 
Title:    

 



 

4868-2735-4201. 4 

SCHEDULE A 
 

Payment To      Amount 
 
        $_________________ 



 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCING AND COVENANT AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 
 

AP CYCLEWORKS LLC 
 

AND 
 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 

Dated as of __________ 1, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The rights of the Issuer hereunder have been assigned to __________, _____, ______, as 
Trustee under a Trust Indenture dated as of the date hereof from the Issuer. 



 

 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
PAGE 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS AND EXHIBITS .......................................................................3 

Section 1.1. Terms Defined .....................................................................................................3 
Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation.........................................................................................6 

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS ........................................................................................8 

Section 2.1. Representations by Issuer ....................................................................................8 
Section 2.2. Representations by Company ..............................................................................8 
Section 2.3. Financing of Series 2023 Bond Proceeds by Issuer ............................................9 

ARTICLE III. PARTICULAR COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY AND THE 
ISSUER .............................................................................................................10 

Section 3.1. Consent to Assignments to Trustee ...................................................................10 
Section 3.2. General Covenants ............................................................................................10 
Section 3.3. Continuing Existence and Qualification; Assignment, Sale or Other 

Disposition of Projects ......................................................................................10 
Section 3.4. Company Duties Under Indenture ....................................................................10 
Section 3.5. Reserved ............................................................................................................11 
Section 3.6. Trustee's Right to Perform Company's Covenants; Advances ..........................11 
Section 3.7. Indemnity ..........................................................................................................11 
Section 3.8. Funding of Indenture Funds; Investments ........................................................11 
Section 3.9. Completion of Facility ......................................................................................12 
Section 3.10. Reserved ............................................................................................................12 

ARTICLE IV. APPLICATION OF SERIES 2023 BOND PROCEEDS .................................13 

Section 4.1. Use of Series 2023 Bond Proceeds by Issuer ....................................................13 
Section 4.2. Use of TIF Revenues .........................................................................................13 
Section 4.3. Estoppel Certificate ...........................................................................................13 

ARTICLE V. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES THEREFOR ..............................14 

Section 5.1. Events of Default...............................................................................................14 
Section 5.2. Right to Bring Suit, Etc .....................................................................................15 
Section 5.3. Remedies Cumulative .......................................................................................15 
Section 5.4. Delay or Omission Not a Waiver ......................................................................15 
Section 5.5. Remedies Subject to Provisions of Law ...........................................................15 
Section 5.6. Waiver of Events of Default .............................................................................15 

ARTICLE VI. IMMUNITY ......................................................................................................16 

Section 6.1. Immunity ...........................................................................................................16 

ARTICLE VII. SUPPLEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS TO THIS FINANCING 
AGREEMENT ..................................................................................................17 

Section 7.1. Supplements and Amendments to this Financing Agreement ..........................17 

ARTICLE VIII. DEFEASANCE .................................................................................................18 

Section 8.1. Defeasance ........................................................................................................18 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

(continued) 
PAGE 

 

- ii - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE IX. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS .................................................................19 

Section 9.1. Financing Agreement for Benefit of Parties Hereto .........................................19 
Section 9.2. Severability .......................................................................................................19 
Section 9.3. Limitation on Interest ........................................................................................19 
Section 9.4. Addresses for Notice and Demands ..................................................................19 
Section 9.5. Successors and Assigns .....................................................................................20 
Section 9.6. Counterparts ......................................................................................................20 
Section 9.7. Governing Law..................................................................................................20 
 



 

4883-0993-9792. 3 

FINANCING AND COVENANT AGREEMENT 

This is a FINANCING AND COVENANT AGREEMENT dated as of __________ 1, 
2023 ("Financing Agreement") by and between AP CYCLEWORKS LLC, a limited liability 
company duly organized, existing and authorized to do business under the laws of the State of 
Indiana ("Company"), and the CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA ("City or Issuer"), a municipal 
corporation and political subdivision duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the 
State of Indiana. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 7, Chapters 11.9, -12, -14 and -25 (collectively, "Act") has 
been enacted by the General Assembly of Indiana. 

The Act provides that an Issuer may, pursuant to the Act, issue revenue bonds for the 
purpose of financing costs of economic development facilities, for diversification of industry and 
the development and promotion of job opportunities in or near the City and vests the City with 
powers that may be necessary to enable it to accomplish such purposes. 

The Goshen Redevelopment Commission ("Redevelopment Commission") has created, 
consolidated and enlarged the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Economic Development Area 
("Area"), and an allocation area coterminous with the Area known as the Consolidated River 
Race/US 33 Allocation Area ("Original Allocation Area") in accordance with IC 36-7-14-39 for 
the purpose of capturing real property taxes generated from the incremental assessed value of real 
property located in the Original Allocation Area, and adopted an economic development plan, as 
amended (collectively, "Original Plan"), which Original Plan contained specific recommendations 
for economic development in the Area, pursuant to Declaratory Resolution No. 02-2012 (as 
amended to date), as confirmed by Confirmatory Resolution No. 26-2012 (as amended to date), 
after public hearings (collectively, "Area Resolution"). 

The Area Resolution established three allocation areas, including the 9th Street Corridor 
Allocation Area ("Allocation Area") in accordance with IC 36-7-14-39, for the purpose of 
capturing property taxes generated from the incremental assessed value of real property located in 
the Allocation Area ("Tax Increment"); 

The Issuer, upon finding that the Projects needed to support the Facility (each as hereinafter 
defined) and the proposed financing of the construction thereof will induce the Company to create 
additional employment opportunities in the City of Goshen, Indiana ("City"); assist the City with 
the existing housing shortage; will benefit the health, safety, morals, and general welfare of the 
citizens of the City and the State of Indiana; and will comply with the purposes and provisions of 
the Act, the Issuer adopted an ordinance approving the proposed financing. 

The Issuer intends to issue its [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 
2023 (Ariel Project) ("Series 2023 Bonds") in the aggregate principal amount of $_________ 
pursuant to the Trust Indenture dated as of _________ 1, 2023 ("Indenture") between the Issuer 
and _________________________________ as Trustee ("Trustee") and intends to utilize the 
proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to the provisions of this Financing Agreement to 
finance the construction of infrastructure improvements, including but not limited to water, sewer, 



 

- 2 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

stormwater, electric and road improvements, including sidewalks, demolition, and the construction 
of footers and slabs associated with multi-family residential units assessed as commercial property, 
together with all necessary appurtenances and related improvements needed to serve the Facility 
as further set forth in Exhibit B to the Area Resolution (collectively, "Projects") in or physically 
connected to the Allocation Area and to pay issuance costs to induce the Company to construct the 
Facility. 

This Financing Agreement provides for the payment by the Commission of the Series 2023 
Bonds from TIF Revenues. 

Subject to the further provisions of this Financing Agreement, the Series 2023 Bonds will 
be payable solely out of TIF Revenues, Bond proceeds (less costs of issuance) and Net Proceeds. 

In consideration of the premises, the use of the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds and of 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, the Company 
has executed and delivered this Financing Agreement. 

The Company and the Issuer hereby covenant and agree as follows: 



 

- 3 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE I. 
 

DEFINITIONS AND EXHIBITS 

Section 1.1. Terms Defined.  As used in this Financing Agreement, the following terms 
shall have the following meanings unless the context clearly otherwise requires: 

"Act" means, collectively, Indiana Code 36-7-11.9, -12, -14 and -25 and any successor 
provisions of the Indiana Code or successor codes. 

"Allocation Area" means the 9th Street Corridor Allocation Area. 

"Annual Fees" means annual fees of the Trustee and reasonable (in an amount not to exceed 
$5,000) annual fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer related to monitoring Tax Increment. 

"Area" means the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Economic Development Area. 

"Authorized Representative" means: (i) as to the Company, any officer of the Company or 
any other person certified by an officer of the Company to be such, and shall serve as Authorized 
Representative for the Company; and (ii) as to the Issuer, any person so designated by the Mayor 
and authorized to serve as Authorized Representative for the Issuer. 

"Bond Counsel" means a nationally recognized firm of municipal bond attorneys 
acceptable to the Trustee. 

"Bond Fund" means the Bond Fund established by Section 4.2 of the Indenture. 

"Bond Year" means each twelve-month period ending on any bond payment date. 

"Bondholder" or any similar term means the registered owner of a Bond. 

"Bonds" means the Series 2023 Bonds and any other bonds issued under the Indenture. 

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or holiday on which 
commercial banks in the city or town in which the principal office of the Trustee is located are 
open for conducting substantially all of its banking activities. 

"Commission" means the Goshen Economic Development Commission. 

"Company" means AP Cycleworks LLC, a limited liability company duly organized, 
existing and authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Indiana, or any successors 
thereto permitted under Section 3.3 hereof. 

"Completion Date" means the date of delivery by the Company to the Trustee of the 
certificate required by Section 4.4(c) of the Indenture, evidencing the completion of the Facility. 

"Construction Fund" means the Construction Fund established in Section 4.4 of the 
Indenture. 



 

- 4 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

"Costs of Construction" means the categorical costs of providing for an "economic 
development project" as defined and set forth in the Act as follows: 

(i) the "Bond Issuance Costs," namely the costs, fees and expenses incurred or 
to be incurred by the Issuer and Redevelopment Commission in connection with the 
issuance and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel, 
fees of the Issuer or Redevelopment Commission's municipal advisor, the fees of the Issuer 
and Redevelopment Commission's counsel, the acceptance fee and first year annual 
administrative fee of the Trustee, application fees and expenses, publication costs, the filing 
and recording fees in connection with any filings or recording necessary under the 
Indenture, the out-of-pocket costs of the Issuer, the costs of preparing or printing the Series 
2023 Bonds and the documentation supporting the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, the 
costs of reproducing documents, and any other costs of a similar nature reasonably 
incurred; 

(ii) the cost of insurance of all kinds that may be required or necessary in 
connection with the construction of the Projects; 

(iii) all costs and expenses which Issuer or Company shall be required to pay, 
under the terms of any contract or contracts (including the architectural and engineering 
and development) for materials and the construction of the Projects; and 

(iv) any sums required to reimburse the Issuer, Redevelopment Commission or 
Company for advances made by either of them for any of the above items or for any other 
costs incurred and for work done by either of them which are properly chargeable to the 
Projects. 

"Development Agreement" means the Development Agreement dated April 27, 2022, as 
amended, among the City, the Redevelopment Commission and the Company. 

"Facility" means the multi-family residential development as further set forth in the 
Development Agreement. 

"Government Obligations" means direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment 
of the principal of and the interest on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United 
States of America. 

"Indenture" means the Trust Indenture dated as of __________ 1, 2023, between the Issuer 
and the Trustee and all amendments and supplements thereto. 

"Issuer" means the City of Goshen, Indiana, a municipal corporation and political 
subdivision duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State. 

"Net Proceeds," when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation award, means 
the gross proceeds from the insurance or condemnation award remaining after payment of all 
expenses (including attorneys' fees and expenses and any expenses of the Trustee or the Issuer) 
incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds. 



 

- 5 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

"Outstanding" means Bonds which have been duly authenticated and delivered by the 
Trustee under the Indenture, except: 

(i) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at 
or redemption prior to maturity; 

(ii) Bonds for the redemption of which cash or investments (but only to the 
extent that the full faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged to the timely 
payment thereof) shall have been theretofore deposited with the Trustee (whether upon or 
prior to the maturity or redemption date of any such Bonds); provided that if such Bonds 
are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been 
given or arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made therefor, or waiver 
of such notice satisfactory in form to the Trustee, shall have been filed with the Trustee; 
and 

(iii) Bonds in lieu of which others have been authenticated under Section 2.9 of 
the Indenture. 

"Projects" means the construction of infrastructure improvements, including but not limited 
to, water, sewer, stormwater, electric and road improvements, including sidewalks, demolition, 
and the construction of footers and slabs associated with multi-family residential units assessed as 
commercial property, together with all necessary appurtenances and related improvements needed 
to serve the Facility, as further set forth in Exhibit B to the Area Resolution, in or physically 
connected to the Allocation Area. 

"Purchaser" means Legacy Communities, Inc., a corporation duly organized, existing and 
authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Indiana. 

"Qualified Investments" means any of the following classes of securities, to the extent to 
which investment in such securities is permitted under State law:  (i) direct obligations of, or 
obligations the payment of the principal of and interest on which when due are unconditionally 
guaranteed by, the United States of America; (ii) bonds, debentures, participation certificates, or 
notes of any of the following agencies of the United States government: Federal Farm Credit 
Banks, the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Government National Mortgage 
Association, the Student Financing Marketing Corporation, the Federal Land Bank, the World 
Bank, the Resolution Trust Corporation, the Federal Home Financing Mortgage Corporation, and 
the Federal Home Financing Bank; (iii) investments which evidence direct ownership of future 
interest and principal payments of obligations described in (i) or (ii) above; (iv) mutual funds or 
money market funds (including an affiliate of the Trustee) which only invest in obligations 
described in (i), (ii), or (vii) herein and which are rated in the highest category by a national rating 
agency at the time of purchase; (v) unsecured interest-bearing obligations of any commercial bank 
(including the Trustee), trust company, bank holding company, insurance company, or any other 
entity with long-term debt obligations which have been assigned to a rating category no less than 
the second highest category assigned by Standard & Poor's Ratings Group and Moody's Investors 
Service at the time of purchase; (vi) deposits in interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts 
in banks (including the Trustee) organized under the laws of any state of the United States or under 
the laws of the United States or in savings and financing associations organized under the laws of 



 

- 6 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

any state of the United States or under the laws of the United States, provided that any such 
deposits are (x) insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or (y) fully secured by 
obligations of the type specified in (i), (ii), (iii), or (v) above; and (vii) fully collateralized direct 
repurchase agreements or guaranteed investment contracts having a defined termination date, 
secured by obligations of the United States of America or its agencies and instrumentalities in 
market value of not less than the principal amount of the funds disbursed, pledged with a third 
party selected or approved by the Company, and placed through a primary government securities 
dealer, as defined by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, or a nationally or 
state chartered bank (which may include the Trustee). 

"Redevelopment Commission" means the Goshen Redevelopment Commission. 

"Series 2023 Bonds" or "Bonds" means the [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project) to be issued by the Issuer under the Indenture in the aggregate 
principal amount of $__________. 

"State" means the State of Indiana. 

"Tax Increment" means all property tax proceeds attributable to the assessed valuation of 
real property in the Allocation Area in excess of the assessed valuation described in IC 36-7-14-
39(b)(1), as such statutory provision exists on the date of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The 
incremental assessed value is multiplied by the then current property tax rate (per $100 assessed 
value). 

"TIF Pledge Resolution" means the resolution of the Redevelopment Commission adopted 
on ____________, 2023, pledging TIF Revenues to the Issuer for the payment of debt service on 
the Series 2023 Bonds. 

"TIF Revenues" means 100% of the Tax Increment generated in the Allocation Area and 
deposited into the Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, minus the Annual Fees, 
received by the Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer for payment of the Bonds 
pursuant to the TIF Pledge Resolution. 

"Trustee" means the trustee and/or co-trustee at the time serving as such under the 
Indenture and shall initially mean __________________, ____________, __________. 

"Written Request" means a request in writing from an Authorized Representative of the 
party making the request. 

Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation.  For all purposes of this Financing Agreement, 
except as otherwise expressly provided, or unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) "This Financing Agreement" means this instrument as originally executed 
and as it may from time to time be supplemented or amended pursuant to the applicable 
provisions hereof. 

(b) All references in this instrument to designated "Articles," "Sections" and 
other subdivisions are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this 



 

- 7 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

instrument as originally executed.  The words "herein," "hereof" and "hereunder" and other 
words of similar import refer to this Financing Agreement as a whole and not to any 
particular Article, Section or other subdivision. 

(c) The terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this 
Article and include the plural as well as the singular and the singular as well as the plural. 

(d) All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings 
assigned to them in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as 
consistently applied. 

(e) Any terms not defined herein but defined in the Indenture shall have the 
same meaning herein. 

(f) The terms defined elsewhere in this Financing Agreement shall have the 
meanings therein prescribed for them. 

(End of Article I) 



 

- 8 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE II. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Section 2.1. Representations by Issuer.  Issuer represents and warrants that: 

(a) The Issuer is a municipal corporation duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State.  Under the provisions of the Act, the Issuer is authorized to enter into the 
transactions contemplated by this Financing Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder.  
The Issuer has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Financing Agreement. 

(b) The Issuer agrees to provide funds from the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds for 
financing the costs associated with the construction of the Projects to induce the Company to 
construct the Facility, to the end that industry and the economy may be diversified, job 
opportunities promoted and housing provided. 

(c) The Issuer covenants that it will timely pay the TIF Revenues to the Trustee as 
provided in the Indenture.  The Issuer represents and warrants that the TIF Pledge Resolution of 
the Redevelopment Commission was validly adopted and constitutes a valid and binding 
obligation of the Issuer, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with its terms. 

Section 2.2. Representations by Company.  Company represents and warrants that: 

(a) The Company is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing 
under the laws of the State of Indiana and authorized to do business in the State of Indiana, is not 
in violation of any laws in any manner material to its ability to perform its obligations under this 
Financing Agreement, has full power to enter into and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement, and by proper action has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Financing 
Agreement. 

(b) The execution and delivery of this Financing Agreement and the performance by 
the Company of its obligations under this Financing Agreement, (i) have been duly and effectively 
authorized by all necessary limited liability company action on the part of the Company, (ii) do 
not conflict with or result in any breach of any of the material terms, conditions or provisions of, 
or constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any material lien, charge or 
encumbrance upon any property or assets of the Company pursuant to any indenture, loan 
agreement or other agreement or instrument (other than this Financing Agreement to which the 
Company is a party or by which the Company, its properties or operations may be bound), and 
(iii) will not result in any material violation of the provisions of the by-laws or similar governing 
documents of the Company or any material laws, ordinances, governmental rules or regulations or 
court or other governmental orders to which the Company, its properties or operations are subject. 

(c) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Financing 
Agreement does not require the consent or approval of, the giving of notice to, the registration 
with, or the taking of any other action in respect of, any federal, state or other governmental 
authority or agency, not previously obtained or performed. 



 

- 9 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

(d) Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery thereof by the other parties 
thereto, this Financing Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and 
constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable against the 
Company in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or 
other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights in general.   

(e) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending, or, to the knowledge of the 
Company, threatened, before any court, administrative agency or arbitrator which, individually or 
in the aggregate, might result in any material adverse change in the financial condition of the 
Company or might impair the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this 
Financing Agreement. 

(f) To the Company's knowledge, no event has occurred and is continuing which with 
the lapse of time or the giving of notice would constitute an event of default under this Financing 
Agreement. 

(g) The Company expects to complete construction of the Facility by June 1, 2025, 
subject to Section 3.9 hereof. 

(h) The Company expects the total investment in the Facility will be approximately 
Thirty Million Dollars ($30,000,000). 

(i) To the extent permissible by applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Company 
will offer 20% of the residential units within the Facility to persons employed as first responders, 
health care workers and teachers as more fully described in Section 4.04 of the Economic 
Development Agreement. 

(j) The Company will comply with construction material, quality and aesthetic 
standards as required by current local ordinances and will submit to the City Plan Commission for 
approval of the detailed plans for the Facility. 

Section 2.3. Financing of Series 2023 Bond Proceeds by Issuer.  Concurrently with the 
execution and delivery hereof, the Issuer is issuing the Series 2023 Bonds and is providing the 
proceeds from the sale thereof to the Company by making the deposits and payments specified in 
Section 3.1 and 4.6 of the Indenture. 

(End of Article II) 



 

- 10 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE III. 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY AND THE ISSUER 

Section 3.1. Consent to Assignments to Trustee.  The Company acknowledges and 
consents to the assignment of the Issuer's rights hereunder to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture 
and agrees that the Trustee may enforce the rights, remedies and privileges granted to the Issuer 
hereunder and agrees to execute and deliver supplements and amendments to this Financing 
Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 hereof. 

Section 3.2. General Covenants.  (a) The Company covenants and agrees with and for 
the express benefit of the Issuer, the Trustee and the owners of the Bonds that the Company shall 
perform all of its obligations, covenants and agreements hereunder, without notice or demand. 

(b) Until such time as the construction of the Projects and Facility shall have been 
completed, the Company:  (i) will perform and observe all of its agreements contained in this 
Financing Agreement; and (ii) will not terminate this Financing Agreement for any cause, 
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, failure of the Company to complete the 
Facility, the occurrence of any acts or circumstances that may constitute failure of consideration, 
eviction or constructive eviction, destruction of or damage to the Facility, commercial frustration 
of purpose, any change in the tax laws of the United States of America or of the State or any 
political subdivision of either thereof, or any failure of the Issuer or the Trustee to perform and 
observe any agreement, whether express or implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out 
of or connected with this Financing Agreement or the Indenture. 

Section 3.3. Continuing Existence and Qualification; Assignment, Sale or Other 
Disposition of Projects.  The Company covenants that until such time as the Series 2023 Bonds 
have been paid in full, it will maintain in good standing its corporate existence and qualification 
to do business in the State, will not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its 
assets and will not consolidate with or merge into another entity or permit one or more other 
entities to consolidate with or merge into it; provided that the Company may, without violating its 
agreement contained in this Section, consolidate with or merge into another corporation or other 
entity, or permit one or more other corporations or other entities to consolidate with or merge into 
it, or sell or otherwise transfer to another corporation or entity all or substantially all of its assets 
as an entirety and thereafter dissolve, provided the surviving, resulting or transferee entity (such 
corporation being hereinafter called the "Surviving Corporation") (if other than the Company) 
expressly accepts, agrees and assumes in writing to pay and perform all of the obligations of the 
Company herein and be bound by all of the agreements of the Company contained in this Financing 
Agreement to the same extent as if the Surviving Corporation had originally executed this 
Financing Agreement, and the Surviving Corporation is an Indiana corporation or is a foreign 
corporation or partnership, trust or other person or entity organized under the laws of one of the 
states of the United States and is qualified to do business in the State of Indiana as a foreign 
corporation or partnership, trust or other person or entity. 

Section 3.4. Company Duties Under Indenture.  The Company agrees to perform all 
matters provided by the Indenture to be performed by the Company and to comply with all 
provisions of the Indenture to be complied with by the Company. 



 

- 11 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

Section 3.5. Reserved.   

Section 3.6. Trustee's Right to Perform Company's Covenants; Advances.  Only if the 
owner of the Bonds is other than the Purchaser, if the Company shall fail to (i) complete or cause 
the completion of the construction and equipping of the Projects, or (ii) fail to make any payment 
or perform any other act required to be performed hereunder, then and in each such case the 
Trustee, upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice to the Company, may (but shall not be 
obligated to) remedy such default for the account of the Company and make advances for that 
purpose.  No such performance or advance shall operate to release the Company from any such 
default, and any sums so advanced by the Trustee shall be repayable by the Company on demand 
and shall bear interest at the Trustee bank's prime rate plus two percent (2%) from the date of the 
advance until repaid. 

Section 3.7. Indemnity.  The Company will pay, protect, defend, indemnify and save the 
Issuer and the Trustee harmless from and against, all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, expenses 
(including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses of the Issuer and the Trustee), causes of actions, 
suits, claims, demands and judgments of any nature arising from a breach by the Company of any 
covenant, agreement, representation or warranty in this Financing Agreement (except with respect 
to any breach of any of Issuer's covenants, agreements, representations or warranties included in 
this Financing Agreement or which may be incurred by the Trustee as a result of its acceptance of 
or arising from the performance of its duties under the Indenture and except for damage resulting 
from willful or gross negligent actions by the Issuer and the Trustee). 

The Company will pay, protect, defend, indemnify and save the Commission and the 
Redevelopment Commission harmless from and against, all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses of the Commission and the 
Redevelopment Commission), causes of actions, suits, claims, demands and judgments of any 
nature to the extent arising from breach by the Company of any covenant, agreement, 
representation or warranty in this Financing Agreement (except with respect to any breach of any 
of Commission's or Redevelopment Commission's covenants, agreements, representations or 
warranties included in this Financing Agreement and except for damage resulting from willful or 
negligent actions by the Commission or the Redevelopment Commission). 

If any proceeding is instituted for which indemnity may be sought under this Section 3.7, 
the party that may seek such indemnity shall notify the Company and the Issuer in writing in a 
timely manner to allow the Company to defend any action or claim in such proceeding. 

Section 3.8. Funding of Indenture Funds; Investments.  The Issuer shall deposit with the 
Trustee proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds in the manner specified in Article 3 of 
the Indenture, and the Trustee shall deposit such proceeds in the manner specified in such Article. 

The Company and the Issuer agree that all moneys in any Fund established by the Indenture 
shall, at the written direction of the Company, be invested in Qualified Investments.  In the absence 
of written investment direction from the Company, the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable 
for keeping the moneys held by it hereunder fully invested in Qualified Investments. 



 

- 12 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

The Trustee is hereby authorized to trade with itself in the purchase and sale of securities 
for such investments, and may charge its ordinary and customary fees for such trades, including 
cash sweep account fees.  The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from 
any such investment properly obtained in accordance with the Company's direction.  All such 
investments shall be held by or under the control of the Trustee and any income resulting therefrom 
shall be applied in the manner specified in the Indenture.  Although the Issuer and the Company 
each recognizes that it may obtain a broker confirmation or written statement containing 
comparable information at no additional cost, the Issuer and the Company hereby agree that 
confirmations of permitted investments are not required to be issued by the Trustee for each month 
in which a monthly statement is rendered.  No statement need be rendered for any fund or account 
if no activity occurred in such fund or account during such month. 

Section 3.9. Completion of Facility.  (a) The Company agrees, subject to Force Majeure 
and other conditions or events beyond the Company's control, that it will use reasonable efforts to 
cause to be made, executed, acknowledged and delivered any contracts, orders, receipts, writings 
and instructions with any other persons, firms, corporations or partnerships and in general do all 
things which may be requisite or proper, all for constructing and completing the Facility by June 
1, 2025. 

The Company agrees, for the benefit of the Issuer and the Bondholders and in order to 
fulfill the purposes of the Act, to complete the construction of the Facility and to pay from other 
funds of the Company that portion of the costs of the Projects as may be in excess of the moneys 
available therefor in the Construction Fund.  The Issuer does not make any warranty, either express 
or implied, that the moneys, which will be paid into the Construction Fund and which under the 
provisions of this Financing Agreement will be available for payment of the costs of the 
construction of the Projects, will be sufficient to pay all the costs which will be incurred in that 
connection. 

The Issuer has, in Section 4.4 of the Indenture, authorized and directed Trustee to make 
payments from the Construction Fund to pay the Costs of Construction, or to reimburse Company 
or the Issuer for any Costs of Construction paid by it in the manner and subject to the provision of 
Section 4.4 thereof. 

The Completion Date of the Projects shall be evidenced to Trustee by a certificate signed 
by an Authorized Representative of the Issuer in compliance with the provision of Section 4.4(c) 
of the Indenture and any excess proceeds in the Construction Fund at such time shall be deposited 
in the Bond Fund and used to prepay the Series 2023 Bonds as provided in Section 4.4(d) of the 
Indenture, provided, however that any failure to file such certificate shall not constitute an Event 
of Default under this Financing Agreement or the Indenture. 

Section 3.10. Reserved. 

(End of Article III) 



 

- 13 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE IV. 
 

APPLICATION OF SERIES 2023 BOND PROCEEDS 

Section 4.1. Use of Series 2023 Bond Proceeds by Issuer.  Concurrently with the 
execution and delivery hereof, the Issuer is issuing the Series 2023 Bonds and is depositing the 
proceeds from the sale thereof with the Trustee for use by making the deposits and payments 
specified in Section 3.1 and 4.4 of the Indenture; provided such proceeds shall be used solely in 
connection with the development of the Projects and advanced and used solely in accordance with 
the terms of this Financing Agreement and the Indenture. 

Section 4.2. Use of TIF Revenues.  Issuer covenants as follows: 

(a) Upon receipt of Written Request of the Company pursuant to Section 4.4(b) of the 
Indenture, the Trustee shall distribute sums for Costs of Construction of the Projects as those costs 
are incurred until the Trustee has distributed the aggregate total amount of ___________________ 
Dollars ($____________).  All of the foregoing is for the benefit of the holders of the Series 2023 
Bonds, to the end that industry and the economy may be diversified and job opportunities promoted 
and retained, and to secure the Series 2023 Bonds by pledging the TIF Revenues to the Trustee. 

Section 4.3. Estoppel Certificate.  The Issuer shall, upon reasonable request of the 
Company, provide the Company (or such person as the Company requests) with a certificate 
stating that an Event of Default by Company has not occurred hereunder as of the date of such 
certificate, provided that such state of facts are true. 

(End of Article IV) 



 

- 14 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE V. 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES THEREFOR 

Section 5.1. Events of Default.  (a) The occurrence and continuance beyond all 
applicable cure periods of any of the following events shall constitute an "event of default" 
hereunder: 

(i) failure of the Company to observe and perform any covenant, condition or 
provision hereof, including all warrants and representations, and to remedy such default 
within 60 days after notice thereof from the Trustee to the Company, unless the Issuer shall 
have consented thereto in writing; provided, however, that the Company shall have such 
additional time as is reasonably necessary to cure any non-monetary default that is not 
capable of being cured within such 60-day period so long as the Company is diligently 
pursuing such cure to completion; or 

(ii) until such time as the Projects and Facility have been completed, the entry 
of a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction in the premises in respect of 
the Company in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar 
law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, 
trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Company or for any substantial part 
of its property, or ordering the windup or liquidation of its affairs; or the filing and 
pendency for ninety days without dismissal of a petition initiating an involuntary case 
under any other bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law; 

(iii) until such time as the Projects and Facility have been completed, the 
commencement by the Company of any voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, whether consent by it to an entry 
to an order for relief in an involuntary case and under any such law or to the appointment 
of or the taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, 
sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Company or of any substantial part of its 
property, or the making by the Company of any general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or the failure of the Company generally to pay its debts as such debts become 
due, or the taking of corporate action by the Company in furtherance of any of the 
foregoing; or 

(iv) [failure of the Company to fulfill the requirements of Section 2.2(i)]. 

(b) Subject to the further provisions of this Article V, during the occurrence and 
continuance of any Event of Default hereunder, Issuer shall have the rights and remedies 
hereinafter set forth in addition to any other remedies herein or provided at law or in equity 
(provided that the Issuer shall have the right to assign and delegate all such remedies to the Trustee, 
who may exercise any or all such remedies): 

(i) No Further Proceeds.  The Issuer shall, upon an Event of Default, be entitled 
to direct the Trustee to cease honoring draw requests from the Construction Fund or from 
other proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds and the Company shall not be entitled to further 



 

- 15 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

draws from the Construction Fund or be entitled to other proceeds from the Series 2023 
Bonds during the continuance of any such Event of Default[.][; or, if a default under 
Section 5.1(a)(iv), therein;] 

(ii) [TIF Reduction.] 

Section 5.2. Right to Bring Suit, Etc.  The Issuer, with or without entry, personally or by 
attorney, may in its discretion, proceed to protect and enforce its rights by a suit or suits in equity 
or at law, whether for recovery of amounts due, for damages or for the specific performance of 
any covenant or agreement contained in this Financing Agreement or in aid of the execution of 
any power herein granted, or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable 
remedy, as the Issuer shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any of its rights or duties 
hereunder against Company; provided, however that all costs incurred by the Issuer under this 
Article V including its attorneys' fees and costs of collection, shall be paid by the Company to the 
Issuer within thirty (30) days' after receipt of written demand and receipt of all reasonably 
requested back-up information (e.g., receipts, and paid invoices).  The Company acknowledges 
and agrees that the breach of some of its obligations cannot be cured by the payment of money and 
that equitable relief is an appropriate remedy. 

Section 5.3. Remedies Cumulative.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the 
Trustee is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such 
remedy shall be cumulative, and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now 
or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Section 5.4. Delay or Omission Not a Waiver.  No delay or omission of the Trustee to 
exercise any right or power accruing upon any event of default shall impair any such right or 
power, or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such event of default or an acquiescence therein; 
and every power and remedy given by this Financing Agreement to the Trustee may be exercised 
from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by the Trustee. 

Section 5.5. Remedies Subject to Provisions of Law.  All rights, remedies and powers 
provided by this Article may be exercised only to the extent that the exercise thereof does not 
violate any applicable provision of law in the premises, and all the provisions of this Article are 
intended to be subject to all applicable mandatory provisions of law which may be controlling in 
the premises and to be limited to the extent necessary so that they will not render this Loan 
Agreement invalid or unenforceable under the provisions of any applicable law. 

Section 5.6. Waiver of Events of Default.  If after any event of default shall have 
occurred under this Financing Agreement and prior to the Trustee exercising any of the remedies 
provided in this Article, the Company shall have completely cured such default, such default may 
be waived at the discretion of the Issuer and, if so waived, shall be rescinded and annulled by the 
Trustee by written notice given to the Company. 

(End of Article V) 



 

- 16 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE VI. 
 

IMMUNITY 

Section 6.1. Immunity.  No covenant or agreement contained in the Bonds, this 
Financing Agreement or the Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any 
member of the Issuer or the Commission or of any officer or employee of the Issuer, the 
Commission or their legislative and fiscal bodies in his or her individual capacity, and neither the 
members of the Issuer, the Commission, nor any officer or employee of the Issuer executing the 
Bonds shall be liable personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or 
accountability by reason of the issuance of the Bonds. 

(End of Article VI) 



 

- 17 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE VII. 
 

SUPPLEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS TO THIS FINANCING AGREEMENT 

Section 7.1. Supplements and Amendments to this Financing Agreement.  Subject to the 
provisions of Article 10 of the Indenture, the Company and the Issuer may, with the consent of the 
Trustee, from time to time enter into such supplements and amendments to this Financing 
Agreement as to them may seem necessary or desirable to effectuate the purposes or intent hereof. 

(End of Article VII) 



 

- 18 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE VIII. 
 

DEFEASANCE 

Section 8.1. Defeasance.  If provision shall have been made for the satisfaction and 
discharge of the Indenture as provided therein, then and in that case this Financing Agreement 
shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void; and this Financing Agreement, and the 
covenants of the Company contained herein, shall be discharged and the Issuer and the Trustee in 
such case on demand of the Company and at its cost and expense, shall execute and deliver to the 
Company a proper instrument or proper instruments acknowledging the satisfaction and 
termination of this Financing Agreement. 

(End of Article VIII) 



 

- 19 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

ARTICLE IX. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 9.1. Financing Agreement for Benefit of Parties Hereto.  Nothing in this 
Financing Agreement, express or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to 
give to, any person other than the parties hereto, their successors and assigns the Trustee, any right, 
remedy or claim under or by reason of this Financing Agreement or any covenant, condition or 
stipulation hereof; and the covenants, stipulations and agreements in this Financing Agreement 
contained are and shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto, their successors 
and assigns, the Trustee and the holder of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Section 9.2. Severability.  If any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
Financing Agreement or in the Series 2023 Bonds shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any 
respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein and 
therein, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

Section 9.3. Limitation on Interest.  No provisions of this Financing Agreement shall 
require the payment or permit the collection of interest in excess of the maximum permitted by 
law.  If any excess of interest in such respect is herein provided for, or shall be adjudicated to be 
so provided for herein, neither the Company nor its successors or assigns shall be obligated to pay 
such interest in excess of the amount permitted by law, and the right to demand the payment of 
any such excess shall be and hereby is waived, and this provision shall control any provisions of 
this Financing Agreement inconsistent with this provision. 

Section 9.4. Addresses for Notice and Demands.  All notices, demands, certificates or 
other communications hereunder shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when 
mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, with proper address as indicated below.  
The Issuer, the Company and the Trustee may, by written notice given by each to the others, 
designate any address or addresses to which notices, demands, certificates or other 
communications to them shall be sent when required as contemplated by this Financing 
Agreement.  Until otherwise provided by the respective parties, all notices, demands certificates 
and communications to each of them shall be addressed as follows: 

 To the Issuer: City of Goshen, Indiana 
202 South 5th Street, Suite 2 
Goshen, IN 46528-3714 
Attention:  Clerk-Treasurer 

 To the Company: AP Cycleworks LLC 
763 South Ninevah Road 
Franklin, IN 46131 
Attention:  Jonathan R. Anderson 



 

- 20 - 
4883-0993-9792. 3 

To the Trustee: ______________________________ 
______________________________ 
______________________________ 
Attention:  _______________ 

Section 9.5. Successors and Assigns.  At any time in this Financing Agreement any of 
the parties hereto is named or referred to, the successors and assigns of such party shall be deemed 
to be included and all the covenants, promises and agreements in this Financing Agreement 
contained by or on behalf of the Company, or by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall bind and inure to 
the benefit of the respective successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not. 

Section 9.6. Counterparts.  This Financing Agreement is being executed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which is an original and all of which are identical.  Each counterpart of 
this Financing Agreement is to be deemed an original hereof and all counterparts collectively are 
to be deemed but one instrument. 

Section 9.7. Governing Law.  It is the intention of the parties hereto that this Financing 
Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder and the rights and obligations 
of the parties thereunder, shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with, the 
laws of the State. 

(End of Article IX) 



 

4883-0993-9792. 3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Financing Agreement to be executed 
in its name by its authorized officers and the Company has caused this Financing Agreement to be 
executed in its name by its authorized officer, all as of the date first written above. 

 
AP CYCLEWORKS LLC 
 
 
By:    
 
Printed:    
 
Title:    

 



 

4883-0993-9792. 3 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA  
 
 
  
Mayor 
 

(SEAL) 
 
Attest: 

  
Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This instrument prepared by Lisa A. Lee, Ice Miller LLP, One American Square, Suite 2900, 
Indianapolis, IN 46282-0200. 



 

 
4885-9092-7705.3 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of the ___ day of ______, 2023, by and 
among the City of Goshen, Indiana ("City" or "Issuer"), a municipal corporation and political 
subdivision organized and existing under the laws of the State of Indiana, AP Cycleworks LLC 
("Company") and Legacy Communities, Inc. ("Purchaser"). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the City has duly authorized the issuance of its bonds designated "[Taxable] 
Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Ariel Project)" ("Series 2023 Bonds") in 
the aggregate principal amount of $________ by the adoption of its Bond Ordinance on 
__________, 2023, a correct copy of which is incorporated herein by reference ("Bond 
Ordinance") and as described in the Trust Indenture, dated as of ________ 1, 2023 ("Indenture") 
between the City and ___________________, as trustee ("Trustee"); and 

WHEREAS, the Purchaser has authorized the purchase of the Series 2023 Bonds; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PURCHASER AND THE CITY AGREE: 

Section 1. Purchase and Sale of the Series 2023 Bonds.  (a) The Purchaser hereby 
agrees to purchase the Series 2023 Bonds and the City hereby agrees to use its best efforts to 
issue the Series 2023 Bonds and to sell the Series 2023 Bonds to the Purchaser at their face value 
($________).  The Series 2023 Bonds shall be dated their date of issuance and shall bear interest 
at the rate of ___% per annum, shall mature semiannually on January 1 and July 1 on the dates 
and in such amounts as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto.  The Series 2023 Bonds shall 
constitute a contract between the City and the Purchaser, as the owner of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(b) The City has taken or will take prior to closing all actions required by law to 
enable it to issue the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(c) Prior to delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds by the City, the Purchaser will provide 
an investment letter to the effect that by acceptance of the Series 2023 Bonds the Purchaser will 
be deemed to have consented to all of the terms and provisions of the Bond Ordinance, the 
Indenture and the Financing Agreement (as defined in the Indenture) and will represent that: 

(i) It is a sophisticated investor and is familiar with securities such as the Series 2023 
Bonds. 

(ii) It is familiar with the Issuer, the Goshen Redevelopment Commission 
("Redevelopment Commission") and the Goshen Redevelopment District 
("District"); it has received such information concerning the Issuer, the 
Redevelopment Commission, the District, the Series 2023 Bonds and the TIF 
Revenues as it deems to be necessary in connection with investment in the Series 
2023 Bonds.  It has received, read and had an opportunity to comment upon the 
Indenture, the Series 2023 Bonds, the TIF Pledge Resolution ("TIF Resolution") 
and the Financing Agreement.  Prior to the purchase of the Series 2023 Bonds, it 
has been provided with the opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers 



 

- 2 - 
4885-9092-7705.3 

from the representatives of the Issuer and the Redevelopment Commission 
concerning the terms and conditions of the Series 2023 Bonds, the tax status of 
the Series 2023 Bonds, legal opinions and enforceability of remedies, the security 
therefor, and property tax reform, and to obtain any additional information needed 
in order to verify the accuracy of the information obtained to the extent that the 
Issuer possesses such information or can acquire it without unreasonable effort or 
expense.  It is not relying on Ice Miller LLP, or Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, 
LLC for information concerning the financial status of the Issuer or the 
Redevelopment Commission or the ability of the Issuer or the Redevelopment 
Commission to honor their financial obligations or other covenants under the 
Series 2023 Bonds, the Indenture or the Financing Agreement.  It is understood 
that the projection of TIF Revenues (as defined in the TIF Resolution) prepared 
by Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC in connection with the issuance of the 
Series 2023 Bonds has been based on estimates of the investment in real property 
provided by the Company. 

(iii) It understands that the Issuer's collection of the TIF Revenues may be limited by 
operation of IC 6-1.1-20.6, which provides taxpayers with tax credits for property 
taxes attributable to different classes of property in an amount that exceeds certain 
percentages of the gross assessed value of that property.  It further understands 
that neither the Issuer nor the Redevelopment Commission may levy a property 
tax or borrow money to make up any shortfall due to the application of this credit. 

(iv) It is acquiring the Series 2023 Bonds for its own account with no present intent to 
resell; and will not sell, convey, pledge or otherwise transfer the Series 2023 
Bonds without prior compliance with applicable registration and disclosure 
requirements of state and federal securities laws. 

(v) It understands that the Series 2023 Bonds have not been registered under the 1933 
Act and, unless so registered, may not be sold without registration under the 1933 
Act or an exemption therefrom.  It is aware that it may transfer or sell the Series 
2023 Bonds only if the Trustee shall first have received:  (i) a satisfactory opinion 
of counsel that the sale or transfer will not violate the 1933 Act, the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 and the Investment Company Act of 1940 and regulations 
issued pursuant to such Acts; or (ii) a no-action letter of the staff of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission that the staff will recommend that no action be taken 
with respect to such sale or transfer; or (iii) a certificate stating that it reasonably 
believes that the transferee is a "Qualified Institutional Buyer" within the meaning 
of Section (a) of Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") promulgated by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission pursuant to the 1933 Act and has informed the transferee 
of the transfer restrictions applicable to the Series 2023 Bonds and that the 
transferor may be relying upon Rule 144A with respect to the transfer of the 
Series 2023 Bonds. 

(vi) It has investigated the security for the Series 2023 Bonds, including the 
availability of TIF Revenues to its satisfaction, and it understands that the Series 
2023 Bonds are payable solely from TIF Revenues.   



 

- 3 - 
4885-9092-7705.3 

(vii) It recognizes that the opinions it has received express the professional judgment 
of the attorneys participating in the transaction as to the legal issues addressed 
herein.  It also recognizes that by rendering such opinions, the attorneys do not 
become insurers or guarantors of that expression of professional judgment, of the 
transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of parties to such 
transaction.  Nor does the rendering of the opinions guarantee the outcome of any 
legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 

(viii) It understands that the Issuer has no continuing disclosure obligations with regard 
to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(ix) It understands that on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization proclaimed 
the Coronavirus (COVID-19) to be a pandemic.  In an effort to lessen the risk of 
transmission of COVID-19, the United States government, state governments, 
local governments and private industries have taken measures to limit social 
interactions in an effort to limit the spread of COVID-19, affecting business 
activities and impacting global, state and local commerce and financial markets.  
The emergence of COVID-19 and the spread thereof is an emerging and evolving 
issue.  As the Issuer continues its efforts to contain and limit the spread COVID-
19 disease, future tax and other revenue collections may deviate from anticipated 
and historical collections and may have an adverse impact on the financial 
position and operations of the Issuer and its ability to fund debt obligations, 
including the bonds in accordance with its terms.  The Issuer is not able to predict 
and makes no representations as to the economic impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the Issuer or its financial position. 

(x) [It understands that the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is taxable for federal tax 
purposes.] 

(d) Simultaneously with the delivery to, or at the direction of, the Purchaser of the 
Series 2023 Bonds, which Bonds shall be substantially in the form set forth in the Indenture, the 
City shall furnish to the Purchaser a transcript of proceedings and the opinion of Ice Miller LLP, 
bond counsel, addressed to the Trustee and the Purchaser as to, among other things, the validity 
of the Series 2023 Bonds and the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Section 2. If any provision of this Purchase Agreement shall for any reason be held 
to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision shall not 
affect any of the remaining provisions of this Purchase Agreement and this Purchase Agreement 
shall be construed and be in force as if such invalid or unenforceable provision had not been 
contained herein. 

Section 3. This Purchase Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, 
any of which shall be regarded for all purposes as an original and all of which constitute but one 
and the same instrument.  The Purchaser and the City each agree that they will execute any and 
all documents or other instruments and take such other actions as may be necessary to give effect 
to the terms of this Purchase Agreement. 



 

- 4 - 
4885-9092-7705.3 

Section 4. No waiver by either the Purchaser or the City of any term or condition of 
this Purchase Agreement shall be deemed or construed as a waiver of any other terms or 
conditions, nor shall a waiver of any breach be deemed to constitute a waiver of any subsequent 
breach, whether of the same or of a different section, subsection, paragraph, clause, phrase or 
other provision of this Purchase Agreement. 

Section 5. This Purchase Agreement merges and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
representations, and agreements among the Purchaser, the Company and the City relating to the 
subject matter hereof and constitutes the entire agreement among the Purchaser and the City in 
respect hereof. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 



 

 
4885-9092-7705.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands as of the day first above 
written. 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
  
Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

  
Clerk-Treasurer



 

 
4885-9092-7705.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the day first above written. 

AP CYCLEWORKS LLC 
 
 
By:    
 
Printed:    
 
Title:    

 
 

[NOTE:  Please provide a proper signature 
block for each entity.] 

 



 

 
4885-9092-7705.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the day first above written. 

LEGACY COMMUNITIES, INC., as Purchaser 
 
 
By:    
 
Printed:    
 
Title:    

 

[NOTE:  Please provide a proper signature 
block for this entity] 



GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
RESOLUTION 2023-17 

 
 

Interlocal Memorandum of Understanding for 
2023 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Formula Program Award 

 
 

WHEREAS in accordance with the Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program, the 
County of Elkhart, City of Elkhart and City of Goshen have submitted a joint application for fiscal year 
2023 JAG funding to be used for permissible criminal justice purposes; 
 
WHEREAS pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-1-7 et seq., a power that may be exercised by one governmental 
entity may be exercised by one entity on behalf of another entity if the entities enter into a written 
agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS the attached Interlocal Memorandum of Understanding between the three participating units 
of local government identifies the County of Elkhart as the fiscal agent for the JAG funding, and sets forth 
the amount of funding to be distributed to each unit. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Goshen Common Council approves the terms and 
conditions of the Interlocal Memorandum of Understanding for 2023 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice 
Assistance Grant Formula Program Award between County of Elkhart, City of Elkhart, and City of Goshen 
attached to and made a part of this resolution. 
 
PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on ____________________, 2023. 
 
             
       Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on ____________________, 2023, at ________ 
a.m./p.m. 
 
             
       Clerk-Treasurer 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on ____________________, 2023. 
 
             
       Mayor 
  



  



  



 



GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
RESOLUTION 2023-18 

Interlocal Agreement with the County of Elkhart 
for East College Avenue/C.R. 36 Reconstruction from Fairgrounds to C.R. 31 

WHEREAS the City of Goshen and the County of Elkhart have negotiated an 
interlocal agreement for the reconstruction of East College Avenue/County Road 36 from 
the back entrance to the Elkhart County 4-H Fairgrounds and County Road 31. 

WHEREAS pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-1-7 et seq., a power that may be exercised 
by one governmental entity may be exercised by one entity on behalf of another entity if the 
entities enter into a written agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Goshen Common Council 
approves the terms and conditions of the Interlocal Agreement with the County of Elkhart for 
East College Avenue/C.R. 36 Reconstruction from Fairgrounds to C.R. 31 attached to and 
made a part of this resolution. 

PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on _________________________, 2023. 

Gina M. Leichty, Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on _________________________, 
2023, at ________ a.m./p.m. 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on _________________________, 2023. 

Gina M. Leichty, Mayor 



INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 
Between the City of Goshen and County of Elkhart 

For East College Avenue/CR 36 Reconstruction from Fairgrounds to CR 31 
 
 This Agreement is made and entered into this ____ day of __________________, 2023, 
by and between the City of Goshen, Indiana (“City”) by and through the Goshen Board of 
Public Works and Safety, and with the approval of the Goshen Common Council, and the 
County of Elkhart, Indiana (“County”) by and through the Board of Commissioners of the 
County of Elkhart, Indiana, and with the approval of the Elkhart County Council (both 
parties are collectively referred to as “Parties”). 
 

Witnesseth: 
 
 WHEREAS, a substantial industrial construction project is underway along College 
Avenue, on the east side of the City of Goshen, that requires improvements to public 
roadways in the area of the construction project; 
 
 WHEREAS, City has contracted with Niblock Excavating, Inc. for the industrial 
construction project; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City plans to undertake a reconstruction and widening of College 
Avenue in 2027; 
 
 WHEREAS, East College Avenue and County Road 36 between the back entrance to 
the Elkhart County 4-H Fairgrounds and County Road 31 is in poor repair and is in need of 
repair prior to the City’s 2027 reconstruction and widening; 
 
 WHEREAS, the County agrees to provide part of the funding for the road repair 
needed for County Road 36 to County Road 31 as herein provided; 



2 

 WHEREAS, the City and County enter into this Agreement to identify the duties and 
responsibilities of the City and County to improve infrastructure near the industrial 
construction project along College Avenue; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and promises and 
commitments herein contained, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Project.  Project includes the full depth reclamation of the existing asphalt and 
subgrade and replacement of hot mix asphalt base and surface for Four Thousand 
Three Hundred (4,300) linear feet along East College Avenue and County Road 
36, as indicated on the map attached as Exhibit A. Project will be added to the 
existing scope of work being completed by Niblock Excavating, Inc. for the 
industrial construction project along East College Avenue. 
 

2. Lead Agency. City will serve as the Lead Agency for the Project, including, but 
not limited to, the following duties: 

 
a. Awarding the Project in compliance with governmental requirements 

applicable to the City and County. 
 

b. Obtaining any permits or approvals required to construct the Project. 
 

c. Providing or contracting for engineering review and construction inspection 
services for the Project to the extent that such are not the responsibility of 
the contractor. 

 
d. Maintaining the documents, contractors, notes, and other records 

connected with the Project. 
 

e. Providing the County with a financial summary of all funds needed for the 
Project, all funds received for the Project, and all funds spent on the Project, 
including the reconciliation of the funding provided by the City and 
County. 

 
f. Paying all administrative costs and expenses associated with serving as the 

Lead Agency for the Project. 
 
3. Costs.  Niblock Excavating, Inc. has provided Change Order No.1, attached to this 

Agreement as Exhibit B, summarizing the costs of repair work for the Project, 



3 

totaling Two Hundred Sixty Thousand Seven Hundred Nine Dollars 
($260,709.00). 
 

4. County Participation.  City will serve as the Lead Agency for the Project. City and 
County acknowledge that City will provide the administrative and oversight 
services required for the Project. County participation shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following: 
 

a. County will pay a proportional share representing the One Thousand Three 
(1,300) linear feet of roadway to be repaired located outside the corporate 
boundaries of the City of Goshen, Indiana. This amount is equal to Seventy-
Eight Thousand Eight Hundred Nineteen Dollars ($78,819.00) [1300/4300 
x $260,709.00]. 
 

b. County will pay its proportional share to City no later than March 31, 2024. 
 
5. Approvals. This Agreement is subject to the approval of the Goshen Board of 

Public Works and Safety and the Goshen Common Council for City, and the 
Board of Commissioners of the County of Elkhart, Indiana and Elkhart County 
Council for County. 
 

6. Duration. This Agreement shall be effective upon its execution and continue until 
the Project is complete and County has paid its proportional share per Paragraph 
No. 4. 

 
7. Supplemental Documents. The Parties agree to execute any and all supplementary 

documents and to take any and all supplementary steps as are reasonable and 
appropriate to accomplish the purposes and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
8. Limitations of Liability. City acknowledges that County shall not be liable to City 

for completion of or the failure to complete any activities that are an obligations of 
City to perform pursuant to this Agreement, and City agrees to defend, indemnify, 
and hold harmless County and its agents, officers, and employees from all claims 
and suits of any nature whatsoever arising from City’s performance of this 
Agreement, from all judgments therefore, and all expenses in defending or 
appealing any such claims or judgments, including without limitation court costs, 
attorney’s fees, and other expenses. 

 
9. Non-Discrimination. Pursuant to Indiana Code § 22-9-1-10, neither City, nor any 

of its contractors or subcontractors shall discriminate against any employee or 



4 

applicant for employment, to be employed in the performance of any work under 
this Agreement with respect to hire, tenure, terms or conditions or privileges of 
employment, or any matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of 
race, color, religion, sex, disability, national origin, ancestry or veteran status. 
Breach of this covenant may be regarded as a material breach of this Agreement. 
 

10. Anti-Nepotism. City is aware of the provisions under Indiana Code § 36-1-21 with 
respect to anti-nepotism in contractual relationships with governmental entities, 
and shall comply with such statute. 

 
11. Investment Activity. Pursuant to Indiana Code § 5-22-16.5, City certifies that it is 

not engaged in investment activities in Iran. 
 
12. E-Verify Program. Pursuant to Indiana Code § 22-5-1.7-11, City agrees to and shall 

enroll in and verify the work eligibility status of all newly hired employees of City 
after the date of the Agreement through the E-Verify Program as defined in Indiana 
Code § 22-5-1.7-3. City further represents and certifies subject to the pains and 
penalties for perjury that it does not knowingly employ an unauthorized alien. 

 
13. Amendment. This Agreement and any exhibits attached hereto, may be amended 

only by the mutual written consent of the parties, by the adoption of a resolution 
approving said amendment as provided by law, and by the execution of said 
amendment by the parties. 

 
14. No Other Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this 

Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations, and discussions relative 
to the subject matter hereof and is a full integration of the agreement of the parties. 

 
15. Severability. If any provision, covenant, agreement, or portion of this Agreement 

or its application to any person, entity or property is held invalid, such invalidity 
shall not affect the application or validity of any other provisions, covenants, 
agreements, or portions of this Agreement, and to that end, any provisions, 
covenants, agreements,  or portions of this Agreement are declared to be severable. 

 
16. Indiana Law. Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be 

given to the parties at their respective mailing addresses provided below by deposit 
in the United States mail, certified mail, return receipt requested, with proper 
postage affixed thereto, and which notices shall be effective three (3) days after date 
of mailing: 

 



5 

County: Board of Commissioners of the County of Elkhart, Indiana 
    c/o Jeff Taylor, County Administrator 
    Elkhart County Administrator Building 
    117 North Second Street 
    Goshen, IN 46526 
    Fax: (574) 535-6747 
    Email: jtaylor@elkhartcounty.com  
 
  City:  City of Goshen, Indiana 
    Board of Public Works and Safety 
    c/o Mayor Gina M. Leichty 
    202 South Fifth Street 
    Goshen, IN 46526 
    Fax: (574) 533-3074 
    Email:  mayor@goshencity.com 
 

with required copies to: 
 
    Bodie J. Stegelmann, Goshen City Attorney 
    Goshen Legal Department 
    204 East Jefferson Street, Suite 2 
    Goshen, IN 46528 
    Fax: (574) 537-3817 
    Email:  bodiestegelmann@goshencity.com  
 
    and 
 
    Craig M. Buche, Elkhart County Attorney 
    Yoder Ainlay Ulmer & Buckingham, LLP 
    130 North Main Street 
    Goshen, IN 46526 
    Fax: (574) 534-4174 
    Email:  cbuche@yaub.com 

The parties may change their respective mailing addresses by providing written 
notice of the new address in accordance with the terms and provisions of this 
paragraph. 

17. Binding Effect.   This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; provided, 
however, that this Agreement may not be assigned without the express written 
consent of the non-assigning party. 



6 

 
18. Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts with 

multiple but separate signature pages, with the multiple counterparts and multiple 
but separate signature pages constituting one single and unified Agreement when 
combined. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement pursuant 
to all requisite authorizations as of the date first above written. 

[Signatures start on the following page].



7 

Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety 
       City of Goshen, Indiana 
 
              
       Gina M. Leichty 
 
              
       Michael A. Landis 
 
              
       Mary Nichols 
 
              
       Barb Swartley 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said County and State, this ____ 
day of __________________, 2023, personally appeared Gina M. Leichty, Michael A. Landis, 
Mary Nichols, and Barb Swartley of the Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety of the 
City of Goshen, Indiana, being known to me or whose identity have been authenticated by 
me to be the persons who acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Interlocal Agreement 
for and on behalf of the City of Goshen, Indiana for the purpose stated therein. 
 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal. 
 
              
       Printed Name:      
       Notary Public of _______ County, Indiana 
       My Commission Expires:     
       Commission Number:     
  



8 

APPROVAL 
 
 The Goshen Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana hereby approves of the 
above and foregoing Interlocal Agreement this ____ day of ____________, 2023. 
 
       Goshen Common Council 
       City of Goshen, Indiana  
 
              
       Gina M. Leichty, Mayor and 

Presiding Officer 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
City of Goshen, Indiana  
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 
 Before me, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, this ____ day of 
__________________, 2023, personally appeared Gina M. Leichty, Mayor and Presiding 
Officer of the Goshen Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana and Richard R. 
Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer of the City of Goshen, Indiana, and acknowledged that as said 
representatives, they respectively executed the foregoing Interlocal Agreement for and on 
behalf of, and in the name of the City of Goshen, Indiana, for the uses and purposed therein 
mentioned, and that they were authorized so to do. 
 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal. 
 
              
       Printed Name:      
       Notary Public of _______ County, Indiana 
       My Commission Expires:     
       Commission Number:     
  



9 

Board of Commissioners of the  
 `      County of Elkhart, Indiana 
 
              
       Bradley D. Rogers  
 
              
       Suzanne M. Weirick 
 
              
       Bob Barnes 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Patricia A. Pickens, Auditor 
County of Elkhart, Indiana 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said County and State, this ____ 
day of __________________, 2023, personally appeared Bradley D. Rogers, Suzanne M. 
Weirick, and Bob Barnes of the Board of Commissioners of the County of Elkhart, Indiana, 
and Patricia A. Pickens, Auditor of the County of Elkhart, Indiana, being known to me or 
whose identity have been authenticated by me to be the persons who acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing Interlocal Agreement for and on behalf of the County of Elkhart, 
Indiana for the purpose stated therein. 
 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal. 
 
              
       Printed Name:      
       Notary Public of _______ County, Indiana 
       My Commission Expires:     
       Commission Number:     
  



10 

APPROVAL 
 
 The Elkhart County Council of the County of Elkhart, Indiana approves the foregoing 
Interlocal Agreement on this this ____ day of ____________, 2023. 
       

Elkhart County Council 
       County of Elkhart, Indiana 
 
              
       Thomas W. Stump, President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Patricia A. Pickens, Auditor 
County of Elkhart, Indiana 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 
 Before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said County and State, this ____ 
day of __________________, 2023, personally appeared Thomas W. Stump, President of the 
Elkhart County Council of the County of Elkhart, Indiana, and Patricia A. Pickens, Auditor 
of the County of Elkhart, Indiana, being known to me or whose identity have been 
authenticated by me to be the persons who acknowledged the execution of the Approval of 
foregoing Interlocal Agreement for and on behalf of the County of Elkhart, Indiana. 
 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal. 
 
              
       Printed Name:      
       Notary Public of _______ County, Indiana 
       My Commission Expires:     
       Commission Number:     
 

This instrument was prepared by Donald R. Shuler, 26587-71, Assistant City Attorney, 
City of Goshen, Indiana, 204 E. Jefferson, Suite 2, Goshen, Indiana 46526. 

 
I affirm, under the penalties of perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each 

Social Security number in this document, unless required by law.  Donald R. Shuler



11 
  



12 
 



GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
RESOLUTION 2023‐19 

 

  Approving the Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen, County of Elkhart, and the Goshen Dam Pond Economic 

Improvement District entered into an Interlocal Agreement dated December 28, 2015 (“Goshen 

Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement was to coordinate 

activities to pursue maintenance dredging of sediment from the Goshen Dam Pond (hereinafter 

the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, efforts to complete the Project terminated; 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen, County of Elkhart, and the Goshen Dam Pond Economic 

Improvement  District  have  all  determined  to  terminate  the  Goshen  Dam  Pond  Interlocal 

Agreement; and 

WHEREAS,  the City of Goshen now seeks  to  formally  terminate  the Goshen Dam Pond 

Interlocal  Agreement  pursuant  to  the  terms  of  the  Termination  of  the  Goshen  Dam  Pond 

Interlocal Agreement that the parties have asked the City of Goshen to execute. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Goshen Common Council approves the 

terms and conditions of the Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement attached 

to and made a part of this resolution. 

BE  IT  FURTHER  RESOLVED  that  Mayor  Leichty  and  Clerk‐Treasurer  Aguirre  are 

authorized to execute the Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement on behalf 

of the Goshen Common Council and the City of Goshen. 

PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on _________________________, 2023. 

 

                         

              Gina M. Leichty, Presiding Officer 

ATTEST: 

 

             

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk‐Treasurer 

 

PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on _________________________, 2023, at 

________ a.m./p.m. 

 

                         

              Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk‐Treasurer 

 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on _________________________, 2023. 

 

                         

              Gina M. Leichty, Mayor   



   



   



   



   



   



   



 



GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
RESOLUTION 2023‐19 

 

  Approving the Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen, County of Elkhart, and the Goshen Dam Pond Economic 

Improvement District entered into an Interlocal Agreement dated December 28, 2015 (“Goshen 

Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement was to coordinate 

activities to pursue maintenance dredging of sediment from the Goshen Dam Pond (hereinafter 

the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, efforts to complete the Project terminated; 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen, County of Elkhart, and the Goshen Dam Pond Economic 

Improvement  District  have  all  determined  to  terminate  the  Goshen  Dam  Pond  Interlocal 

Agreement; and 

WHEREAS,  the City of Goshen now seeks  to  formally  terminate  the Goshen Dam Pond 

Interlocal  Agreement  pursuant  to  the  terms  of  the  Termination  of  the  Goshen  Dam  Pond 

Interlocal Agreement that the parties have asked the City of Goshen to execute. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Goshen Common Council approves the 

terms and conditions of the Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement attached 

to and made a part of this resolution. 

BE  IT  FURTHER  RESOLVED  that  Mayor  Leichty  and  Clerk‐Treasurer  Aguirre  are 

authorized to execute the Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement on behalf 

of the Goshen Common Council and the City of Goshen. 

PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on _________________________, 2023. 

 

                         

              Gina M. Leichty, Presiding Officer 

ATTEST: 

 

             

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk‐Treasurer 

 

PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on _________________________, 2023, at 

________ a.m./p.m. 

 

                         

              Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk‐Treasurer 

 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on _________________________, 2023. 

 

                         

              Gina M. Leichty, Mayor   



   



   



   



   



   



   



 


	00-A-2023-8-28-Council-agenda
	00-B-2023-8-7 Council-minutes
	1-2023-8-28 Ord 5163
	2-2023-8-28 Bond Issuance - Ariel Cycleworks Apts 2nd Reading
	3-2023-8-28 Res. 2023-17 Interlocal MOU for 2023 Edward Byrne Memoral JAG Formula Program Award
	4-2023-8-28 Resolution 2023-18 Interlocal Agreement for East College Avenue-CR 36 Reconstruction from Fairgrounds to CR 31
	5-2023-8-28 Resolution 2023-19 Approving Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement
	6-2023-8-28 Resolution 2023-19 Approving Termination of the Goshen Dam Pond Interlocal Agreement



